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AP R EETINR?  Headgquartered in Akron, Ohio, A, Schulman is a leading international supplier of high-performance plastic com-
pounds and resins, which are used in a variety of consumer, industrial, automotive and packaging applications. Its principal product lines
consist of proprietary and cusiom-formulated engineered plastic compounds, color concentrates and additives that improve the appearance

and performance of plastics in a number of specialized applications. The Company employs about 2,400 people and has 15 manutacturing

facilities in Norih Armerica, Eurepe and the Asia-Pacific region.

LEEPUWCREEED  With its innovative technologies, state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities and producets serving a wide range of markets
and applications, A. Schulman helps shape the future for customers and end users across the globe. Virtually everyone benefits from the
Company's plastic compounds and resins, which help improve the performance, appearance and durability of automobiles, toys, lawn and
garden equipment, appliances, consumer product packaging, construction and industrial equipment, and many other end products. The latest
example of A. Schulman's ahility to shape things to come is its new Invision® technology, which combines the Company's cotor-matching and

formulating expertise intc a sheet-based product that is ready to be shaped into final form by the customer.
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[EINANCIALTHIGHLIGHTS)

(in thousands except per share data and number of srockho.’ders of record)

2006
Net sales $ 1,616,386 % 1,433,196 3 1,239,091
Net income $ 32,662 3 32,093 $ 27,906
Diluted earnings per share of common stock 3 1.07 % 1.03 5 0.91
Capital expenditures $ 29,2.:59 3 26,944 | . 5 7 22,287
Long-term debt and other long-term liabilities s 203,212 $ 136,871 $ 111,663
Stockholders’ equity $ 403,492 5 462,103 3 435,237
Book value per common share $ 14.74 % 15.01 3 14.27

Number of stockholders of roacord 554 606 612
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SHAPE OF THINGS TO COME

In many ways. fiscal 2006 was a year of continuation

and impravement for A. Schulman, We cor]tir"mued to
improve our profitability and achieved fur!ther cost
savings throughout our operations in North‘ America
and Europe, which includes Asia. We maintained a
steady focus on our farget of providing and|develop-
ing higher-growth, higher-margin and more profitable
products worldwide. And we made goodlprogress
with the introduction of our innovative Invision® tech-
nology and in its application approval process for a
variety of markets.

As a result of our actions over the pas'st severat

years to shape our Company into a stronger, more -

. . . | -
competitive operation, we are now in a better position
to pursue new growth oppertunities and continue to
provide excellent long-term shareholder value.

Fiscal 2006 Highlights

In a year that began with great uncertainties —including
rising enérgy and raw material costs; supply concerns
in the aftermath of a devastating hurricane season;
and economic challenges in the automotive industry
- A. Schulman was able to achieve record sales
and significantly improved gross profit and pre-tax
earnings,

Net sales for the fiscal year ended AL:lgust 31,
2006 were $1.6 billien, up 12.8% from $1‘.4 billion
in fiscal 2005.
$32.7 million or $1.07 per diluted share, compared with

Net income for fiscal 2006 was

$32.1 million ar $1.03 per diluted share for the prior year.
Significant, unusual items combined to reduce net
income for fiscal 2006 by approximately $7.3 million,

primarily driven by the costs to refinance our debt in
order to launch a common stock tender offer. Fiscal
2005 net iﬁcome benefited by a total of $5.9 million
from the combination of a number of non-operating
items.

Although net income rose only slightly from the
previous year, it is important not to lose sight of the
gains we have made in gross profit and pre-tax
earnings, which more closely reflect the underly-
ing improvements in our operations. Gross profit
improved by $27.3 million or 14.2% in fiscal 2006, and
pre-tax earnings increased by $12.8 millien or 26.0%,
driven by our operating strength.

Salid global market demand led to a 13.0%
increase in sales for the year at our European opera-
tions, which include Asia. Volume in this business
segment increased 14.8%, while gross profit was up

_ 11.9%, due to the increased volume.

In Nerth America, our team has worked hard on
reducing expenses and improving profitability. Sales
in this segment increased 12.3% for the year, as
higher prices and changes in product mix more than
offset a small decling in volume. Gross profit was up
21.3%, driven primarily by increases in selling prices.

Our strategy for the coming year is to build on our
continuing success in the marketplace and to further
reduce costs throughout the Company wherever pos-
sible. A number of projects are under way to help
improve profits and sales, including price rational-
ization of our products, cost-reduction initiatives for
raw materials, inventgry management activities, and
add'itional. fréight and supply chain cost-reduction
programs.
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This automobile fascia is just one example of the
i

many paini-free applications of Invision®.

Share Repurchase Program

In an effort to enhance shareholder value, the
Company repurchased a total of 41 million shares
of common stock at an average price of $23.39
excluding iransaction fees during fiscal 20086. This
total includes our modified :Dutch auction self-tender,
which took place in the third quarter. It also includes
the subsequent repurchas:e of 2.0 million shares of
common stock at an aveéage price of $22.76 per
share, under a program authorized by our Board of
Directors allowing the repurchase of up to 6.75 million
shares. The Company intends to continue repurchas-
ing common shares in the open market at reasonable
prices.

Invision® Update
Our excitement about the prospects for Invision®
rernains at a high level. Customers are showing akeen
interest in the product because of its many potential
benefits, including cost savings and improved perfor-
mance of the end product, as well as its availability as
an environmentally friendly alternative to other prod-
ucts that have to be painted, colored or laminated.
We expect this new product to provide high growth
oppeortunities in many markets around the warld.

Constiruction of the initial Invision® production line
at our Sharon Center, Ohio, facility is near comple-
tion. We expect the line to begin its trial period in
January 2007, with the ability to generate marketable
produbt shortly therealter. We also are preparing the
tand for the construction of our first full-scale Invision®
production facility in Findlay, Ohio.

More information about Invision® can be found on
page 5 of this annual report.

Fiscal 2007 Expectations

Because of the 'ongoing unpredictability of a num-
ber of key issues that are likely to impact our results
- including the launch of Invision®; uncertain demand
levels in North America, Europe and Asia due 0

weakening auto markets and other factors; the effects

of our continuing cost-reduction programs; and
volatile commodity prices — we are not providing
quarterly guidance for fiscal 2007. We can say that
we do expect full-year fiscal 2007 net income t© be
higher than last year's net income.

In summary, the future of A. Schulman is looking
prighter than ever. All of the progress we made in fis-
cal 2006 has been focused on the pursuit of our over-

arching goal to serve customers and shareholders

by offering state-of-the-art solutions that unlock the
potential of plastic compounds and resins for a wide
range of applications. With our expertise in product
development, the breadth of our products and the
diverse applications in which they are used, we are
shaping things to come for tomorrow's wortd.

I thank our Board of Directors for their guidance
and belief in our vision. | also thank our employ-
ees for their valuable contributions to this effort.
And | thank you, our stockholders, for your continuing

support.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Cctober 25, 2006

Terry L. Haines

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Invision® can precisely match the color

paleties of méjor automotive companies.

< LEFT
Custorners can benefit from lnvision® in a

variety of auto body applications.

SHAPING THE FUTURE WITH INVISION® J

Taking a global approach to product development
and a systems approacr:\ io adapting different
technologies into a single solution, A. Schulman is
accomplishing its goal of unlocking the full potential
of plastic compounds and resins thraugh innovative
products such as Invisionﬁ.

State-of-the-art color matching, improved cost
efficiency, and environmtental advantages with
improved performance are among the key ben-
elits Invision® can providé to the customer. The
product has significant long-term potential in a
variety of global markets, including automotive,
recreational vehicles, lawn and garden equipment,
and appliances. Currently, customers are testing
Invision® for a variety of ‘applications, and initial
results of these tests have l;JeEn positive.

Invision® is the culrlnination of a focused
product development st:rategy that combines
several of the Company’s existing technologies into
a unigue new solution. As a multi-layered, extruded
sheet product, Invision® inc:orporates A. Schulman's
Clarix® and color technoloéy, along with adhesives
and thermaplastic substratés that are also provided
by the Company.

Through the development of Invision®,
A. Schulman has expanded its capabilities beyond
its traditional scope as a manufacturer of resins,
compounds, color concentrates and additives,
which are then processed further by customers in a
series of steps to produce end products. Invision®
takes advantage of the Company’s expertise in all

of these areas to provide a layered sheet product

that can be formed directly into a finished part by’

the customer. As a result, it can eliminaie several
steps in the customer’s manufacturing process and
reduce costs for the customer. 0
Beyond cost reduction, Invision® provides a
better-performing and more environmenially friendly
alternative to existing products on the market, which
require additional steps to be painted, laminated or
colored.
Invision® represents just the tatest example of
A. Schulman’s commitment to help customers
their
uses of

improve competitive advantage through

innovative technology in plastics.
Innovation plays a key role throughout all levels
of the Company’'s organization — from its global
product development efforts to its worldwide manu-

facturing facilities.

Roof Ditch Molding
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A, Schulman's BOPFP line in Bornem, Belgium.
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Product development includes fc'umulating and testing new

compounds and applications.

SHAPING NEW SOLUTIONS THROUGH INNOVATION J

A. Schulman's product

is an integrated and cogrdinated effort among
facilities located around the globe. In North Amer-

ica and Europe, its laboratories and technica

centers formulate unique compounds and test new
applications for diverse markets throughout the
world, where innovation and being first 10 market

are becoming increasingly important.

These centers conduct comprehensive analy-
sis and testing of materials, along with trial runs
on test production lines, so customers can have
confidence in the effectiveness and viability of the
solutions. The Company's manufaciuring facilities
also operate product testing and quality control
laboratories to ensure timely delivery of high-quality

products.

In addition, A, Schulman's Color Technology
Center provides a complete spectrum of color-

matching research and sampling services. This

ensures that each precisely matched color meets
the customer's highest standards and enables
“the Company to supply color in a variety of forms
- including pre-colored materials, blends and

concentrates.

A key objective of A. Schulman’s product
development strategy has always been to enhance

customers’ profitability not, only through new and
improved technology, but also by introducing

new applications and processes that significantly

developmeni strategy

improve production efficiency. To do this, the
Company must be able to duplicate customers'
processes wherever possible for testing purposes.

As part of its commitment to provid-
ing unmatched levels of service to customers,
A. Schulman recently expanded iis Polybatch
Technical Center in Bornem, Belgium, to include
a new production testing facility for biaxially ori-
ented polypropylene (BOPP) products. BOPP
materials are used in a variety of important markets
and applications around the world, ranging from
potato chip bags to bank notes. The production
process involves the extrusion of polypropylene
and stretching the resulting film to give it unique
properties.

With the BOPP test preduction line and ancil-
lary packaging equipment located right at the
Belgium technical center, the Company can
duplicate the processes of its customers worldwide
- and its customers’ customers — to address issues
such as maximizing packaging speed for a particu-
lar film product. Since a full-scale production ling
for BOPP can be as large as a football field, product
trials can be expensive and inefficient for customers
to perform. A. Schulman’s Belgium line eliminates
the need for custormers to conduct their own testing
or contract with a third party 10 do so, thus expand-
ing the Company's role as a producticn test partner

and increasing the value it provides to customers.
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A. Schulman products are integral to the look,
feel and performance of consumer packaging.
. < LEFT

End users around the world are served

every day by A. Schulman technology.

SHAPING NEW CPPORTUNITIES IN GLOBAL MARKETS

A, Schulman's superior expertise in color
matching, plastics processing, product develop-
ment and testing covers a broad range of product
areas and manufacturing processes. This enables
the Company to be a single-source provider for its
customers through its worldwide manufacturing
and distribution netwerk.

Unlike competitors that are still regional or
have only recently embarked on global expansion,
A. Schulman has operated as a global company
for more than 50 years. It has the organization
and infrastructure to serve large global customers
anywhere in the world, as well as smaller regional
customers wherever they may do business. This
global reach not eonly helps save customers time
and money, it also allows the Company to provide
the highest-quality service and technical support
worldwide, and ensures consistency of product
quality, regardless of where it is made or delivered.

Most recently, in fiscal 2004, the Company
added new facilities in China and Poland to meet
the growing long-term demand in global markets.
The new China plant produces materials for the film

and packaging markets, while the Poland facility

provides value-added concentrates for the Eastern
European market.

In wvirtually every corner of the world,
A. Schulman's products have become the mate-
rials of choice for such necessities as industrial
and automotive equipment, construction and
home irﬁprovement products, film and packaging
materials, medical supplies, telecommunications
products, lawn and garden equipment, toys,
appliances, and more. Customers in these markets
take advantage of the Company's service and
technology-driven capabilities to manufacture prod-
ucts to the most exact specifications.

Because its technologies provide value in such
a wide variety of applications, the global markets
offer significant opportunities for A. Schulman to
meet a growing range of needs for customers and
impact the lives of end users ~ both today and
tomorrow. With its commitment to continuous prod-
uct development focusing on its core technology
capabiliies along with groundbreaking new
concepls such as Invision®, the Company is well-
positioned 1o provide increasing long-term value for
its customers and shareholders.




OUR LOCATIO

.Foreign Offices

Bornem, Belgium

A. Schulman Plastics BVBA
Pedro Colomalaan 25
Industriepark

2880 Bornem
32-3-890-4211

Prague, Czech Republic

A. Schulman Polska Sp. z.0.0.

organizacni slozka
Hybernska 1271/32

110 00, Praha 1 - Nove Mesto

Czech Republik
42-073-955-9557

Horshoim, Denmark

A. Schulman Plastics BYBA
Slotsmarken 181

DK-2870 Horsholm
45-45-17-4180

Faris, France

A. Schulman, S.A /Diffusion
Plastique

Immeuble Dynasteur

10712 Rue Andras Beck
82366 Meudon-la-Forét
33-1-4107-7500

Kerpen, Germany
A. Schulman GmbH
Hittenstrafie 211
50170 Kerpen
49-2273-5610

Wiirselen, Germany
A. Schulman Eurcpe GmbH:
Mennetstrasse 7
52146 Worselen
49-2405-45270

Budapest, Hungary

A. Schulman Hungary Kft.
Bartck Béla ut 105-113
1115 Budapest
36-1-371-2408

Gorla Maggiore, ftaly
A. Schulman Plastics, 5.p.A.
Via Baragiola 6
21050 Gorla Maggiore {VA)
39-03-31-60741

Seoul, Korea
_A. Schulman

at Center AM 1208

232 YangJae-Dong, Seocho-Gu
Seoul 137-787. Korea

B82-2-6300-2412

Luxermbourg v,

A. Schulman S 4.rl. ot Gie S.C.S.
5, Rue Guillaume Kroll

L.-1882 Luxembourg

Luxembourg

A, Schulman S.a.rl.

5, Rue Guillaume Kroll
| -1882 Luxembourg

Luxembourg

A. Schulman Holdings S.4.rl.
5, Rue Guillaurmne Kroll
L-1882 Luxembourg

Warsaw, Poland

A. Schuiman Polska Sp. z.0.0.
ul. Pulawska 424

02-B84 Warsaw
48-22-323-2000

Barcelona, Spain

A. Schulman S.L.

BCIN — Pol. Ind Les Gyix(eres sin
08815 Barcelona/Badalona
34-93-464-8043

Zurich, Switzerland
A. Schulman AG
Kernstraie 10
8004 Zurich
41-1-241-6030

Crurniin, South Wales (U.K.)

A. Schulman Inc. Limited
Croespenmaen Industrial Eslate
Crumlin, Newport

Gwent NP1 4AG
44-1495-244080

Mississauga, Cntario, Canada
L5R 3G5

A. Schulman Canada Ltd.

5770 Hurontario Street, Suite 602
{905} 568-8470

Mexico City, Mexico

A. Schulman de Mexico,

SA deCV

Manue! E. 1zaguirre #13
Despacho 304 - Ciudad Satélite
Naucalpan, Edo. de Mexice 53100
52-555-393-7246
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Mon!em;y, Mexico

A. Schulman de Mexico,

SA. de V.

Avenida]Lazaro Cardenas 2400 PTE
Condominio los Soles

Office PB -17

Colonia :Fieas San Agustin

San Pedro Garza Garcia,

N.L. Meécico 86220

52-81 8-?63-5072

San LuisJ Fotosi, Maxico

A. Schul:man de Mexico,
SA deCV.

Avenida; CFE, 730

Entre Ej!e 134 v Eje 136

Zona Industrial def Potosi
San Lu'\sj Potosi, S.L.P. 78080
52-444-824-0708

Plants;

Bornem, Belgium

A. Schulman Plastics BVBA
Pedro Clo1omalaan 25
Industriépark

2880 Bornem
32-3-800-4211

Guangciiong Province, China

A. Schulman Plastics
(Donggi.lan) Ltd.
Oiaoxinilndustria\ Park

Oiaotou; Township/Dongguan City
86469-1342-27?7

Givet, F:rance
A. Schulman Plastics S.A.
Rue Ale:x Schulman
08600 Givet

© 33-3-24-427161
Kerpen, Germany
A. Schulman GmbH
Hutlens:traﬁe'm 1
50170 Kerpen
49-227?-5610

Cast Jawva, Indonesia

PT A Sf:hulman Plastics

Desa Ngerong KM 39, Gempol
67155 F':'asuruan
6273431854240

Gorla Maggiore, ltaly

A. Schulman Plastics 5.p.A.
Via Baragiola 6

21050 Gorla Maggiore (VA}
39-03-31-60741

Nowa Biala, Poland

A. Schulman Polska Sp.z.0.0.
Nowa Biala 37

09-411 Biala-Plock
48-24-364-0012

Crumiin, South Wales (LK)

A. Schulman Inc. Limited
Croespenmaen Industrial Estate
Crumlin, Newport

Gwent NP1 4AG
44-1495-244090

Bellevue, Ohio 44811
350 Nerth Buckaye Street
-(419) 483-2931

Nashvifle, Tennessee 37211-3333
481 Allied Drive
(615) 333-3453

Crange, Texas 77632
6522 Interstate Highway 10 West
, (408) 883-4331

Sharon Center, Ohic 44274
A. Schulman Invision Inc.
1475 Wolf Creek Trail

(330) 2390101

Sharon Center, Ghic 44274
(Specialty Compounding Division)
1475 Wolf Creek Trail

(330) 239-0101

St. Thomas, Ontario, Canada
- NSP 325

A. Schulman Ganada Ltd.

400 S. Edgeware Road

(519) 633-3451

San Luis Potosi, Mexico
_ A Schulman de Mexico,
S.A. deCV.
Avenida CFE, 730
Entre Fje 134 y Eje 13677 -
Zona Industrial del Potosi | .
San Luis Potosi, S.L.P. 78090
- 52-444-824-0708
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PART I' o S

ITEM 1. BUSINESS o ‘

A. Schulman, inc. {the “Company™ was organlzed asan Ohio corporationi nn 1928and changed its state of 1ncorporanon
to Delaware in 1969.

The Company is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as raw materials by its customers.
To identify reportable segments, the Company considered its operating structure and the types of information subject to
regular review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. On this basis, the
Company operates primarily in two geographic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia {*Europe™.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Company combines basic resing purchasad from plastic resin producers and, through mixing and extrusion
processes, introduces additives that provide color, stabilizers, flame retardants or other enhancéments that may be required
by a customer. These compounds are formulated in the Company’s laboratories and technical centers and are manufactured
in the Company’s 15 plastics compounding plants in North America, Europe and Asta. Customers for the Company's plastic
compounds include manufacturers, custom molders and extruders of a wide variety of plastic products and parts. The
Company generally produces compounds on the basis of customer commitments and expectations. When necessary,
compounds are produced for future delivery and are stared in Company or public. warehouses.

The Company’s plastic compounds are sold to manufacturers and suppliers in various markets such as packaging,.
automotive, consumer products, electrical/electronics, office equipment and agriculture. These compounds are used in.the
packaging industry for such products as plastic bags and labels and packaging materials for food, soap, fragrances, flowers,
gardening supplies and various household necessities; in the automotive industry for such products as grifles, bady side
moldings, bumpaer protective strips, windaw seals, valance panels, bumper guards, air ducts, steering wheels, fan shrouds
and other Interior and exterior components; in the consumer products industry for suchitems as wrnting instruments,
shelving, soft drink coolers, video tape cassettes, batteries, outdoor furniture, lawn sprinklers, artificial turf, ‘skateboards,
toys, games and plastic parts for various household appliances; in the electrical/electronics industry for such products as
outdoor lighting, parts for telephones, connector blocks, transformers and capacitor housings; in the office equipment
industry for such products as cases and housings for computers, trim for arms of office chairs, folders and binders, stack
trays and panels and drawers for copying machines; and in the agriculture industry for such products-as greenhcuse
coverings and protective film for plants and agricultural muich.

The Company also acts as a merchant, buying prime and off-grade plastic resins and reselling these commaodities,
without further processing, to a variety of users. The plastic resins generally are purchased from major producers. Prime
resins purchased from these producers are usually sold to small and mediumn-sized customers. In addition 1o prime resins,
the Company purchases supplies of resins resulting from overruns, changes in customers’ specifications and failure to meet
rigid prime specifications. Historically, these materials have been in continuous supply, generally in proportion to the total
industry production of plastic resins.

The Company, through its European operations, acts as a distributor for sev_eral major resin producers that include
BASF, bxxonMobil Chemical, Total Petrochemicals, Solvay, GE Plastics and Vestolit GmbH. The Company also acts as a
North Armerican distributer of ExxonMobil Chemical polyethylene used for injection and rotational molding.

In September 2005, the Company introduced its new Invision® shest product and formed A. Schulman Invision, Inc., a
whaolly owned subsidiary. Invision® is a revolutionary product based on cutting-edge technology that is expected to provide
high growth opportunities in many markets ‘around the world. Invision® is a multi-layered, extruded sheet product that
reduces costs and simplifies the manufacturing process for the Company's customers, while providing a higher-performing
and more environmentally friendly alternative to existing plastic and film materials that are painted or colored. The Company
expects Invision® to appeal to customers in a variety of markets, both automotive and non-automotive. Initially, the Company
will focus on automotive applications to capitalize on the Company’s market presence and recognized capabilities. Samples
from the Company's pilot line have been tested by saveral potential customers and the Company has received positive
feedback based on the initial results of these tests. The inifial production line in the Company's Sharcn Center faciiity Is
nearing completion and is scheduled for start-up in January 2007 with the ability to ‘produce saleable product expected
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shorily thereafter. In addition, the Company has purchased land for a greenfield ptant site in Findlay, Ohio for construction of a
dedicated Inwsmn? facility. While Invision® did not produce operating income in fiscal 2008, the Company believes this is a
very large market that could have significant sales in the years ahead.

The Company’'s manufacturing in each of its geographic business segments can be classified into, five major product
families: color and additive concentrates; engineered compounds; polyolefins; polyvinyl chioride (PVC); and tolling.

COLOR AND ADDITIVE CONCENTRATES

The Companys concentrate business consists of the compoundmg of resing that provide plasttc with specific color
and/or physical propemes such as conductivity, ftexibility, viscosity and textures. A color concentrate is a clear or natural
plastic resin into w|h|ch a substantial amount of color pigment is incorporated or dispersed. The Company manufactures its
concentrates using its formulae and purchased natural resins. These concentrates are-scld to manufacturers of plastic
products, such as:ﬁlm for packaging, household goods, toys, automotive parts, mechanical goods and other plastic iterns.

The Company’s concentrates are sold under various trade names, including the following:

. Polybatch‘!’I which is an additive or color concentrate used for mod|fytng various plastic resins and which provides
" various physmal properties required by customers;

. Papermatch®, which is a plastic alternative to paper used for packaging, menus, maps and other products.
PaperrnatchlD is printable and resistant to tearing, moisture and chemicals;

_* Aqua- Sol@ which is a polymer that is biodegradable and dissolvas in water, making it more environmentally friendly for
uses such as medical packaging, labels, barrier and embrmdery fims, and other applications; and

'

+ Polyblak®, 1wh|ch is a line of black concentrates that are resistant to weather and sunlight and are used in the
productlon of plastic pipe, black fi lm and other black plastic items. This line of products is manufactured by third
partles for ithe Company

[ -
ENGINEERED COMPOUNDS

The Company s engineered compounds are products designed to have and malntaln characteristics such as chemical
resistance, electnical conductivity, heat resistance and/or high strength-to-weight ratios. The engineered compounds
manufactured by thc_a Company include the following: .

» Polyflam®, which is a flame retardant compound used in applications such as telephoné systems, terminal blocks,
" parts for color televisions, etectrical components and housings for household appliances and outdoor products.

+ Schulamid®, which is a nylon compound that can be unfilled, reinforced or impact-modified. Schulamid® is used in
apphcatlons that require good impact strength and resistance to high temperatures and chemicals. Typical appli-
cations |nclude under-the-hood automotive companents and various building and consumer products.

. Formion®,|wh|ch is a specialized compound that has good impact strength, is resistant to abrasion and has
performance characteristics that do not decrease in low temperatures. Formion® is sold principally to the transpor-
tation industry for use in_ bumper blocks and protectiye rub strips.

* Polypur®, \FNhich is a reinforced and alloyed thermoplastic potyurethane that has impact resistance and malding
praperties for automotive applications such as exterior side moldings, grilles, body sice moldings and other painted
parts.

+ Clarix®, whichisa thermaoplastic ionomer resin offering scratch resistance, barrier properties, chemical resistance and
superior cl?rity. Clarix® is ideal for many diverse applications including packaging, automotive paintless parts, textile
and metal;coatings, footwear components, sporting goods and polymer modifiers.

POLYOLEFINS

The Company's polyolefin business consists of numerous polypropylene and polyethylene resins and compounds.
Polyolefins are used for interior trim, fascias and bumper covers in automotive applications; for toys, small appliances,
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' sporting goods, and agricultural and watercraft products in roto-molding applications; and for office supplies in industrtal/
commercual applucatlons The polyolefin products manufactured by the Company include the followmg

. Polytrope" which'is a thermoprastlc elastomer that has high resiliency and good impact resistance. Presently, the
principal market for this product is the domestic automotive industry and typical applications include valance panels,
body side moldings, grilles and burnper rub strips. Parts molded irom Polytrope® weigh less than equuvalent metal
parts, are impact-resistant and may be painted to match adjoining extenor body parts.

= Polyfort®, which is areinforced polypropylene compound for applications that require stiffness and resistance to heat
distortion, 5uch as coffee makers, binders for computer printouts, interior trim and under-the-hood products for
automobiles.

* Schulink®, which is a crosslink polyethylene-based compound, is used in rotational molding applications requiring
high strength and chemical resistance, such as industrial doors and commercial waste containers.

* Invision®, a thermoplastic elastomer, is a PVC alternative that can be injection molded, blow molded or extruded. ltisa
polyolefin compound with properties similar to PVC. It ‘can be used in automotive interiors, trim for furniture,
appliances and industrial components.

* Polyaxis®, a polyethylene resin compound used for rotationally molded appllcatlons such as canoes, kayaks,
‘ agricultural tanks, etc.

POLYVINYL CHLORIDE .

The Company’s PVC business is transacted under the name Polyvin® and involves the formulation of compounds and
elastomers t0 introduce a variety of product attributes, including weatherability, consistency, ease of processing, material
flexibility, and high-gloss or low-gloss finish, The Cormpany’s thermoplastic PVC compounds are available in blow molding,
injection molding and extrusion grades for. application in the manufacture of automotive, fumniture, architectural and
consumer products. The Company's Sunprene® compound serves as a replacement for rubber and other thermoplastic
glastomers in automotiv'e applications.

N

TOLLING

T‘ne. Company provides tolling se~vices as a fee for processing of material provided and owned by customers. On some
occasions, the Company is required to provide certain amounts of its materials, such as additives or packaging. These
materials are charged to the customer as an addition to the toling fees. The Company‘ recognizes revenues from tolling
sarvices and related materials when such services are performed. The only amounts recorded as revenue related to tolling are
the processing fees and the charges related to materials provided by the Company.

The approximate amount and percentage of net consolidated sales for each of the Company’s product families for the
three fiscal years ended August 31, 2006 are as follows:

. ' ' 2006 - 2005 2004
. Product Family ' Amount % Amount % _Amount %
. ) ({tn thousands, except for %’s)

Color and' addltwe CONCONLAES . .o v vt e e enn e, $ 579,825 36 $ 501,159 35 § 444483 36
Polyolefins . .. . . U 495,163 31 424,066 30 338,278 27
Enginesred oofnpounds. e 303312 24 377008 26 333,630 27
Polyvinyl chtoride (PVC) ........................... 64,174 4 54,952 4 57,018 5
Toling . ... ... e e e 18482 1 18,117 1 13,380 1
OB . ettt 67430 4 59804 4 52302 4
$1,616,386 100  $1,433,196 100 $1,239,001 _1_0_0

Information . regarding the armount of sales, operating income and identifiable "assets attributable to each of the
Company’'s gecgfaphic-business segments for the last three years is set forth in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company appearing in ITEM 8 of this Report.
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The Company’s principai subsidiaries are as follows:

A Schurrrlaan Plastics, BVBA, a Belgian subsidiary located in Bornemn, Belgium, manufactures color and additive
concentrates and compounds. These products pnncmally are soldin Germany, France, the Benelux countrles ltaly and
Asla. -

A. Schulman International Services N.V., a Belgian subsidiary Ioéatea in Bornem, Belgium, provides ﬂnanéing and
administrativeiservices to the Company's European operations.

; .
A, Schutr;nan. Inc., Limited, a United Kingdom subsidiary located in South Wales, United Kingdom, primarily
manufactures Folor and additive plastic concentrates, which are sold in the United Kingdom and to various A, Schulman
European locations.

A Schulman GmbH, a German subs:dlary located in Sindorf, Germany, manufactures englneered and flame-
retardant plastlc compounds. In addition, this subsidiary purchases and sells prime and off-grade plastic resins from
major Europegn producers. This subsidiary also distributes plastic resins and compounds for companies, including
Vestollt GmbH, ExxonMohbil Chemical, GE Plastics and Solvay.

A. Schulman Canada Ltd., a Ganadian subsidiary located in St. Thomas, Ontario, manufactures engineered and
various other|plastic compounds, acts as a merchant of prime and off-grade plastic resins and distributes for
companies, ir}cluding ExxonMobil Chemical polyethylene for injection molding. Its principal sales office is located in
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. '

A. Schulman AG, a Swiss subsidiary located in Zurich, Switzerland, sells plastic compounds and concentrates
manufactured by other European subsidiaries of the Company and also acts as a merchant of plastic resins.

A. Sc:hulman S.A., a French subsidiary, has sales offices in France and is a distributor in France for Total
Petrochemlcails A. Schulman, S.A, also acts as a merchant of plastic resins and sells compounds manufactured by the
Company's Sl#bSIdIaI’IeS in Bornem, Belgium, Sindorf, Germany and Givet, France Diffusion Plasthue is a Paris-based
subsidiary th'a}t is a distributor for BASF of certain plastic materials in France.

A Schulrinan Plastics, S.A., another French subsidiary, is located in Givet, France. This subsidiary produces plastic
concentrates for the Company's European market.

Through its Mexican subsidiary, A, Schulman de Mexico, S.A. de C.V,, the Company manufactures concentrates
for the packaging industry and compounds for the automotive, construction, appllance and consumer products
markets. This subsidiary has sales offices in Mexico.

A, Schulman Polska Sp. z 0.0, iIs a subsidiary located in Warsaw, Poland. The subsidiary sells. products
r'ruzmufacturedI by other subsidiaries of the Company and acts as distributor and merchant of plastic resins and
compounds in Poland.

A, Schullman Plastics SpA is a subsidiary located in Italy. This subsidiary manufactures and sells engineerad
compounds e'md concentrates to the ltalian market. It sells products manufactured by A, Schulman Plastics, BVBA, A.
Schulman Plastics, S.A., A. Schulman Gmbh and A. Schulman, Inc., Limited and acts as a merchant of plastic resing in

[taty. .

A. Schulman Piastics S.L_., a Spanish subsidiary, is primarily a distributor of plastic resing to the Spanish market
through its off ices located in Barcelona and Valencia, Spain. This subsidiary also engages in merchant activities in Spain
and sells certain products manufactured by A. Schutman Gmbh, and A Schulman Plastics, BVBA. .

A. Schulman Hungary Kft., a Hungarian subsidiary, sells englneered compounds manufactured by ‘A. Schulman
GmbH and concentrates manufactured by A. Schulman Plastics, BVBA; A. Schulman Plastics, S.A., and A. Schulman,
Inc., Limited.l It also acts as a merchant of plastic resins in Hungary.

]
A. Schulman Plastics (Dongguan) Ltd., a subsidiary in China, manufactures concentrates for sale in the local
Chinese markets This subsidiary produces material for customers in the film and packaging markets.

A, Schulman Europe GmbH, a subsidiary with offices in Wurselen, Germany prowdes support i in the areas of sa]es
procurement; logistics and financing for the European operations.
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A. Schulman S.ar.l. et Cie 8CS, A. Schulman S.4r.l. and A. Schulman Holdings S.4r.l. are Luxembourg subsidiaries
that provide financing and other corporate services for the European group.

A. Schulman Invision, Inc. is a subsidiary located in Sharon Center, Ohio formed in fiscal 2006, The subsidiary
manufactures Invision®, a multi-layered, extruded sheet product for sale in both the automotive and non-automaotive
markets.

JOINT VENTURES

The Company, through its wholly-owned éubsidiary’ AS| Investments Holding Co., owns a 70% partnership interest in
The Sunprene Company, which manufactures a line of PVC thermoplastic elastomers and compounds primarily for the North
American automotive market. The other partner is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Chernical MKV Co., one
of the largest chemical companies in Japan. This partnership has two manufacturing lines at the Company’s Bellavus, Ohio
facility. The Company’s partner provides technical and manufacturing expertise.

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary A. Schulman International, Inc., owns a 65% interest in PT. A,
Schulman Plastics, Indonesia, an Indonesian joint venture. This joint venture has a manufacturing facility with two production
lines in Surabaya, Indonesia. P.T. Prima Polycon Indah owns the remaining 35% interest in this joint venture.

EMFPLOYEE INFORMATION

As of August 31, 2006, the Company had 1,042 employees in North America and 1,438 employees in its Furopean
operations. Approximately 80% of the Company's hourly production employees are represented by various unions under
collective bargaining agreements.

The Gompany has laboratory facitities at a majority of its plants staffed by 313 technical personnel. The Company’s
plastic compounding business is, to a degree, dependent on its ability to Hire and retain qualified technical personnel. These
personnel are involved in activities relating to the testing and sampling of material for corformity with product specifications
and the development of new compounds, The Company has generally been successfulin hiring or retaining such personnel.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

n

A large part of the Company's technical activities refate to the continuous refinement of compounds. for specific
applications of customers, Research activities relating to the development of new products and the improverment of existing
products are important to the Company. These activities are conducted at the Company’s various technical centers and
laboratories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $4.7 million in fiscal 2006 and approximately
$3.8 million in fiscal 2005. The increase in these activities is primarily related to the new Invision® sheet product.

COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Company's operations cn and ownership of real property are subject to extensive environmental, health and satety
laws and regulations at the national, state and locat governmental levels. The nature of the Company's business exposesit to
risks of liability under these laws and regulations due to the production, storage, transportation, recychng or disposal and/or
sale of matenais that can cause contamination or personal injury if they are released into the enwronment or workplace.
Environmental laws may have a significant effect on the costs of these activities |nvo!vmg raw materials, finished products and
wastes. The Company may incur substantial costs, including fines, damages, criminal or civil sanctions, remediation costs, or
experience interruptions In its operations for violations of these laws.

Also, national and state environmental statutes impose strict, and under some circumstances, joint and several liability
far the cost of investigations and remedial actions on any company that generated the waste, arranged for disposal of the
waste, transported the waste 1o the disposal site or selected the disposal site, as well as on the awners and operators of
these sites. Any or all of the responsible parties may be required to bear all of the costs of clean up, regardiess of fault or
legality of the waste disposal or ownership of the site, and may also be subject to liability for natural resource damages. ltis
possible that the Company could be identified as a potential responsible party at more sites in the future, which could result in
the Company being assessed substantial investigation or clean up costs.
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Management believes that compliance with national, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of materials into
the environment, o'[r otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, does not currently have a matertal effect upon the
capital expenditures. earnings or competitive position of the Company.

: l. . . . .
I

LE ON CUSTOMERS

| ' )

During the year ended August 31, 2008, the Company’s five largest customers accounted in the aggregate for less than
10% of total sales.!In management’s opinion, the Company is not dependent upon any single customer and the loss of any
one customer would not have a materially adverse effect on the Gompany’s business other than, potentially, on a temporary
basis.

DEPENDENC

[ :
AVAILABILITY OF RAW MATERIALS ' : '

The raw materials required by the Company are readity available from major plastic resin producers or other suppliers.
The principal types of plastic resins used in the manufacture of the Company's proprietary plastic compounds are
polypropylene, PVC (polywnyi chloride}, polyethylene, polystyrene, nylon ABS. (acrylonitrite butadiene styrene) and poly-
urethane. For addmonal infarmation on the availability of raw. matenals see [TEM 1A. RISK FACTORS in this Report.
| .

| .
WORKING CAPITAL PRACTICES

The Company, along with other companies in its industry, is generally not subject to unusual working capltal practices.
The nature of the Company s business does not require significant amounts of inventories to be held to meet ‘rapid delivery
requirements of its products or services or assure the Company of a continuous allotment of goods from suppliers. The
Company’s manu'factun'ng processes are generally periormed with a short turnaround time. The Company does not
generally offer extended payment terms to its customers. The Company generally allows its customers to retum merchandise
for failure’to meet pre-agreed quality standards-or specifications; however, the Company employs quality assurance
practices that minimize customer returns.

COMPETITION '

The Company’s business is highly competitive. The Company competes with producers of basic plastic resins, many of
which also operat'e compounding plants, as well as other independent plastic compounders. The producers of basic plastic
resins generally are large producers of petrolsum and chemicals, which are much larger than the Company and have greater
financial resources. Some of these producers compete with the Compariy principally in such competitors’ own respective
local market areas, while other producers compete with the Company on a global basis.

The Company also competes with other merchants and distributors of plastlc resins and other products. No accurate
information is avalnlable 10 the Company as to the éxtent of its competitors’ sales and earnings in respect of these activities,
but management' believes that the Company has only a small fraction of the total market.

"The principal;methods of competition in plastics manufacturing are innovation, price, availability of inventory, quality and
service. The prlnolpal methods of competmon in respect of merchant and distribution activities are price and service.
Management belfeves it has strong financial capablhtles excellent supplier relattonshlps and the ability to provide quality
plastic compounds at competitive pricas.

|
TRADEMARKS AND TRADE NAMES

The Company uses various trademarks and trade names in its business. These trademarks and trade names protect
names of certain of the Gompany's products and are significant to the extent they provide a certain amount of goodwill and
name recognitior'n in the industry. The Company also holds patents in various parts of the world for certain of its products.
These trademarks, trade names and patents, including these which are pending, contribute to profitability, however the
Company does not consider its business to be dependent on such traderarks and trade names, except in the case of its

new Invision® product line.
i




AVAILABLE INFORMATION "o

The Company's annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterty reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K,
together with any amendments to those reports filed or fumished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, will be made available free of charge on the Company's web site, www.aschulman.com, as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Gommission. -

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS : _

The following are certain risk factors that could affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and, financial
condition. These risk factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K because these factors could cause our actual results or financial condition to differ
materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. Before you invest in us, you should know that making such an
investment involves some risks, including the risks we describe below. Tha risks that are discussed below are not the only
ones we face. If any of the following risks occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition could be
negatively affected. '

if we fail to develop and commercialize new products, our business operations would be adversely affected.

A significant portion of our anticipated growth is dependent upon the successful development and commercialization of
new products, such as our Invision® product line. The developmeni and commercialization of new products, including
Invision®, requires significant investments in research and development, production, and marketing costs. The successful
production and commercialization of these products Is uncertain as is the acceptance of the new products in the
marketplace. If we fait to successfully develop and commercialize new products, or if customers decline to purchase
the new products, we will not be able to recover our development investment and the growth prospects for our products will
be adversely affected. . .

If we are unable to retain key personnel or attract new skilled personnel, it could have an adverse effect on
our business.

The unanticipated departure of any key member of our management team couid have an adverse effect on our business.
In addition, because of the specialized and technical nature of our business, our future performance is dependent on the
continued service of, and on our ability to attract and retain, qualified management, scientific, technical, marketing and
support personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and we may be- unable to continue to attract or retain such
personnel. ‘ . . .
Our sales, profitability, operating results and cash flows are sensitive to globa! econormic condmons and
cyclicality, and could be adversely affected during economic downtums. Tt

General economic conditions and business conditions of our customers mdustnes affect demand for our products. The
business of most of our customers, particularly our industrial, autormotive, construction and electronics customers, can be
eyclical in nature and sensitive to changes in general economic conditions. Political instability may lead to financial and
economic instability, which could lead to deterioration in general global economic conditions. Downturns in the businesses
that use our products will adversely affect our sales. Historically, downturns in general economic conditions havé resulted in
diminished product demand, excess manufactiring capacity and lower average selling prices, and we may experience
simitar problems in the future. In addition, downturns in our customers’ industries, even. during periods of strong general
economic conditions, could adversely affect our sales, proﬁtablllty, operating results and cash flows.

. R DR S Lo
Pnce increases in raw materials and energy costs could adversely affect operatmg results and financial
condition.

We purchasa various plastic resins to produce our praprietary plastic compounds. These resins, derived from petroleum
or natural gas, have been subject to periods of rapid and significant movements inprice. These fluctuations in price may be
caused or aggravated by a number of factors, including political instability or hostilities in oil-producing countries and supply
and demand changes. Wa may not be able to pass on increases in the prices of raw materials and energy to our customers.
As a result; higher petroleumn or natural gas costs could fead td declining margins, operating results and financia! conditions.
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A major failure of our information systems could harm our business.

We depend upon integrated information systems to process orders, respond to customer inquiries, manage inventory,
purchase, sell and ship goods on a timely basis, maintain cost-efficient operations, prepare financial information and reports,
and operate our website. We may experience operating problems with our information systems as a resutt of system failures,
viruses, computer ‘fhackers” or other causes. Any significant disruption or slowdown of our systems could cause orders to be
lost or delayed and; could damage our reputation with our customers or cause our custormers to cancel orders, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.

i
Our manufactuﬂhg operations are subject to hazards and other risks associated with polymer production
and the related s!torage and transportation of raw materials, products and wastes.

Cur manufactL:lring operations are subject to the possible hazards and risks associated with polymer production and the
related storage antli transportation of raw materials, products and wastes, including explosions, fires, inclement weather,
natural disasters, rlnechanical failure, unscheduled downtime, transportation interruptions, remediation, chemical spills,
discharges or relealses of toxic or hazardous substances or gases and other risks. These hazards can cause personal injury
and loss of life, severe damage to, or déstruction of, property and equipment and environmental contamination. In addition,
the occurrence of material operating problems at our facilities due to any of these hazards may diminish our ability to meet our
output goals. Acco'rdingly, these hazards, and their consequences could have a material adverse effect on our operations as
a whole, including [our results of operations and cash flows, both during and after the period of operational difficulties.

|
Extensive enviro.f-rmenta!, heaith and safety laws and regulations impact our operations and assets, and
compliance, or lack of compiiance, with these reguiations could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our operation§ on and ownership of real property are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations at the r|1ational, state and local governmental levels. The nature of our business exposes us to risks of liability
under these laws alnd regulations due to the production, storage, transportation, recycling or disposal and/cr sale of materials
that can cause cor;tamination or personal injury if they are released into the epvironment or workplace. Environmental laws
may have a signiﬁc'ant effect on the costs of these activities involving raw materials, finished products and wastes. We may
incur substantial costs, including fines, damages, criminal or civil sanctions, remediation costs, or experience interruptions in
our operations for wolatlons of these laws.

Also, nationat and state envuronmental statutes | impose strtct and under some circumstances, joint and several Inabuhty
for the cost of qustlgatlons and remedial actions on any company that generated the waste, arranged for disposal of the
waste, transportecll the waste to the disposal site or selected the disposal site, as well as on the owners and operators of
these sites. Any or all of the responsible parties may be required to bear all of the costs of clean up, regardless of fault or
tegality of the wastfa disposal or ownership.of the site, and may also be subject to Iiabiiity for natural resource damages. It is
possible that we w'iII be identified as a potentially responsible party at more sites in the future, which could result in our being
assessed substantial investigation or clean up costs.

Accruals for esnmated costs, mcludlng, among other things, the ranges associated with our accruals for future
environmental compllance and remediation may be too low or we may not be able to quanitify the potential costs. We may be
subject to addltlorl'nal environmental liabilities or potential liabilities that have not been identified. We expect that we will
continue to be supject to increasingly stringent environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. We believe that
compliance with tlhese laws and regulations-may, but does not currently, require significant capital expenditures and
operating-costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

We face competition from other polymer companies, which could adversely affect our sales and financial

.

condition. i . .

We operate ih a highty competitive marketplace, competing against a nurmber of domestic and foreign potymer
producers. Competltlon is based on several key criteria, including product performance and quality, product price, product
availability and secunty of. supply, responsiveness of product development in cooperation with customers and customer
service. Some of our competitors are larger than we are and may have greater financial resources. These competitors may
alsc be able to maintain significantly greater operating and financial flexibility than we do. As a result, these competitors may
be better able to withstand changes in conditions within our industry, changes in the prices of raw materials and energy and in
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generat economic conditions. Additionally, competitors’ pricing decisions could compel us to decrease our prices, which

N could affect our margins and profitability adversely. Our ability to maintain or increase our profitability is, and will continue to
.. be, dependent upcn our ability to offset decreases in the prices and margms of our products by improving production

efficiency and volume, shifting to higher margin products and improving eX|st|ng products through innovation and research
and developmenit. if we are unable to do so or to otherwise maintain our competitive position, we could lose market share to
our competitors.

-

We expect that our competitors will continue to develop and introduce new and enhanced praducts, which could cause
adecline in the market acceptance of our products. In addition, our competitors could cause a reduction in the selling prices
of some of our products as a result of intensified price competition. Competitive pressures can also result in the loss of major
customers. An inability to compete successfully could have an adverse effect on our resuits of operations, financial condition
and cash flows. We may also experience increased competition from companies that offer products based on alternative
technologies and processes that may be more competitive or better in price or performance, causing us to loss customars
and result in a decline in our sales volume and earnings.

Vi{e may incur significant charges in the event we close all or part of a manufactun‘ng plant or facility.

We penodmally assess our’ manufactunng operanons in order ta manufacture and distribute our products in the'most
efficient manner. Based on our assassments, we may make capital smprovements to madernize certain units, move
manufacturing or distribution capabilities from one plant or facility to another plant or facility, discontinue manutacturing or
distributing certain products or close all or part of a manufacturing plant or facility. We also have shared services agreements
at several of our plants and if such agreements are terminated or revised, we would assess and potentially adjust our
manufabfuring operations. The closure of all or part of a manufacturing plant or facility could result in future charges which
could be significant. ' )

Our substantial International operations subject us to risks of doing business In foreign countries, which
could adversefy affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

‘ We conduct a substantial portion of our business cutside of the United States. We and our jomt ventures currentiy have
ten manufacturing facilities located outside the United States, including facllities and offices located in Mexico, Canada,
Belgium, France, Germany, Poland, Hungary. Indonesia, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, China, Luxembourg, Denmark and the
United ngdom Wa expect sales from international markets o continue to represent a significant portion of our net-sales.
Accordingly, our business Is subject to risks related to the differing legal, political, social and regulatory requirements and
economic conditions of many jurisdictions. Risks inherent in international operations include the following: '

* fluctuations in ex'change rates may affect product demand and may adverssly affect the profitability in U.S. dollars of
. products and sennces we provnde ininternational markets where payment for our products and services is made in the
local currency; '

s intellectual property rights may be moare difficult to enforce;

+ foreign countries may impose additional withholding taxes or otherwise tax our foreign income, or adopt other
restrictions on foreign trade or investment, including currency exchange controls;

. * unexpected adverse changes in foreign laws or regulatory requirements may occur,
; agreements may be difficult to enforce and receivables difficult to co'IIect; '
" compliance with a variety ef foreign laws and regulations may be burdensome; A
* unexpected adverse changes in export duties, quotas and tariffs and difficulties in obtaining export licenses;

» general economic conditions in the countries In which we operate could have an adverse effect on our earnings from
' operations in those countries;

. forelgn operatlons may experience staﬁ' ing difficulties and labor disputes;

. forelgn governments may nationalize private enterprlses
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* our business and profitability in a particular country could be affected by political or economic repefcussions on a
domestic, country specific or global level from terrorist activities and the response to such activities; and

* unanticipated events, such as geopolitical changes, could resultina wrilte-down of our investment in the affected joint "
venture in Indonesia.

Qur success a's a global business will depend, in part, upon our ability to succeed in differing legal, regulatory, economic,
social and political conditions by developing, implementing and maintaining pglicies and strategies that are effective in each
location where we and our joint ventures do business.

A . . s

Other increases ﬂn operating costs could affect our profitability.

Scheduled or :unscheduled maintenance programs could cause significant production outages, higher costs and/or
reduced productiorlm capacity at our equity afiiliates and suppliers due to the industry in which they operate. The inability to
achieve or the delay in achieving the anticipated financial benefits from our cost reduction initiatives and employee
productivity goals <l:0uld also affect our future profitability.

. I . - .
QOur business depends upon good relations with our employees.

We may experlence difficulties in maintaining appropnate relations with unions and employees in certain Iocatlons
About 80% of our hourly employees at our operations are represented by labor unions. In addition, problems or changes
affecting employees in certain locations may affect relations with our employesas at other locatlons The risk of labor disputes,
work stoppages or other disruptions in production could adversely affect, us. If we cannot successfully negotiate or
renegotiate colrectrve bargaining agreements or if the negotiations take an excessive amount of time, there may be a
heightened risk ofeln prolonged work stoppage. Any work stoppage could have a material adverse effect on the productivity
and profitability of a manufactunng facility or on our operations as a whole.

Our business and financial condition could be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our matenal
trademarks and other proprietary information.

We have numlerous valuable patents, trade secrets and know-how, domain names, trademarks and trade names,
including certain m?rks that are material to cur business, which are identified under ltem 1 of this Report. Despite our efforts
to protect our trademarks and other proprietary rights from unauthorized use or disclosure, other parties, including our former
employees or consultants may attempt to disclose, obtain or use our propristary information or marks without our
authorization, Unauthonzed use of our trademarks, or unauthorized use or disclosure of our other intellectual property,
could negatively |mpact our business and financial condition.,

Although our pension and postretirement plans are currently adequately funded, events could occur that
would require us to make significant contributions to the plans and reduce the cash available for our
business. '

We have sevelral defined benefit pension and postretirement plans around the world, including in the United States,
covering most of OLFJF emplayees. We are required to make cash contributions to our pension plans to the extent necessary to
comply with minimum funding requirements imposed by the various countries’ benefit and tax laws. The amount of any such
required contnbutlons will be determined annually based on an actuarial valuation of the plans as performed by the plans’
actuaries and as reguured by taw. The amount we may elect or be required to contribute to our pension plans in the future may
increase significantly. Specifically, if year-end accumulated obligations exceéd assets, we may elect to make a voluntary
contribution, over ,and above the minimum reqguired, in order to aveid charges to our balance sheet and consequent
reductions to shareholders' equity. These contributions could be substantial and would reduce the cash available for our
business.

Increasing cost of emploype healthcare may decrease our profitability.

The cost of prgvid ing healthcare coverage for our employees is continually increasing. If healthcare costs continue to rise
atarapid pace, the Company may not be able to or willing to pass on those costs to employees. Therefore, if we are unable to
offset continued rising healthcare costs through improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures, the increased
costs of employee healthcare may result in declining margins and operating results, '

@
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Changes in tax laws could have an adverse impact on our earnings. '

Changes to tax laws, rules and regulations, including changes in the interpretation or implementation of tax laws, rules
and regulations by the Internal Revenue Service or other domestic or foreign governmental bodies, could affect us in
substantial and unpredictable ways. Such changes.could subject us to additional comphance costs and tax liabilities which
could have an-adverse lmpact on our earnings.

{ -
Specific acts of terrorism may disrupt opera_tio'ns and cause increased costs and liabilities.

The threat of terrorist attacks or actual terrorist events in the United States or abroad could affect us in unpredictable
ways. Terrorist threats or events could creaie political or economic instability, affecting our business in general. The increased
costs related to heightened séclrity orinsurance coverage could also have a negative impact on our financial condition. Such
threats or events could also resultin operational disruption, including difficulty in obtaining raw materials, difficulty in delivering
praducts to customers, or general delay and inefficiencies In our supply chain. Additicnally, our manufacturing facilities, both
within the United States and those located abroad, may become direct targets or indirect casualties of terrorist attacks,
leading to severe damage including loss of life and loss of property. ’ '

Increased indebtedness could restrict growth and adversely affect our financial heaith.

As of August 31, 2008, our debt on a consolidated basis was approximately $131.7 milion. We are mare heavily
leveraged than in the past and an increase in the level of Indebtedness could have significant consequences. For example, it
could: . .

« limit our ability to satisfy current debt obligations;
 increase interest expense due to the change in interest rates and increase in debt levels;

» require us to dedicate a significant portion of cash flow to repay principal and pay interest on the debt, reducing the
amount of funds that would be avallable to finance operations and other business activities;

* impair cur ability to obtain financing in the future for working capital, ca'pital expenditures, research and developmant,
or acquisitions;

» make us vulnerable to economic downturns or adverse developments in our business or markets; and
« place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors with less debt.

We expect to pay expenses and 1o pay priﬁcipai and interest on current and future debt from cash provided by operating
activities. Therefore, our ability to meet these payment obligations will depend on future financial performance which is
subject In part to numerous economic, business and financial factors beyond our cantrol. if our cash flow and capital
resources are insufficient to fund our increased debt, we may be forced to réduce or delay expansion plans and capital
expenditures, lirmit payment of dividends, sell material assets or operations, obtain additional capital or restructure our debt.

Litigation from customers, empioyees or others could adversely affect our financial condition.

_Fromtime to time, we may be subject to claims or legal action from customers, employees and/or others. Whether these
claims and legal action are founded or unfounded, if these claims and legal actions are not resolved in our favor, they may
result in significant financial liability and/or adversely affect market perception of the Company and our products. Any financial
liability or reputation damage could have a material adverse effect on our business. This, in turn, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.-

We are dependent upon good relationships with our various suppliers, vendors and distributors.

We rely upon good relationships with a number of different suppliers, vendors and distributors. if our relationships with
these parties were to deteriorate or if a number of these parties should elect to discontinue doing business with us, our
business operations could be adversely affected.
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ITEM 1B.

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

|
l
\
UNRESOLVED STAFF GOMMENTS
;

The Companty owns and operates seven plants in North America, six in Europe and two in Asla. The following table
indicates the location of each plastics compounding plant, the approximate annual plastlcs cormpounding capacity and
approximats floor area, mcludmg warehouse and office space and the geographic segment that is principally supported by

such plant:
i

Location !
|

Bellevug, Ohio. . . ......................

Sharon Center, Ohio, Speciality Compounding
Y R S

Sharon Canter, Ohio, A. Schulmari Invisien, Inc.

Nashwille, Tenr{essee_ T e
San Luis Potosi, Mexico ... ............ ...
St. Thomas, O‘ntario. Canada.. .. ...ovo....
Orange, Texas! . . . . . D,

Total North' American Segment . . . . .. .. ..
t

Bomem, Belgifﬁ:m' ..... e
Crumiin Gwent, SouthWales . . .............
Givet, France ! ................. e
Plock,Potand . . . .................... e
Dongguan, Chlna ................... el
Kerpen, Germ&%ny ................. M
Surabaya, Indonesia (Joint Venture) . . . .. .. Ce
Milan, ftaly .. 0.

The Companyi considers each of the foregoing facilities to be in good condition and suitable for its purposes.

{1} The approximalte annual plastics compounding capacity set forth in this table is an estimate and is based upon several
factors, |nclud1ng the daily and shift operating schedules that are clistomary in the area where each facility is located.
Another factor is the approximate historical mix of specific types of plastic compounds manufactured at each plant. A
plant operating at full capacity wili produce a greater or lesser quantity {in pounds) depending upon the specific plastic
compound then being manufactured. The annual poundage of plastic compounds manufactured does not, in itself,
reflect the extelnt of utilization of the Company's plants or the profitability of the plastic compounds produced. '

(2} Includes capac;ity of approximately 20 million pounds from two manufacturing lines owned by The Sunprene Company, a
partnership in which the Company has a 70% partnership interest, .

@) Includes approfximately 14,500 square feet.of space comprising the Company's Color Technology Center.

{4) Includes a pilof line for the new Invision® sheet product which is measured by the square foot. This is not currently
included in the Company's calculation of capacity utilization as itis a pilot line. The initial production line in the Company's
Sharon Center facility is nearing completion and is scheduled for start-up in January 2007 with the ability to produce

saleable product expected shortly thereafter.

Public warehouses are used wherever needed to store the Companys products conveniently for shipment to cus-
tomers. The number of public warehouses in use varies frorm time to time. Currentty, usage approximates 16in North America
and 67 in Europe. The Company believes an adequate supply of suitable public warehouse facilities is available to it.

|
|
L
1
!

Approximate
Capacity (sq. ft.}{4)

Approximate Floor -

3.600(4)

3,600

‘g
O
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+

Approximate Area
Capacity (Ibs.){1} {Square Feet)
{In thousands)
88,000(2) 160
14,000 113(3}
- 32
34,000 ° 138
83,000 187
74,000 141
135,000 _1e2
428,000 _983
141,000 4855
80,000 106
216,000 1™
1,000 50
37,000 110
134,000 484
29,000 - 138, 7 -
41,000 _112
679,000 1,644

1,107,000 2,507

+




The Company owns its corporate headquarters, which is located in Akron, Ohio and which contains approximately
48,000 square feet of office space. The Company leases sales offices in various locations in North America, Europe and Asia.

The Oompahy also owns a 158,000 square foot facility in Akron, Ohio that, until December 31, 2000, was a
manufacturing operation. The facility is now used for warehousing, togistics, product sampling and product development.

The Company also owns a 145,000 square foot facility in Orange, Texas, that, unti August 31, 2003, was a
manufactunng facility. The facility is now used for warehousing and logistics.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is engaged in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of busingss. The ultimate outcome
of these proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

During fiscal 2008, a raifroad company filed suit against the Company seeking compensatory damages and reim-
bursement of environmental costs to Investigate and remediate property located near its Bellevue, Ohia facility. The Company
subsequently fited an answer to this complaint and both parties are now conducting discovery. Management of the
Company, in consultatnon with legal counsel, is of the opinion that a valid cause of action does not exist. The Company will
continug 1o pursue resolution of this matter. The Company has not recorded a reserve relatmg t6 this matter. The ultimate
outcome of this matter is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cas-h,ﬂows.

ITEM 4. " SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended August 31,
2006. o - o o

EXECUT]"VE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

. The age (as of October 8, 2006}, business éxperiénce during the past five years and offices presently held by each of the
Company's Executive Officers are reported below. The Company’s By-Laws provide that officers shall hold office until their
successors are elscted and qualified.

Terry L. Haines: Age 60; President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the Company since January 1991.

[

b ‘Paul F. DeSantis: Aged2; Chlef Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company since April 20086; joined the Company as
Vice PreS|dent of Finance in January 2006 prior to that time, he was with Scott's Miracle- Gro where he held various financial
rgles_smce 1997 befare becoqllng Vice President and’ _C_orporate Treasurer of the Company in 2003.

Alain C. Adarn- Age 57; Vice President — Global Automotive Market Development of the Company since March 2008,
prior to that time Vice Pre5|dent International Automotive Operations since September 1, 1899,

Barry A. Rhodes: Age 48; Executive Vice Presuient and Chief Operatmg Officer of North America since March 2006 prior
to that time Vice President — North American Sales and Marketing since October 2001,

John M. My!esf Agé 62; Vice President — Research and Development since October 28, 2003; prior to that time, Vice
President — North American Purchasing since October 1997.

Ronald G. Andres: Age 56; Vice President — North American Operations since March 2008; prior to that time, Vice
President — North American Manufacturing since October 20, 1999.

Gary J. Elek: Age 54; Vice President and Controller for North America since March 2008; prior to that Corporate
Controller since February 2004; prior to that time, Executive Vice PreS|dent Corporate Development of FirstMerit Corparation
from 199? to 2004.
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PART It

ITEM 5.

H(?LDER MATTERS AND
SECURITIES

M/?RKET FOR THE CO.MPANY'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCK-
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

The Gompany"s Commaon Stockis traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLG under the symbol “SHLM.” At October 31,
2008, there were 545 holders of record of the Company's Cormmon Stock. This figure does not include beneficial owners who
hold shares in nor;ninee name. The closing stock price on October 31, 2006 was $24.21.

The quarterty high and low closing stock prices for fiscal 2006 and 2005 are presented in the table below.
|

| Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005
Common Stock Price Range _ High - Low High - Low
stQuartar. . .. $20.05-16.77  $22.71-18.86
2nd Quarter . 1 .............................................. $25.80 - 20.80  $22.20 - 17.48
Brd QUANBI. . b o e e e e $25.14- 2280 $18.75- 15.92
4th Quarter. . R T I $24.46 - 21.17  $19.49-16.23
The quarterly cash dividends declared for fiscal 2006 and 2005 are presented in the table below.
Cash Dividends Per share ) ) Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005
1st Quarter . ! .................................................. $0.145 $0.135
2nd QUANEE . . e e e e e e e Q.145 0.145
Brd QUaner . . . e e e e 0.145 0.145
MR QUANET . o e e e e e 0.145 0.145
$0.580 $0.570

On Aprit 25, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 6.75 million
shares of its outst?nding common stock (the “Repurchase Program”). This authorized share amount in the Repurchase
Program equated to approximately 23.3% of the Company’s outstanding shares at the authorization date. It is anticipated
that the Company \rvill complete the Repurchase Program through open market repurchases from time to time. The number
of shares to be regurchased and the timing of repurchases will depend upon the prevailing market prices and any other
considerations tha} may, in the opinion of the Board of Directors or management, affect the advisability of repurchasing
shares. The Ftepurlchase Program replaced the Company’s prior repurchase authorization, under which approximately
1.7 miflion shares had remained authorized for repurchase. The Company’s purchases of its common stock under the

|
Repurchase Program during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 were as follows:

i Maximum
. Average Price Number of
’ Paid per Total Number of Shares that may
Total Number Share Shares Purchased yet be

of Shares {(Excluding . as Part of a Publicly Purchased

Repurchased Commissions) Announced Plan Under the Plan
Beginning shares available , ' 6,336,635
June 1-30, 2006 ¢ . . .. e e e e 41,390 $23.96 41,380 6,205,245
July 1-31,2006 |. ... 627,905 $22.45 627,905 5,667,340
August 1-31, 20q6 e e e 917,421 $22.48 17.421 - 4,749,919

+ . .

Total........l........ ... . ... .. $22.51 1,586,716 4,749,919

1,586,716
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ITEM:6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA " : '

’ Year Ended August 31,
2006(1) 2005 2004 2003 : 2002
. (In thousands, except share and per share data)
Netsales-. ................... $ 1,616,386 § 1,433,196 § 1239001 §$ 1,100457 & 966,593 !
Costofsales. . ................ 1,396,440 1,240,557 1,065,608 940,152 806,260
Other costs, expenses, etc. . ... .. .. 163,001 -« 145697 - 131,084 124,775 104,931
Interest and other income . . . ... ... (5,202) {2,394) (2,252) (2,067) {2,179)
1,654,239 1,383,860 1,184,440 1,062,860 909,012

Income beforetaxes . . . ... ... .... 62,147 49,336 54,651 37,597 57,581
Provision for U.S. and foreign income ' i

taxes . ... o i e 29,485 17,243 26,745 21,643 25,427
Net. income. . ... $ 32662 § 32,093 § 270806 $ 5954 § 32,154
Totalassets. . ............ e $ B43245 $ TBA3B2 % 724096 $ 643872 $ 612,332
Long-termdebt . .. ...... R $ 120730 § 63158 $ 49679 $ 68698 § 81038
Total stockholders’ equity. . ... .. ... $ 403492 $ 462103 $ 435237 § 382821 $ 356,361
Average number of common shares :

i outstanding, net of treasury shares: . _ . .

Basic .. ... T 20,061,580 30,619,780 30,128,117 20,496,281 20,296,435
‘‘Diluted . . ... R e 30,394,210 31,049,790 30,575,057 20,845,497 29,667,037
Diluted earnings per common share. .. § ° 1.07 % 103§ ‘091 $ 053 3 1.08
Cash dividends per common share . .. $ 058 & 057 * § 054 % 054 % 0.54

(1) The édoption of SFAS 123R reduced net income by approximately $4.5 million in fiscal 2006 -

¢ . (- . M . . N

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 'OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION- AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2006

" Net incomie for the 2006 fiscal year was $32.7 million, or $1.07 per diluted share, compared to last year's net income of
$32.1 million, or $1.03 per diluted share. Net income in fiscal 2006 increased slightly as compared to the prior year and
earnings per diluted share increased due to the reduced number of common shares outstanding as a result of the Company's
share repurchase program that was implemented in fiscal 2006 and the purchase of the Company’s common shares through

a self-tender offer. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro, decreased net income by $1.6 million or
$0.05 per diluted share. ' . '

i At

The Com;laany héd record sales performance and improved its gross margin in fiscal 2006, however the following
significant and unusual items occurred that impacted net income by approximately $7.3 million:

» Charge related to the extinguishment of debt of approximately $5.0 million;

Charges of approximately.$1.2 related to ongoing tax audits;

¢ Income from a life insurance settlement of approximatety $0.5 million;
. N . .

Tax cHéFgé'of approximately $2.2 million refated to the repatriation of dividends from Europe; and

« Income of approximately $0.6 million resulting from compensation received from the cancellation by suppliers of
certain European distribution agreements.

Net income also included approximatety $4.5 million of expense related to the Company’s adoption of SFAS 123R in

_ fiscal 2006. There-were no charges related to SFAS 123R in fiscal year 2005.

b
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1

Net consolidated sales for fiscal 2006 were $1.616billicn, an increase of 12.8% over sales of $1.433 biliion in fiscal 2005.
A comparison ofl net consolidated sales by business segments, which are North America and Europe, including Asia
{"Europe’}, is as follows:

Increase
. Sales 2006 2005 Amount %
T : {In thousands) T
North America .. .. ........... e $ 493,644 § 439441 § 54,203 123
BUrODE . . . e e 1,122,742 903,755 128,887 i3.0
$1,616,386 $1,433,196 $183,190 128

[

The components of the percentage change in 2006 net consolidated sales are as follows:

|

' Increase

‘ (Decrease)
JONNagE . . . e e e e e 9.1%
Price/mix. . 1 ........................................... P 5.7
Translation afect. . . . .. L (2.0

Percentage inlcrease NSAIBS . . .. e e 12.8%

Worldwide tonnage was up 9.1% for the year as European tonnage was up 14.8% offsetting a North American tonnage
decrease of 2.1 %;’ The increase in European tonnage was a result of the improved European aconomic environment while
North American tEonnage declined slightly due to competition and 'weakness in the marketplace. The trans!atioryeffect of
foreign currencies, primarily the euro, decreased net consolidated sales by approximatety $2_9.2 million or 2.0% in fiscal
20086. Co

The two largest markets served by the Company are the packaging and automotive markets. The apdroximate
percentage of net consolidated sales by market for 2006 compared to 2005 is as follows:

Market : S 2006 2005
Packaging .!........ e e e ;e 36% 3%
Automotive . ' ...................... R 17 18
Other. . ... b 47 45

100%  100%
Other markets include appliances, construction, medical, consumer products, electrical/electronics, office equipment
and agriculture.

The majority of the Company's consolidated sales can be classified into five primary product families. The approximate
amount and percentage of consclidated sales for these product families compared to the previous year are as follows:

2006 2005
Product Family Amount % Amount %
] (In thousaﬁﬁ. except for %’s)

Color and additive CONCENFAtes. . . .« o oo oo oo e e e $ 579,825 36 $ 501,159 35
Polyolefins . .{....... e 405,163 31 424,066 30
Engingered compounds . . . ... . e 393,312 24 377,008 26
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) . . . . .. .. e e 64,174 4 54,952 4
Toling. ... .J..... e e e e e e e e e e e 16,482 1 16,147 1
Other ... . ] e e PP 67430 _ 4 59884 4

100 100

$1,616,386 $1,433,196

18




A comparison of gross profit dollars and percentages by business segment for 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

Increase
. (Decrease)
Gross profit § . 20086 2005 $ %
{In thousands) )
BURODB -« o o oo oot ettt .. $163826 $146,357 $17.469 119
NOMP AMEACE © « o v oo e e et et e e e e e e e 56,120 46,282 9,838 21.3

$219.946 $192639 $27.307 142

Gross profit % ) 2006 2005
Europe. ... ......... e e e e e e e e e 146% 14.7%
e -V o N “11.4%  10.5%
Consolidated . . . .. .. v o e e e e 13.6% .134% -

Gross profit margin increased twenty basis points on a year to year comparison to 13.6% in fiscal 2006 from 13.4%in
fiscal 2005.

The increase of $17.5 million in gréss profit dollars in Europe in fiscal 2006 was primarily driven by the increased tonnage
as the gross profit percentage remained relétively flat as compared to fiscal 2005. North America also showed a significarit
increase in gross profit in fiscal 2006 as gross profits were up $9.8 miflion or 21,3% from fiscat 2005. This improvement in
gross profit was the result of favorable pricing and changas in product mix. Overall, thé Company enjoyed an increase in
gross profit per pound in fiscal 2008, most notably in North America.

A comparison of capaéity utilization levels is as follows:

‘ 2008 2005
S = P L., B4%  83%
NOTR AMBTICE . . .« 4t e e oot e e e 83%  87% |,
Worldwide . . ................ e e e e e e e e e e e e 90%  85%

Worldwide capacity utilization increased by 5%. The increase in European capacity utilization was the result of stronger
customer demand and product mix. In order to meet this increased demand, some of Eurcpe's manufacturing facilities
tempararily added additional production shifts above the normal production schedule during the second half of fiscal 20086.
North American capacity utilization decreased slightly from 2005 as a result of continuing softening demand, the shutdown of
the largest production line at the Company’s Texas facility due to a mechanical issue and a two-week shutdown at the same
Texas facility because of Hurricane Rita. ’

A comparison of operating income {loss) by business segment for the years 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

2006 2005 Difference
P : {In thousands}

BUMODE . . vveeee e I e B $70,126  $62,777  $16349
North America . ., .. . .. e S (9,069)  (11,000) 1,931
Restructuring, North America . . .......... P L. - (182) 182
Interast exXpense, NBT . . . . . vt e e (2,924) (2,259) (665)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . .. ... .. ... [P oL (4,986) T — . (4.986)
INCome BEfOrE taxXES . . . . . . o e e $62,147  $49,336 $12,811

The increase of $16.3 million in European operating incorme was primarily the result of the higher level of sales driven by
the $17.5 million or 11.9% increase in gross profit and 14.8% increase in tonnage from the prior year. European operating
expenses in fiscal 2006 remained relatively flat with fiscal 2005 although the translation effect of foreign currencies decreased
operating expenses by $2.4 million. Operating income in North America in fiscal 2006 improved $1.8 milien from the prior
year, primarily because of favorable pricing and product mix which increased gross profit from the prior year. This increase
was offset by an increase in operating expenses as explained in the next paragraph.

Total Company selling, general and administrative expenses were $148.5 million for fiscal 2006, up $10.7 millionor 7.7%
compared with fiscal 2005's total of $137.8 milion. The translation effect of foreign currencies had a favorable impact,
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decreasing these expenses by $2.1 million in 2006. increases in these experises, of which the majority are in North America,
included stock-based compensation expense related to the Company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS)| SFAS 123R in fiscal 2006 of $4.5 million, costs associated with the Company'’s CFO transition, incentive
compensation whroh was driven by the Company's increasing common stock price, legal and professional fees, medical
insurance and vanpus (Trelated projects. SFAS 123R accounted for approximatety half of the increase in sefling, general and
administrative exp'}enses. _

On Septembér 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment, which requires the Company to
measure all emplayee stock-based compensation awards using a fair value method and record the related expense in the
financial statements..The Company elected to use the modified prospective transition method. The modified prospective
transition method requires that compensation cost be recognized in the financial staterents for all awards granted after the
date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption
and requires that prior periods not be restated. All periods presented prior to September 1, 2005 were accounted for in
accardance with Accountrng Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and followed a
nomrnal vesting penod approach.

The adoption of SFAS 123R reduced income before taxes for year ended August 31, 2008 by approximately $4.5 million
{$0.15 per basic and diluted share). These expenses are included in sefling, genera[ and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statement of income, The first quarter of fiscal 2006 included approximatety $1.0 milion of
charges related to the accelerated vesting of retirement efigible employees under the non-substantive vesting period
approach applred}to new grants after adoption. The expense recorded did not rmpact income tax expense since the
Company’s deferred tax assets are fully reserved by a valuatron allowance. There was no impact to the statement of cash
flows related to the adoption of SFAS 123R. In addition, Unearned Stock Grant Compensatron of $3.2 million was reclassified
to Other Capital in Stockholders' Equity upon adoption of SFAS 123R. a

A large part of the Company's technical activities relate to the continuous refinement of compounds for specific
applications of customers Research activities relating to the development of new products and the improvement of existing
products are |mportant to the Company. These activities are conducted at the Company's various technical centers and
laboratories. Research and development expenditures were approximately $4.7 milfion in fiscal 2006 and approximately
$3.8 million in ﬁsclal 2005. The increase in these activities is primarily related to the new Invision® sheet product.

+

Interest expenlse was $6.2 million in fiscal 2006 compared to $3.7 million in fiscal 2005. The increase of $2.5 million was
the result of an |ncreased level of borrowings required for the Company's common stock tender offer and open market
common stock repurchase plans which were implemented In fiscat 2006.

Foreign currerlrcy transaction losses represent changes in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company
operates. During fiscal 2006 the Company incurred foreign currency transaction losses of approximatsty $2.1 million
compared to approxrmateiy $2.8 million infiscal 2005. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar accounted for $1.3 million of
this loss in fiscal 2006

Minority interest represents a 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company in a partnership with the
Company and a 35% equity position of FT. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company.

Cther incomelin fiscal 2006 was approximately $1.9 million, which included income of $0.8 million from the cancellation
by suppliers of certain distribution arrangements in Europe and the receipt of a life insurance settlement of approximately
$0.5 million, Other income of $0.9 million in 2005 included approximatety $0.8 million of income refated to gain on the sale of
an office in Europe.

|
in connection.with the Company's new financing arrangements, as discussed hereafter in the "Uquidity and Capital
Resources” Sectio:n, the Company prepaid its $50.0 milion private placement 7.27% senior notes and terminated its
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$100.0 million: revblving credit arangement, The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately
$5.0 million which was comprised of the following: -

»

Amount
) W e ' o . {In thousands)

Make-whote 'prpv'i‘s'ion for prepayment of 7.27% senior notes . . .. ... ... P P e $3,335 i
Interest rate swap terminationfee . ... ... ... ... L e e . ' 1,456
" Write-off of deferred loan fees related to extinguished debt. . . . . . P A . 308
" Write-off of deferred interest from 7.27% SENIor MOES .+« . . . ot e et ettt {218}
Revolving credit agreement terminationfees . . . ... ... .. . . . e 15
C - $4.986

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates of 47.4% in 2006 and 35.0% in
2005 is as follows:

- 2006 2005

Mo : K : % of % of
: . ) Pretax Pretax
" Amount Income Amount Income

(In thousands, except for %s)

Statutory US. tax rate . . . ..o e e $21,752 35.0% $17.268 35.0%
Amount of foreign income taxes less than U.S. taxes at statutory rate . . . {4,043) (6.5) {2,009) 4.1)
losseswithnotaxbenefit . :. .. .. .. .. ... .. . . L .. 5,997 9.6 5,904 12.0
Mexico valuation allowance cnnet assettax. . . . ................ = - (3.270) 6.6)
Settlement of taxclaiiminCanada .. ............ .. ... ... ..... - - (1,104} (2.2)
+ Provision for repatriatedeamings . .. .. ... . o oo 2,243 36 — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt —notaxbenefit. . ... .. ... ...... 1,745 28 - -
Cngeing tax audits . . . . . R . e e 1,152 19 - -
Other, net . . . .. 638 _10 454 08

$20485  474% $17.243  350%

One of thé Company's major facilities in Texas was closed for a two-week period in September 2005 because of
Hurricane Rita. In addition, a warehouse in Texas also incurred damage from Hurricane Rita. While repair work continues and
ope,zfations have returned to normal, the financial impact from this hurricane is still being assessed. The claim for this hurricane
has been filed with the insurance carriers, but the ultimate amount of any gain or loss related to this claim has not yet been
determined. it is anticipated that amounts not covered by insurance will not have a material impact on future earnings.

*

In September 2005, the Company introduced its new Invision® sheet product and formed A. Schulman Invisien, Inc., a
wholly owned subsidiary. Invision® is a revolutionary product based on cutting-edge technology that is expected to provide
high growth opportunities in many markets around the world. Invision® is a multi-layered, extruded sheet product that
reduces costs and simplifies the manufacturing process for the Company's customers, while providing a higher-performing
and more environmentally friendly alternative to existing plastic and film materials that are painted or ¢olored. The Company
expects Invision® to appeal to customers in a variety of markets, both automotive and non-automotive. Initially, the Company
will focus on automotive applications to capitalize on the Company’s market presence and recognized capabilities. Samples
from the Company’s pilot line have been tested by several potential customers and the Company has received positive
feedback based on the initial results of these tests. The initial production line in the Company’s Sharen Center facility is
nearing completion and is scheduled for start-up in January 2007 with the ability to produce saleable product expected
shortly thereafter. In addition, the Company has purchased land for a greenfield plant site in Findlay, Ohio for construction of a
dedicated Invision® facility. While Invision® did not produce operating income in fiscal 2008, the Company believes this is a
very large market that could have significant sales In the years ahead.

In QOctober 2006, in order to balance capacity with demand, reduce costs and improve efficiencies in North America, the
Company announced its intentions to close two of Its manufacturing lines at its Orange, Texas plant, close a warehouse also
I0cated in Orange, Texas and reduce the workforce at its Bellevue, Chio plant. As a result, the Company expects to record a
charge during fiscal 2007 in an estimated range of $1.0 million to $3.0 million, The Company expects the charge to include
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costs such as severance payments, medical insurance, accelerated depreciation, equiprment removal costs, other exit costs
and the impact on its postretirement obligation due to the reduction in the workforce. -

In October 2(?05, the Company reached an agreemeant with a group of investors led by Barington Capital Group, L.P. {the
“Barington Group;’) which then had an ownership position of approximately 8.7% of the Company’s outstanding stock (the
“2005 Agreement”). Under the terms of the agreement, among other things, the Barington Group withdrew its notice of intent
tonominate persons for efection as directors at the Company's 2005 Annual Mesting and agreed to abide by certain standstill
provisions until the Company's 2007 Annual Meeting {the "Standstill Period”), while the Company, through its Board of
Directors, expanded the size of the Board from 10 to 12 and appointed James A. Mitarotonda, a member of the Barington
Group, to serve as a director until the 2007 Annual Meeting. The Ccrnpany also agreed to initiate and consummate a self:
tender offer by Apnl 30, 2006. :

On February’21. 2006 the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a modified Dutch auction self-
tender offer for upjto 8.75 million shares of its common stock, at a price between $21.00 and $24.00 per share. The Company
commenced the |eelf-tender offer on March 1, 2006 and it expired on Aprit 11, 20086, On April, 25, 2006 the Cornpamr
announced the final results of the self-tender offer where the Company accepted for purchase 2,071,585 shares at a price of
$24.00 per sharelfor a total of approximately $49.7 million. The Company also incurred costs in connection with the self-
tender of $0.5 milllion in legal and professional fees. o . ,. '

On May 30, 2!006 the Barington Group filed Amendment No. 9 to its Schedule 13-D disclosing certain changes, among
group members and in the aggregate, of the beneficial ownershlp of the Company’s common stock. The Banngton Group
disclosed its posmons that completion of the self-tender offer by the Company without repurchasing 8,750,000 shares of
common stock constltuted a failure of the Company to fulfill its obligations under the 2005 Agresment and therefore the
Standstill Period termlnated after the close of business on Apri 30, 2006, Ameng other things, termination of the Standstill
Perlod would ellmmate certain restrictions on the ability of Barington Group members to purchase additional shares of
common stock of the Company and to solicit proxies in connection with the Companys 2006 Annual Meetlng

in October 2'006, the Company reached another agreement with the Barlngton Group, which as of the date of the
agreement owned in the aggregate 2,816,536 shares, or approximately 10.5% of the Company's common stock {the "2006
Agreement”). Und'er the terms of the 2006 Agreement, the Barington Group withdrew a notice of its intent to nominate certain
persons for election as directors at the 2006 annual meeting, agreed to dismiss a lawsuit it had filed against the Company in
Delaware seeking to enforce its rights as a stockholder to inspect and copy certain books, records and documents of the
Company, and aéreed to abide by certain standstill provisions until the Company’s 2007 annual meeting. The Company
agreed, among other things, to nominate James S. Marlen, Ernest J. Novak, Jr. (each current directors of the Company),
Howard R. Curd and Michae! A, McManus, Jr. on the Board's slate of nominees for election as Class Il directors of the
Company at the 2006 annual meeting. The 2006 Agreement also superseded the 2005 Agreemant, except with respect to
Sections 5(d), 6(a) and 9 of the 2005 Agreement.

The foregoing descriptions of certain of the terms of the 2005 Agreement and the 2006 Agreement are qualified in their
entirety by reference to the full text of the agreements, each of which are attached as Exh|b|t 99. 2 to the Forms 8-K fited by the
Company on October 24, 2005 and October 26, 2006.

During fiscal 2006 the Company made significant progress toward improving its North American business. The
Company is currently working on several initiatives that management believes will add significant value in the next few
years which include sales price optimization, purchese price reductions, inventory reductions, continued freight cost
reductions, manufacturing conversion cost reductions and production process refinement.

The Company is focused and dedicated to continuous improvement in the challenging and competitive bu‘einess
climate in which it operates. As fiscal 2006 came to a close, gross marging in North America continued to improve despite
strong competition and weaknass in the marketplace. Heading into fiscal 2007, demand has weakened in North America
primarily in the automotive industry. On a longer-term basis, the prospects of Invision® remain significant as the Company
proceeds with the commercialization of this new technology.
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Net incorne for the 2005 fiscal year was $32.1 miltion or $1.03 per diluted share, an increase of 15% over fiscal 2004's
net income of $27.9 million or $0.91 per diluted share. The transtation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro,
increased net income by $2.7 million or $0.09 per share. )

The primary reason for the increase in fiscal 2005 net income was a reduction in the effective tax rate to 35.0% in 2005
from 48.8% in 2004, The tax rate was lower due to $3.3 million or $0.11 per share of tax benefits from tax reserves no longer
required dus to a changs in Mexican tax laws as of January 1, 2005. The change in Mexican tax law impacted the timing of
recognizing inventory purchases in cost of sales. The change had an immediate effect of increasing Mexican taxable income
and thus allowing the Company to utilize tax credits previously paid on a net asset tax. The tax credits had a full valuation
allowance previously recorded thus the change in tax law allowed the Company to remove the valuation allowance on the net
asset tax credits resulting in an income tax benefit. In addition, the Company received a favorable settlernent of a transfer
pricing audit assessment in Canada of $1.1 million or $.03 per share. The Company had recorded a tax reserve related to
anticipated transfer pricing adjustments between the U.S: and Canada. During February 2005 the Company received
notification from the Canadian tax authorities that they were formally withdrawing the proposed assessment for transfer
pricing. Accordingly, the tax reserve was no longer considered necessary and was reversed. In addition, there was a
reduction in losses in the United States where no tax benefits are currently recognized.

Net income for fiscal 2005 also included a net gain of $0.5 million or $0.02 per share from the sale of an office in Europe
and $1.0 million or $0.03 per share frorm the refinement in assumptions relating to freight in North America. Enhancements to
the Company’s information system provided new information for estimating freight liabilities for outbound customer
shipments. The estimating of freight liabilities is required due to the iag in time between the incurrence of freight expenses
and the eventual receipt and validation of the freight vendor's invoices. As a result of the new information, the Company
revised its estimate and recorded a favorable adjustment which decreased cost of sales and increased net income. Net
income for fiscal 2004 included restructuring charges of $2.1 miflion or $0.07 per share, an impairment charge for goodwill of
$1.8 million or $0.06 per share and a charge of $1.4 million or $0.05 per share for. a valuation allowance on tax assets not
recoverable.

Net consolidated sales for 2005 were $1.433 billion, an increase of 15.7% over sales of $1.239 billion for the comparable
period in 2004. A compariscn of net consolidated sales by business segment is as follows:

} . o Increase
Sales ; 2005 © 2004 Amount %
e (In thousands, except for %’s)
Noh AMenica . . . o o e e $ 439441  $ 410179 §$ 29,262 7.1

BUMODO . o oo e o 993755 828912 164843 19.9
C . $1.433,196 $1.239.091 $194105 157

The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro, increased consolidated sales by $59.9 million in 2005. The
components of the percentage changge in 2005 consolidated sales are as follows: :

-

A . . o Increase

UPACOMIX - e S e o 104%
Transiation effect . . . . .. I T T T e e B 4.8
Tonnage. . ......... e e e e e e e Tl 05

Percentage increase in sales . R S e 15.7%

Worldwide tonnage‘\.yas up 0.5% for the year, European tor]nage_._waé_yp 4.8% while North American volume decreased
7.2%. The increase in Europe‘was primarily attributable to the manufacturing ‘and merchant activities. In North America,
tonnage declined for manufacturing and the sale of commodity products:
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The two largest markets served by the Company are the packaging and automotive markets. The approximate
percentage of consolidated sales by market for 2005 compared to 2004 is as follows:

Market i 2005 2004
Packaging . 1. . e e e e . 3% 36%
ALOMONIVE . | o o e e e e e s 18 22
Other. . ... ... . e e P e TR 45 42

. - 100% '100%
‘I . ‘
Sales to the'automotive market declined -due to pricing, margin pressure and efforts by the industry to reduce unit

inventory. Other [mamets include appliances, construction, medical, consumer products, etectrical/electronics, office
equipment and agricutture.
A . ) ‘
The majority of the Company’s consolidated sales can be classified into five primary product families. The approximate
amount and percentage of consolidated sales for these product families compared to the previous year are as follows:

2005 - 2004
Progduct Family - : - ©_Amount %. Amount %
{In thousands, except for %’s)

Colorand additive concentrates. . .. ... ... ... o $ 501,159 35 § 444,483 36
Polyolefins . j ......................................... . 424,066 30 338,278 27
Engineered co'mpounds ............. DR N 377,008 26 333,630 27
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC} . ... ... ... ... .. e e 54,852 4 57.018 5
Tolling . . . .k e e e 16,117 1 13,380 1
Other .. ... Lo e 50,894 4 52302 4
1 , ‘ $1433,196. 100 $1.239,091 100

A comparison of gross profit dollars and percentages by business segment for 2005 and 2004 is as follows:
Increase

‘ . {Decrease)
Gross profit $ : . 2005 2004 . $ %

. {In thousands, except for %'s})
Burope....0.. ... e A I $146,357 $139,577 $6,780 4.9
NorthAmerica . .. ......ouvvnnnn T e 46,282 43,906 2376 54
) . . A $192,699 $183.483 $9.156 5.0

Gross profit % ~ ’ 2005 2004
Europe...‘..F.-‘....'....‘..'.‘ ..... S e 14.7%  16.8%
North America . ... ... ............... el e L..lo0. 108%  10.7%

+ .

Consolidated- .|. S A R A T e o0 134% 14.8%

The gross profit margin was 13.4% in fiscal 2005 compared with 14.8% in fiscal 2004. The decline in margin was the
result of higher raw material costs due to increased energy prices and the lag in passing on such increases in the form of
higher selling prices. The reduction in margin had én adverse effect of approximately $17.0 milion on pre-tax income.

Gross profit dollars in Europe were up from 2004 primarily due to the positive impact of the euro, which increased
margins by $8.1 rhiltion in fiscal 2005. The decline in the European grass profit percentage was due to rising raw material
prices and the lag in passing on cost increases in.the form of higher sales prices. . {

North Ameridlan gross broﬂt in 2006 incréé‘\se,dSE.d million or 5.4% from 2004. Gross profitin 2005includes a $1.0 million
refinameant in assmlimptidris-relating to freight, as discissed previously. In addition, gross profit in2004 was reduced by
$1.4 million for restructuring charges in Nashville pertaining to accélerated depreciation on-disposed equipment.
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A comparisen of -capacity utilization.levels is as follows: - o Lo

. R : : 2005 ~2004
Burdpe. ... P ] S U 83% 89%
NcrthAmerica...............: .................. e T 8__?%"87%
Workdwide . . . . .. e SEIT e DL e T B5%- BB%

Capacity utilization decreased by 3% worldwide. The decrease in European'capacity utitization was dug primarily to the
production capacrty added fora new ‘facifity in China. The China plant which has an estimated annual production capacity of
approximately 45 milliori fourids, utilized onty 20% of 1ts capacrty in 2005 its fi rst year of productron North Amencan capaclty
utrlrzatlon was flat in-2005." s ‘ _ o

A companson of operatlng mcome (loss) by busrness segment for the years 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

I

) R 2005 ' ‘2004 , Difference
e ’ ; . o (In thousands) ~ .
* Europs . .“;. CO U AT L R $62777  $67.013 ° $4.238)
“NorthAmerica . ... .. 0. .. . e L (11,0000 (7455  (3,545)
v, r-Restructuring, Narth America- .. .~ .. ....... . e e e e +(182) .- 731} .| 549 .
v Interest expense, net: ... .. ... e e e e e EARTI ~ {2,259) . (2,356) _ . 97 .,
* Goodwill |mpa|rment North Amerlca ........ e e e — e (1820) 1,820 -«
Income before taxes e e e e e, $49,336 -$54.651 - §(5.315)

v "

The decrease of $4 2 million i II’\ European income was prrmanly the result of hrgher operatlng expenses of $1 18 mrllron
mctudrng |ncreased costs of $2 5 million related to compllance wrth Sarbanes Oxley requrrements In addmon the translatlon
effect of forergn currencies, increased operatlng expenses by $4°4 milion. The balance of the increase consisted of
$0.4 million for a major. tradé show, increased costs for compensation and other expenses required to support a higher
level of sales. The increasd in‘expenses offset higher gross profit from an increasa in'sales. Income in North América declined
$3.5 million, primarily because of higher Sarbanes-Oxley'compliance expenses &f $1.3 million and the adverse effects of
currency transaction losses. Thess transactlon losses include $2.0 million related to the Canadlan dollar, .

r - Selling, general and admlnlstratlve expenses were $137.8 miillion for 2005, up $15.5 m|II|on or 12.7% compared with .
2004. The translation effect of foreign currencies increased these expenses by .$4. B,mrllron for 2005. ‘Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance expenses |ncreased $3.8 million.and- .expenses for compensation and benefits were up $2.9 million from the
2004 fiscal year. Various other expenses rncreased $4 2 million. ' - o

a

Interest expense decreased $0.5 million’in 2005 due to an unterest rate swap of $25 million, and a reduction of average
borrowrngs Interest |ncome mcreased $0.4 million due toa hrgher Ievel of investments.-

Forergn currency transactron Iosses represent changes m the value of currencues |n major areas where the Company,
operates. During 2005 the Company mcurred forergn currency transaction tosses of approximately $2.0 milionin Canada as
a result of the strengthening of the Canadran dollar.

Mlnonty interest represents a 30% equrty posmon of Mltsubrsh| Chernrcat MKV Company ina partnershlp with the
Company and a 35% eqmty posrtron of PT Prima Polycon Indah in an‘Indonesian joint Venture with the Company.
~Buring fi f scal 2004 in-order to balance capa0|ty W|th demand, the Company closed two manufacturing lines at its
MNashwille, Tennessee plant As aresult, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $0. 2 million and $1.8 million for the years
ended August 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At August 31, 2005, the _restructuring was complete, therefore no further

cash out-flows were requrred by the Gornpany

a . &

Ong of the Company S major fac:lltles in Texas was down for a two week period in September 2005 and a warehouse in
Texas also incurred damage from, Hurricane Rita. See the update on this hurricane damage in the 2006 section of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

In September 2005 the Company introduced its new Invision® sheet product and formed A. 'Schulman Irvision, Inc., a
wholly owned subsidiary. See the update on Invision® in the 2006 section of Managements Discussion and Analysrs of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. :




f
1

J .
In October %005 the Company reached an agreement with a group of investors led by Barington Capital Group, L.P.
which had an ovynership position of approximately 8.7% of the Company’s outstanding stock. See the update on this
agreement in the-2006 section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has identified critical accounting policies that, as a result of the judgments uncertainties, and the
operations tnvotved could resutt in material changes to its financial condition or results of operations under different
conditions or using different assumptions. The' Company’s most critical accounting policies relate to the allowance for
doubtful accounts, inventory reserves, restructuring costs, goedwill, long-lived assets, provisions for income taxes, pension
and other postretirement benefits and stock-based compensation.

Management records an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on the current and projected credit quality of
the Company's cjustcrners, historical experience, customer payment history, expected trends and cther factors that affect
collectibility. Ghanges in these factors or changes in economic circumstances could resutt in changes to the allowance for
doubtful accounts. |

Managemen!t establishes an inventory reserve based on historical experience and amounts expected 10 be realized for
slow-moving and cbsolete inventory. The Company monitors its slow-moving and obsolete inventory on a quarterty basis and
makes adjustments as considerad necessary. The proceeds from the sale or dispositions of these inventories may differ from
the net recorded|amount. -

Hestructunng charges are recorded in accordance with, SFAS 148, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Dlsposal Actwmes Liabilities for costs associated with an'exit or disposal activity are recognlzed when the liability is incurred.
Fair value is the baS|s for the measurement of any asset wrlte—downs that are reﬂected as accelerated depreciation in cost of
sales. i

Goodwill is not amortized. The Company conducts a formal impairment test'of goodwill at the reporting unit level on an
annual basis and|between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likety than not reduce
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. S ..

Long-lived assets except goodwilt and mdef‘ nite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment when circum-
stances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a chpanson of the carrying amount of the asset to future net cash flows estimated by the Company to be
generated by such assets.

The Compainy's quarterly provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of -judgment by managamert.
Quarterly, the pro'vision for income taxes is based upon actual year to date results plus an estimate of pretax incomae for the
remainder of the year This provisionis impacted by the income and tax rates of the countries where the Company operates. A
change in the geographlcal source of the Companys income can have a significant effect on the tax rate. No taxes are
provided on earnings which are permanently reinvested. .

The Compar'ty has not recognized any tax benefi ts from losses in the United States.

Various taxung authontres periodically audit the Company s tax returns. These audits may include questions regarding
the Company’s tax filing positions, including the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income to various tax
jurisdictions. In evaluating the exposures connected with these various tax filing positions the Company records tax liabilities
for probable eprsures.'A significant period of time may elapse before a particular mattér, for which the Company has
recorded a tax liability, is audited and fully resolved.

. | .
The establishment of the Company's tax liabilities relies on the judgment of management to estimate the exposures
associated with its various filing positions. Although management believes those estimates and judgments are reasonable,
actual resuits coutd differ, resulting in gains or losses that may be material to the Company's consolidated statement of
i
income. :

To the extent that the Company prevails in matters for which tax liabilities have been-recorded, or are required to pay
amounts in exceas of these tax liabilities, the Company's effective tax rate in any given financial statement periad could be
materially affected. An unfavorable tax settlement could result in an increase in the Company's sffective tax rate in the
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financial staterment period of resolution. A favorable tax settlement would be recognized as a reduction in the Companys
effective tax rate in the financial staterment pericd of resolution.

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109 Accounting for iIncome
Taxes, all available evidence, both positive and negative, is considered o determine whether a valuation allowance is needed.
Evidence, such as the results of operations for the current and preceding years, is given more weight than projections of

future incoms, which is inherently uncertain. The Companys losses in the U.S. in recent penode provids sufiicient negative

evidence to require a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. The Company intends to maintain
a valuation allowance agalnst its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. until sufficient positive avidence exists to support
realization of such assets. ' '

Defined pension plans and other postretirament benefit p!ans are a ergnrf cant cost of doing business that represents
obligations that will be ultrmately settled far into the future and therefore subject to estimation. Pension and postretirement
benafit accountrng is intended to reflect the recognition of future benefit costs over the employee's approximate period of
employment based on the terms of the plans and the investment and funding decisions made by the Company. While
management believes the Company's assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in the Company's actual
experience or significant changes in the Company's assumptions, including the discount rate used and the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets, may materially affect the Company’s pension and postretirement obligations and
future. expenses. :

The Company has several postretirement benefit plans weorldwide. These plans consist primarily of defined beneifit and
defined contribution pension plans, but also include other postretirernent benefit plans. For financial statements prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Arnerica, many assumptions are required to
be made in order to value the plans’ liabilities on a projected and accumulated basis, as well as to determine the annual
expense for the plans. The assumptions chosen take into account historical experience, the current econormic environment
and management's best judgment regarding future experience. Assumptions include the discount rate, the expected long-
term rate of return on assets, future salary increases, health care escalation rates, cost of living increases, turnover, retirement
ages and mortality. The cumulative difference between actual experience and assumed experience is deferred under current
accounting principles. These gains or losses are recognized in expense over the average future working lifetime of employees
to the extent that the cumulative experience exceeds 10% of the greater of the Projected Benefit Obligation (or Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit Obligation) and assets. Additionally, the current accounting principles defer the amount of any plan
changes. These amounts are then recognized in expense over the average future working lifetime of the affected group. In
accordance with SFAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Banefit Pension and Postretirement Plans, the full unfunded
liability will be recognized on the Company’s balance sheet in fiscal 2007. The deferred items will be charged to accumulated
other comprehensrve income and will be amortized: through expense in the same manner as before

‘ For the majority of the Company ] pensron plans, the Company consults with various actuarres annually when revrewrng
and selecting the discount rates to be used. The discount rates used by the Company are based on yields of various
corporate bond indices with varying maturity dates. The discount rates are also reviewed in comparison with current
benchmark indices, economic market conditions and the movement in the benchmark yield since the previous fiscal year.
The liability weighted average discount rate for the defined benefit pension plans is 4.7% for fiscal 2006. For the other
postretlrement ‘benefit plan, the rats is 6.0% and is obtained from the Citigroup Pension Liability Index and Discount Curve,
This rate reprasents the higher interest rates generally available in the United States, which is the Company's onfy country
with othér postretirement banefit liahilities. Another assumption that affects the Company s penston expenss is the expected
return on assets. The weighted-average expected return on assets assumption is 7.7% for fiscal 2006.
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The followinb table fllustrates the sensitivity to a change in the assumed discount rate and expected long-term rate of
return on assets|for the Company's pension plans and other postretirerment plans as of August 31, 2008:

Change in
Assumption

25 basis point decrease in discount rate . . . . ..

25 basis point increase in discount rate. . ... ..

25 basis point decrease in expected long-term
rate of returnonassets. . ..............

25 basis point increase in expected long-term
rateof retumonassets. .. .............

Impact on
August 31, 2006
Projected Benefit
Obligation for
Pension Plans

Impact on
August 31, 2006
Projected Benefit
Obligation for
Postretirement Plans

Impact on
2006

Benefits Expense

{In thousands})

$ 436 $3,418 $1,368
$(425) $(3,269) $(1,308)
$ 28 $ - § -
$ (28) 5 - $ -

Stock-based compensation requires the use of a valuation model. The Company currently uses a Black-Scholes option

pricing model to{calculate the fair value of its stock options. The Black-Scholes model requires assumptions based on

management’s judgment regarding, among cthers, the volatility of the Company’s stock, the expected forfeiture rate, the
expected life of the stock award and the Company's dividend vield. The Company primarily uses historical data to determine
the assumptionsito be used in the Black-Scholes model and has no reason to believe that future data is likely to differ from
historical data. However, changes in the assumptions to reflect future stock price volatility, future dividend payments and
future stock award exercise experience may result in a material change to the fair value calculation of share-based awards.
While management believes the Company's assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in the Company’s actual
experience or significant changes in the Company's assumptions, including the volatility of the Company’s stock, the

expected forfeiture rate, the expected life of the stock award and the dividend yield, may materiafly affect the Company’s

future stock-based compénsation expense.

LIQUIDITY

Cash and casfh equivalents
Working capittal, excluding cash

Long-lerm dept .......................
Stockholders'i equity . . ... ... Ceee

As of Augusf 31, 2006, the current ratio was 2.8 to 1 and working capital, excluding cash, was $353.1 million. Net cash
provided from op%rations was $18.0 milion in 2006 compared with $55.6 million in 2008. Cash used in financing activities
increased $42.7 million, mainly due to the Company's purchases of its common stock pursuant to the Repurchase Program,
as discussed later in this section, and through the self-tender offer.

The Compan;y’s cash and cash equivalents were $50.7 million at August 31, 2006, a decreasa of $51.6 million, or 50.4%
from August 31, 2005. The decrease is primarily due to the purchases of treasury stock and an increase in working capital,
excluding cash. ‘Ilhe increase in working capital, excluding cash, is due primarily to the increase in accounts receivable and
inventories which supported the Company’s significant growth in sales in fiscal 2006.

Accounts receivable increased in 2006 by $47.4 million. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the euro,
accounted for $6;.2 million of the increase in accounts receivable. Excluding the transtation effect, the increase in accounts
receivable was thg result of higher sales, which increased 22.1% in the fourth quarter and 12.8% for the year compared to the
same periods in the prior year. Days sales in accounts receivable improved from 59_ days to 58 days.

Inventory increased in 2006 by $52.7 million or 22.6%. While this represents a significant increase irom the prior year, the
stronger sales volume has resutted in the Company days sales in inventory to remain refatively flat with the prior year. The
translation effect of foreign currencies also accounted for $5.6 million or 10.7% of the increase in inventory.

The Company increased total long-term debt by $57.5 million or 81.0% during 2006, Total Iong-term debt was
$120.7 million as: of August 31, 2006. The increase is related to the financing actions discussed below.

i
!
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AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

August 31, August 31,
2006 2005 % Change
{In millions, except for %’s)
................. $ 50.7 $102.3 (50.4)%
................. 353.1 303.4 16.4
................. 120.7 63.2 81.0
................. 403.5 4621

(12.7)
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~ Capital expenditures for the year ended August 31, 2006 were $29.2 million-compared with $26.9 million last year. The
major components of the capital expenditures included the pilot line and other components for the new Invision® product line
which totaled $7.8 million, tand for the future site of Invision® of approximately $1.0 million, a new line for the manufacturing
facility in China of approximatety $2.2 million, a new packaging line for the manufacturing faciiity in Germany of approximately
$2.5 million, an upgrade to a production line for the manufacturing facility in Mexico of approximately $1.0 millien and an
expansion of the laboratary in the United Kingdom facility for about $0.5 milion. The Company's Board of Directors approved
$32.0 million for capital expenditures for A. Schulman Invision, Inc. of which approximately $15.0 milion has been spent
through fiscal year 2006.

On February 28, 2006 the Company completed a refinancing in which it replaced 'a $100.0 million credit facility with a
new $260.0 million credit facitity (“Credit Facility™). The Credit Facility consists of $260.0 million of revolving credit lines of
which the U.5: dollar equivalent of $160.0 million is available to certain of the Company's foreign subsidiaries for borrowingsin
euros or other currencies. The Credit Facility, which matures on February 28, 2011, contains certain covenants that, among
other things, limit the Company's abfiity to incur indebtedness and enter into certain transactions beyond specified limits. The
Company must alsoc maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and may not exceed a maximum net debt leverage ratio. As
of August 31, 20086, there were no covenant violations under the Cradit Facrllty

Interest rates on the Credrt Facility are based on LIBOR or EURIBOR (depending on the borrowing curency) plus a
spread determined by the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company also pays a facility fee on the commitments whether
used or unused As of August 31, 2006 there was $26.2 milion outstandrng under the Credlt Facr!rty

The Company used proceeds from the Credit Facility to prepay lts $50.0 million'in 7.27% senior notes which were due in
2009. In comjunction with the prepayment of these notes the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of
approximately $5.0 million, which included a make-whole provision of approxrmately $3.3 mrllron interest rate swap
termination fee of $1.5 milion and the write-off of related deferred debt costs and deferréd interest. Deferred interest
related to proceeds deferred in 1999 when the Company completed an interest rate lock effectively reducing the annual
interest rate from 7.27% to 7.14% over the life of the notes. In connection with the prepayment of debt and termination of this
interest rate lock, the remaining balance of these deferred proceeds of $0.2 million was written off.

On March 1, 2008, the Company issued senior guaranteed notes (“Senior Notes ) in the private placement market
consisting of the following:

* $30.0 million of Senior Notes in the United States, matunng on March 1 2013 with a variable mterest rate of LIBOR
plus 80 bps

.

* €50.3 milion of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 4.485% (“Euro
Notes"). The Euro Notes approximate $64.5 million at August 31, 2006, .

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned domestic-subsidiaries and contain covenants
substantially identical to those in the $260.0 million revolving credit facility. As of August 31, 2006, there were no covenant
violations under the Senior Notes.

Both the Credit Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by up t0 65% of the caprtal stock of certain of the Company’s
directly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The proceeds from the Euro Notes, available cash, and borrowings on the Credit Facility were used to fund the
$143.8 million repatriation from Europe completed in March 2006. The Company used these repatriated proceeds to fund
the self-tender offer which cost approximately $50.2 million including $0.5 million in fees directly related to the tender offer.
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In connection with the Company’s agresment to initiate a seff-tender offer, which required new debt and repatriation

- from foreign subs:idiaries, the Company incurred $11.5 million, which is summarized as follows:
i : - )

) Amount
. E ; ' (In millions}

Debt extinguis',hment o1 $ 5.0

! Incremental tax on repatriation of dividends from foreign subsidiaries . ... ... ... ..., e 2.2
Deferred cost:s related to new fiNaNGING BQrEBMBITS . . .+« . 4 v e vt v ettt ee et iiee et 2.6

Fon_fvard exchfange contracts loss on repatriation of dividends . .. ... ... .. . oo L e 1.2

Fees directly Eelated toself tenderoffer. . . ............... e R PR . _0s5

| $11.5

Charges of $2.6 million related to the issuance, of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility have been defér}ed as of
August 31, 2006 and are being amertized over the contractual lives of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility, respectively.

The Company had approx:mately $8.5 million and $17.0 million of uncollaterahzed short term lines of credit from various
domestic banks at August 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. There was $8.5 million outstanding at August 31, 2006 and no
borrowings under these lines of credit at August 31, 2005. '

The Company had approximately $58.0 million and $55.0 million of uncollaterahzed short-term forelgn ||nes of cred|t
available to its sub5|d|ar|es at August 31,2008 and August 31, 2005, respectively. There was $2.5 million outstandmg under
these lines of craldﬂ at August 31, 2006 and no borrowings at August 31, 2005.

The Company leases certain items under capital leases. The European segment leased certain land and buildings with
an amount due oln this capital lease at August 31, 2005 of approximately $0.4 milion. The European and North A_\men‘c_an
segments had no significant capital leases outstanding at August 31, 2008. ' C

The Company s unfunded pension liability is approximately $65.0 million at August 31, 2006. This amount is pnmanly
due to an unfunqed plan of $50.3 milion maintained by the Company's German subsidiary. Under this plan, no separate'
vehicleis requweq to accumulate assets to provide for the payment of benefits. The benefits are paid directly by the Company
to the participantjs. It is anticipated that the German subsidiary will generate sufficient funds from operations to pay these
benefits in the future.

The Compari\y enters into forward foreign exchange contracts as a nedge against amounts due or payable in foreign
currencies. These contracts limit the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Any gains or
losses assocmted with these contracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabllities hedged
are recognized on the foreign currency transaction line in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The Company estimates
that a 10% chan'ge in forgign exchange rates at August 31, 2006 would have changed the fair value of the contracts by
approximately $3.6 million. Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts are substantiahy offset by changes in the
fair value of the hedged positions. The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes or utilize
any other types of derivative instruments.

E
z
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A summary of the Company’s future obligatlons subsequent to August 31, 2006 are presented below;

Less Than More Than
1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years Total
: ' . ‘ {In thousands)
ShortTermDebt . . ... ................ $10,976 3 - 5 - $ - $ 10,976
. LlongTermDebt ............... e — .~ .. 268218 94490 120,708
" Capital Lease Obllgatlons ................ 18 20 2 - 40
Operating Lease Obligations .. ............ 4,355 * 5,020 2,350 248 11,973
Purchase Obligations(@). . .. ......... e * 60,816 - - - 60,816
Pension Obligations(p) ... ... ........... 2,800 - - — 2,800
Postretirernent Benefit Cbligations. . . ... ..... ) 787 - 1,811 2,15 7,400 12,149
Deferred Compensation Obligations.-. . .. ... .. o,077 412 272 2,073 3.834
Interest Expense . .. ... ... ... ’ 7,005 - 13,167 12,772 15,842 48,866

Quarantees L. el = - — ; — -
' T 487,924 $20,420  $43765  $120053  $272,162

(a) Purchase cbligations include inventory

(b] Although the Company expects to make payments beyond this’ pomt the Company cannct accurately estimate or
determlne the amount of such payments

Operating lease information is provided in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Itern 8 of this
Report. The aggregate future minimum rental commitment for non-cancelable Ieases excluding obligations for taxes,
insurance, ete. was $12 0 m||||on at August 31, 2006

The Company’s outstandung cornmermal comrmtments at August 31, 2006 are not material to the Company’s financial

‘posmon liquidity or results of operatlons except’ as discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements :

appearlng in ITEM 8 of thts Report. ~ *

f

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements .

During: the year ended August 31, 2006 the Company paid cash dividends aggregating to $O 58 per share. The total
armount of these dividends was $17.6 million. Cash fiow.has been sufficient to fund the payment of these dividends.

For the year ended.August 31, 20086, the Company. issued'650 667 common shares upon the exercise of emp!oyee
stock opttons and 78,950 common shares were issued-to employees under the restricted stock plan. The total amount
received from. the exercise of these options was $9.8 million,

On April 25, 2006, the Company announoed that its Board of Dlrectors authorized the repurchase of up to 6.75 million
shares of its outstandlng common stock {the “Repurchase Program™). This authorized share amount in the Repurchase

Program equa_ted to approximately 23.3% of the- Company’s outstanding shares at the authorization. date. 1t is anticipated -

that the Company will complete the Repurchase Program thfough open market repurchases from time to time. The number
of shares to be repurchased and the timing of repurchases will depend upon the prevailing market prices and any other
considerations that may, in the cpinion of the Board of Directors or management, affect the advisability of repurchasing

shares. The Repurchase Program replaced the Company's: prior repurchase authorization, under which approximately -

1.7 million sh_ares had remained authorized for repurchase. During the year ended August 31, 2006, the Company
repurchased 2,000,081 common.shares under the new program at an average cost of $22.76 per share, excluding
commissions.. Under the current plan the Company has approximately 4.7 million shares still available to be repurchased.
During fi scal 20086, the Company purchased approximately 4.1 million shares of its common stock at an average pnce of
$23.39 echudlng transaction fees through the Repurchase Program and self-tender offer.

The assets and Iiabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are transtated into U.S. dollars using current exchange

rates. Income statement iterns are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The resulting translation

adjustments are recorded in the *accumulated other comprehensive income” account in stockholders’ equity. The oontlnued
weakress of the U.S. dollar during the year ended August 31, 2006 increased this account by $6.8 million.
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Based on past performance and current expectations, Management believes the Company’s cash and cash equiv-
alents, investmenits, and cash generated from operations wiII‘ satisfy the Company’s working capital needs, capital
expenditures, conltractual obligations and other liquidity requirements associated with operations through at least the next
12 months. Additional common stock repurchases would generally be funded through incremental borrowing.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In March 20q5, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, (*FIN 477), Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. FIN 47 requires that
the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARC) be recognized in the period in which it is incurred and the
gettlement date i i estimable, and is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tangible long-lived asset. The
liability is recorded at fair value and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset. The
Company perfarmed a thorough examination of asset categories during the quarter ended August 31, 2006. The Company is
legally obligated by various country, state or local regulations to incur costs to retire certain of its assets. A liability is recorded
for these obligatiohs in the period in which sufficient information regarding timing and method of settlement become available
to make a reasopable estimate of the Ilab|I|tys fair valug. The Company has identified certain other AROCs for which
information regardmg the timing and method of potential settlement is not available as of August 31, 2008, and therefore, the
Company is not aPIe to reasonably estimate the fair value of these liabilities at this time. The Company continues to monitof
these conditional obligaticns, as well as any new ones that may develop, and will record reserves associated with them when
and to the extent Ehat more detailed information becomes available concerning applicable retirement costs. The adoption of
FIN 47 by the Company in the quarter ended August 31, 2006 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
posmon results of operations or cash flows. Ny 1. .

In July 2006,|the FASS issued FASB interpretation No. 48, (“FIN 48%), Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Staternent No. 109, “Accaunting for Income Taxes". FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain
income tax posmons that are recognized in a company’s financial statements. FiN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for
how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its fi nancial statements uncertain tax positions that the
company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. Under the interpretation, the financlal staternents will reflect expected
future tax consequences of such positions presuming the taxing authorities’ full knowledge of the. position and all relevant

facts, but without considering time values. The adoption of FIN 48 is required by the Company in fiscal year 2008. The

Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of FIN 48 on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

On September 15, 2006 the FASS issued FASB Statement No. 157, (“SFAS 157", Fair Value Measurement. SFAS 157
addresses standardizing the measurement of fair value for companies who are required to use a fair value measure of
recognition for reeognition or disclosure purposes. The FASB defines fair value as "the price that would be received to ssll an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure date.” The Company is
required to adopt|SFAS 157 for fiscal year 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of SFAS 157 on its
financial position,|results of operations and cash flows.

]

On Septembier 29, 2006 the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 158, ("SFAS 158"), Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. SFAS 158 requires companies to recognize the funded status of defined
benefit pension and other postretirement plans as a net asset or fiability in its financial statements. In addition, disclosure
reguirements rela}ed to such plans are affected by SFAS 158. As required by SFAS 158, the Company will use'a prospective
approach in theirradoption of SFAS 158. The Gompany will begin recognition of the funded status of its defined bensfit
postretirement plans and include the required disclosures under the proviéions of SFAS 158 at the end of fiscal year 2007 if
the Company had adopted SFAS 158 the August 31, 2006 balance sheet would have expenenc:ed an increase in the
Company's I|ab|I|t|es by approximately $26.0 milion and accumulated other comprehenswe income would have decreased
by approximately $26 0 millien, excluding any tax effect. The adoption of SFAS 158 is not expected to impact the Company’s
debt covenants or cash position. Additionally, the Company does not expect the adoption of. SFAS 158to 3|gn|f cantly effect
the results of operatlons : - : :

On Segtember 13, 2006 the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting: Bulleting No. 108,
("SAB 108", Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatemnents in Current Year Financial
Statements. When a misstatement in a financial statement is identified, SAB 108 requires management to assess whether or
not the misstatement is material to the affected financial statements. In performing this analysis, management must consider
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materiality from both a quantitative perspective and a qualitative perspective. The analysis of materiality is an area that
requires a great deal of professional judgment and SAB 108 requires that this analysis begin with the basic quantification of
the misstatement. The Company is required to adopt SAB.108 for fiscal 2007. The adoption of SAB 108 is not expected to
impact the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

' ' 1

"CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this report may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Federal securities
iaws. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not refate strictly to historic or current facts. They use such
words as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “project”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe”, and other words and terms of similar

"meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. These forward-looking statements
- are based on currently avallable information, but are subject to a variety of uncertainties, unknown risks and other factors

concerning the Company's operations and business environment, which are difficult to predict and are beyond the control of

- the Compapy. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by these forward-

looking statemnents, and that could adversely affect the Company’s future financial performance, include, but are not limited
to, the following:

» Worldwide and regional.economic, business and political conditions, including continuing economic uncertainties in
some or all of the Company's major product markets;

+ Fluctuations in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company operates, including the U.S. dollar, euro,
U.K. pound sterling, Canadian dollar, Mexican peso, Chinese yuan and Indonesian rupiah;

* Fluctuations in the prices of sources of energy or plastic resins and other raw materials;
* Changes in customer demand and requirements;

* Escalation in the cost of providing employee health carg;

+ The outcoms of any legal claims know.n or unknown; and

* Tha performance of the North American automotive market.

Additional risk factors dre set forth in ITEM 1A of this Report. The risks and uncertainties identified above are not the only

‘-risks the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that it befieves to be

immaterial also may adversely affect the Company. Should any known or unknown risks or uncertainties develop into actual

_events, or underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, these developments could have material adverse effects on the

Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK

The Cofnpany conducts business on a multinational basis in a variety of foreign currencies, The Company's exposure to
market risk for bhanges in foreign currency exchange rates arises from anticipated transactions from international trade and
repatriation of foreign earnings. The Company’s principle foreign currency exposures relate to the euro, U. K. pound sterling,
Canadian dollar, Mexican peso, Chinese yuan, and Indonesian rupiah.

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in related foreign

_ currencies. These contracts are with major financial institutions and the risk of loss is considered remote. The total value

of open contracts and any risk to the Company as a result of these arrangements is not material to the Company's financial

position, liquidity ¢r results of operations.

The Company’s exposure to market risk from changes in interest rates relates primarily to its debt obligations. Interest on
the Revolvir’ig Facility is based on the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for U.S. dollar borrowings and the Euro
Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) for euro borrowings. At August 31, 2008, the Company had $26.2 milion borrowed
agéinst its Revolving Facility. Borrowing costs may fluctuate depending upon the volatility of LIBOR and amounts borrowed.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTEFIED PUBLIG ACCOUNTING FIRM 11 ¢ 7 ¢

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders oot

of A. Schulman, Inc. ' :
) o arernasIR iphaionk baleklleanss of xabn! .

We have completed integrated audits of A, Schulman, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial statements and of its
internal control over financlal reporting as of August 31, 2006, and an audit of its 2004 consolidated financial statemants in

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountlng OverS|ght Board (Unlted States). Our oplnlons based on
ouraudlts arepresented below. =~ T N A b 1 b e v e .

i B DRSO R P S S » ¥

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL» STATEMENTS AND FiNANCIAL STATEMENT
SCHEDULE .. . . N T e E it TR AR N I SN

L

" In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under ltem 15(a)(1) present fairy, in al
material respects, the financial position of A. Schulman, In¢. and its subsidiaries at August 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results
of their cperations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the pe'riod ended August 31, 2006 in conformity with
decounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement
schedule listed in the index appearing under ltem 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial staternents. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these staterments in
accordance with the standards of the Pubfic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thosa standards raquire
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial staternents Includes examining, on a test hasis, evidence supporting the amounts and.
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and slgnificant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

.

As discussed in Note G to the consohdated financial statements the Company changed the manner in which it accounts
for stock- based compensation in fi scal 20086. ’ . N

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCTAL REPOHTING

Also, in our opinion, managements assessment included in the accompanymg Management's Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of August 31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internaf Controf — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COBO), is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of August 31, 20086, based on criteria established in Intemal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to
express opinions on management's assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards.require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective infernal control over financial reporting was
maintained in-all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of
internal ccmtrol over financial reporting, evatuatlng ‘management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating eﬁectuveness of internal controf, and performlng such other procedures as we consider necessary In the
circumstances. We believe lhat our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opmlons

A company's internal control over financial reportang is a process deS|gned to provude reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting-principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that () pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of-_the assets of the company; (i) provide reascnable assurance that transactions are recorded
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as necessary to perfnit preparation of financial statementsin aceardance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made cnly in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the corﬁpany; and (jii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acqugnion 88} for. c{i;gposmon of the companys assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
i ¢

Also prOJectlohs oj an\/ evaluatlon of eﬁectweness o future periods are subject to tha risk that controls may become
madequate because ‘of changes in condmons or that the degree of cornpllance with -the- pohmes or procedures may
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) ' Consolidated Statement of Income

_Year Ended August 31, .-

B P L TR

s oeanantejading o S S e e ey T BT, RFa a1 L (In thousands except share
20 T To ALY T e el Coend St et ob we. Letide o oo, @nd per share data) :
Net Sales ;e o spne st N R S G T P LR S ,,$,1.6]6.38§ . $1.433,196, . $ 1,239,001
Cost Of Al . . . . e e e e 1,396,440 1,240,557 1,055,608
Selling, general and administrative expenses. . .. .... ... ... e © 148,629 137,848 122,305
INtErBst BXPENSA . - . . . . .o e e 8234 . | 3704 . 4,156
Foreign currency transaction losses. . . . . . e e e 2,13E§ 2,824 .. 694
Minority interest .. ....... A 1,116 1,139 1,378
MBS INCOMIB ., L v et e e et e e e (3.310) {1,446} {1,800}
Other iNCOME . . . . . e e e s (1,892) (948} - {452)
Loss onextinguishmentof debt . . ... ... ... . . 4,986 — -
Restructuring expense — North America . .. .. .. ... ... ... .. . oL - 182 731
Goodwill impairment — North America. . .. ... .. ... e - ' - 1,820
" 1,554,230 1,383,860 1,184,440
Income Bafore Taxes . ........................,. e 62,147 49,336 54,651
Provision for U.S. and ForeignIncome Taxes . . ... ............... . 29,485 17,243 26,745
Netincome ............ i $ 32662 $ 32003 $ 27906
Wéighted-average Number of Shares Outstanding:
Basic. .. .. e e e ... 29,961,580 30,619,780 30,128,117
Dited . . . e 30,394,210 31,049,780 30,575,057
Earnings per Share of Common Stock: ' ’
o 3 109 % 105 $& = 083
Didted . . . D e e $ 107 § 103§ 091

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Ai'Schilihaméng.
-Consolidated Balance Sheet

iy b N August 31,  August 31,
R T 3; ref s W sonted rw:ngémqmc!\! w' o peensl bene s 2006 2005
FoGEienfn) e @ Jeekepoant  wined o sow? o o2l? (In thousands except
. WLt i 13t 1qeeKe Ahraaar § . share data)
L CEp e kE BLLGERE g1k ASSETS juvery Tor- BILE, -m-L: IR
Current Assets: nA Me s T ey
-Cash-and cash eqUIVaIENES . . . . . oot o e e e e e e e e e $ 50 662 .,$ 102,329
Accounts receivable. less allowance 16 Gobbttul accounts of $9,409 in 2006 and $8,227 in 2005,. . ., 272920, 225442
, inventories, average‘cost or market, whichever is OWET o e e " ’ 288,079 | 233,348
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . . . . S N .’ © 17,678 1 . 16,848
 Total Current As:sets ................ J P ety B27,348 . 577967 -
Other Assets: T B
Cash surrender value of ffe iNSUMANGE . . .. . ..ot ' 1,800 1,454
Deferred charges . . . ... oo oot O - 120444 17,316
Goodwill . .. ... e e e el e 5302 ° 5,288
INtangible @SSets . .. .. L e LR S T, e R 1,382+ 1,026
o AR o 29018 25,084
Property, Plant, and Equipment, at cost: . : o
Land and |mprovements .................. e LT T g [N 4 £ 13,667
Buildings and leasehold 1mpr0vements. R oo, S . o....t' 138526" | 128,884
Machinery and eqmpment ....... e ' 317,499 292,419
Furniture and fi itures .. ... LU 35918 =~ 35556
Constructioninprogress . ... ... ... ... S 11,078 13,366
o . T 516,600 483,892
Accumulated depreciation and investmenit grants of $1,119 in 2006 and $1,187 in2005. . ... .. .. 329,921 302,581
. . ' _._186879 181,311
I ‘ $843.245 . $784,362
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities: .
Notespayable. . .J. . ... .. . e e $ 10976 $ 1507
ACCOUNES PAYADIB [, . . . ot e et e 135,930 102,059
U.S. and foreign mcome taxXes PaYabIB. . . oo e e e e 14,708 14,788
Accrued payrolls, taxes, andrelated benefits. . .. ... . L DI 30,866 27,193
Other accrued habihues .................................................... 31,081 26,708
Total Current Liabilities. . .. ........... P 223,561 172,255
Long-term Debt I ...................................................... " 120,730 63,158
Other Long- -term Liabilities . ... .. ... ... .. e e 82,482 73,713
Deferred Income TAKOS . . v it e e e e P 7,196 7,865
Minority Interest ....................................................... 5,784 5,268
Commitments and Contingencies. . . ... ... ... . e — -
Stockholders’ Equlty
Preferred stock, 5% cumulative, $100 par value, authorized, issued and outstanding — 10,564 shares
iN200Band 2005, .. ..ot L 1,057 1,057
Special stock, 1 000 000 shares authorized, nonsoutstanding . . . . .. ... ... . oL - -
Common stock, $1 par valug, authorized — 75,000,000 shares, issued — 40,707,018 shares in 2006
and 30,088,555 shares in 2005, . . .. . .. e e e e e e 40,707 39,989
Other capital . . . L. ... 86,804 74,973
Accumulated other COMPranansivE INCOME . . . . . o vttt i e e s e ae e 32,893 26,552
Retained earmngs ....................................................... 502,998 487,998
Treasury stock, at cost, 13,343,711 shares in 2006 and 9,272,045 shares in2005. . .. . ... .. .. (261,057) (165,232)
Unearned stock grant COMPENSAtION . . . v v o vttt e e e e e — (3.234)
Common Stocklhomers EQUItY . . . oo [ 402,435 461,046
Total Stockholders’ BQuity. . . . . . . 00ttt e 403,492 462,103

$843,245 $ 784,362

The faccompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A,;Schulman,:Inc,
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

! ) Accumulated Uneamed
' E Other Stock Total
. t. R Preferred Common  Other Comprehensive Retained  Treasury Grant Stockholders'
1ot 2 u. ' 1€|.J 5 o Stock Stock Capital  Income (Loss) Eamings Stock  Compensation Equity
‘i 3 313 gk ] ~_ {inthousands except per share data) ]
Balance at August 31,2003........ $1,057 $38,781 $56,036 $(8,365) §462,104 $(164.231) $(2.560) ‘$382,82_1
Comprehensive income for 2004: Poe T
‘Net income for 2004 ... ......... e T _ . 27906 - '
* Foreign cumrency translation gain. .. .. T ' 28,139 - '
Minimum pension liability adjustment ' ’ !
-(netoftaxof $446). . . ......... (1,131)
. Total comprehensrve income. .. ... : 54,914
Cash dividends paid or accrued: o
Preferred stock, $5 per share. . .. . .. {53} . 53
Comrmen stock, $.54 per share . . . . . (16,417} {16,417}
Stock options exercised. . . ...... ... 813 10,892 11,705
Issue of restricted stock . . .. ..., ... 39 . (39 -
Grant of restricted stock, . ... ....... 2,080 {2,080) —
Non-cash stock-based compensation. . . ) 844 844
Amortization of restricted stock . . . .. .. 1,423 1,423
Balance at August 31,2004 . . . . .. .. 1,057 39,633 69,812 18,643 473,540 (164,231}  (3.217) . 435237
Comprehensive income for 2005; .
Netincomg for2005 . ........... 32,003
Foreign currency translation gain. . . . . 10,260
. Minimum pension liability ‘adjustment
" (netoftax of $1,056). . .. ....... (2,351}
Total comprehensive income. ., .. . 40,002
Cash dividends paid or accrued: ‘
Preferred stock, $5 per share. . . . . . . {53) {53)
" Gommon stock, $.57 pershare . . . . . (17,582 (17,582)
Purchase of treasury stock . .. .. .. ... ) - ’ {1,001) (1,001}
Stock oplions exercised.’. . ... ... ... ©302 3,790 4,002
“lssue of restricted stock . ... ... ... ... 5 (54) —
-Grant of restricted stock. . .......... oo 1,981 . (1,981) -
Forfeiture of restricted stock . . .. ... .. {893) 803 —
Non-cash stock based compensation . . . 337 337
. Amortization of restricted stock . . . . . .. . 1,071 1,071
Balance at August 31,2005. . . ... .. 1,057..°39,989 74,973 26552 487,998 (165232) (3.234) 462,103
Comprehensive income for 20086: : )
Net income for 2006 ... ... ...... S 32,662
Foreign currency translation gain. . . . . : 6,830
Minimum pension liability adjustment
(retof taxof $214) . .« .o ... ... {489)
Total comprehensive income . . . . . . 39,003
Cash dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred stock,-$5 per share. . . . . .. {53) (53}
Common stock, $.58 per share . . . .. {17,609) {(17,609)
-Purchase of treasury stock . . . ... ... .. {95,825) . (95,825)
Stock options exercised . . ... ..... .. 650 9,150 9,800
Issue of restricted stock .~ . . . .. e 68 (68} —
" Nor-cash stock based Gompensation . . . 4525 4,625
Reclassn" cation due to adoption of .
"SFAS1Z23R . ... ... i, (3,234) 3,234 —
. Amortization of restricied stock . .n ..l 1,548 ‘ 1,548
- Balance at August 31,2006........ $1,057 $40,707 $86,804 $32,803 $502,008 $(261,057) $§ =  $403.492

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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At Schilman; inc.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

. . Year Ended August 31,
| : - {In thousands)
Provided from (used in} operating actlvities: R . - te .

,Net incame . . . I R PP ST T e 8 326682 $ 32,083, $27,906

. Adjbstments to'rec'onci_le net income to net cash provided from (used in) operating . .

" ‘activities: ': S !
Depreciation and amortization. . . . ... ... L e 24,912 25,082 25,870
Non-current deferred XES . i (1,968) (978) 926
Pension and oth{ar deferred compensation ... ... . ... .o 11,018 11,891 7,917
Postretirement béaneﬁt obligation . .. ... 3,339 2,623 893
Minority interest in net income of subsidiaries. . ... ....... ... ... L 1,116 1,139 1378
Non-cash items refated to loss on extinguishment of debt . .. ... .............. 180 - -
RESHTUCIUANG CHAMGES . « .+« v v e v e e et e e e e e et e e i - C = 1,353
GOOOWIIl IMPAITTIENL . . . . .. 1. - - . 1820

Changes in working capital: I
Accountsreceivable . . . ... .. ... ... L S {41,193) - (17,643) (13,797)
Inventories . . ... .. e e e e e {45,815) 4,069 {25,699}
Prebaidexpensels..........‘............................_ ....... S0 {249 49

L Accountspayable .............. e e e e e e 30,752 5,019 © 24,699
INCOMB EBXES i v v v v v et i e e e e (1,433) (4,051) 12,690
Accrued payrolls!and other accrued fiabilities . . . ... .. .. . o " 6,154 " 1,675 2,503

Proceeds from life insurance benefits . . . . . . e e e 580 - —
Changes in other a'ssats and other long-term lighilittes . .. ............ ... .. ... {1,103) (6,032 ' (4,897)
Net cash provilcled from operating activities .. ............... ... ..., e 18,995 55,643 ‘53,611
Provided from (used in) Investing activitles: o
Expenditures for property, plantandequipment. . . .. ... i e e e - (29,239) (26.@44) (22.2'87}
" Disposals of propeEtV. plantandequipment .. ..... ... .. ... e e 2,648 681 (85)
Net cash used ininvesting activities . ... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. N (26,691) ©  {26,263) {22,352)
Provided from (usetli in} financing activities: ' : '
Cash dividends paild .............................................. (17.662) (17.635) {16,470)
Increase (decrease)innotes payable. . . ... ... . oo e 9,426 1,479 (27
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities . . . . . . . R L 131,318 24,000 26,000
Repayments on revolving credit facilities . ... ... ... . .. . . e (118,989) (10,536) {45,082)
Proceeds from issu;ance of 4,.485% and floating rate seniornotes. . .. ............. 91,943 - -
Prepayments of 7.27% Senior NOES . . . . . . . .ot e . (50,000) - - -
Payment of debt isisuance COSIS. L o e e (2,640) - -
Cash distributions to minority shareholders. . . ... .......... .. .. ... .. .. .. .. " {600} " {900) (1,830)
LExercise of StoCK OPHONS . . . ot o it e e 9800 4,092 11,705
Purchases of treaSL;er stock ...... . e (95.825) {1,001y —
Net cash provided from {used in) financing activities . . . . .. ... .............. (43,229) (601} {25,714}
Effect of exchange raie changesoncash .............. e (742} - 552 4,537
Net increase (decre}ase) in cash and cash equivalents . . . ... ................ - (51,667) 29,431 10,082
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningofyear. . ... .. ... ..... ... .. .. ... 102,329 72,898 62,816
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . . . .. ... .. e $ 50,662 $102,320 $72,808
Cash paid during tha year for: ] o . ‘ .
Interest . . . ... .. e P ... 8 4041 § 3818 5 4042
INCOMB TEXES .+« f v v v vttt ettt et e e e, §33175 $ 32524 $26060°

t

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A.;Schulman,,Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4 .

. v g
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION e e

" The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of A. Schulman, Inc. (the “Company”} and its domestic and
foreign subsidiaries in which a controlling interest is maintained. All significant intercompany transactaons have been

eliminated. o

"The Co‘rnpany is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as raw materials by its customers,
To identify reportable segments, the Company considered its operating structure and the types of information subject to
regular review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. On this basis, the
Company operates primarily in two geographic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia (“Europe”).

Minority interest represents a 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Co. in a partnership with the Company
and a 35% equity position of PT. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonestan joint venture with the Company. .

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHO‘RT-TERM'INVESTMENTS‘

All highly liquid investments purchased with a matunty of three months or Iess are consndered 'to be cash equivalents.
Such investments amounted to $13.7 million at August 31, 2006 and $22.2 milion at August 31, 2005. Investments with
‘maturities between three and twelve months are considerad to be short-term investments. Investments are placed with
numerous financial institutions which management believes to have acceptable credit ratings. The recorded amount of these
investments approximatés fair value. :

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Trade ac:counts receivable are recorded at the tnvo:ced amount and do not bear interest. Management records an
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on the current and prOJected credlt quallty of the Company's customers,
historical experience, customer payment history, expected trends and other factors that affect collectibility. Changes in these
factors or changes in economic circumstances could result in changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company
reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts on a periodic basis. Trade accounts recelvables are charged off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts when the Company determines it is probable the account receivable will not be collected.
Trade accounts receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts, reflect the net realizable value of receivables, and
approximate fair value. The Company does not have 'any off-balance sheet exposure (e_:-lrated to its customers.

REVENUE RECOGNITION . . -

The Company's accounting policy regardihg revenue recdgnition is to recognfzé revenus when products are shipped to
unaffiliated customers and both title and the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred.

The Oompény provides tolling services as a fee for processing of material provided and owned by customers. On some
occasions, the Company is required to provide certain amounts of its materials, such as additives or packaging. These
materials'are charged to the customer as an addition to the tolling fees. The Company recognizes revenues from tolling
services and related materials when such services are performed, The only amounts recorcded as revenue related to tolling are
the processing fees and the charges refated to materials provided by the Company.
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| A. Schulman, Inc.

' Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — {Continued)

DEPR.ECIATI(_)NT w e 2
i - ‘

It is the Company's policy to depreciate the cost of property, plant and equipment over the estimated usefu! lives'of the -

assets, or for leasehold improvements over the applicable lease term, using the strarght -line methed. The estimated useful

i . .
lives used in the computatron of depreciation are as follows: .. 'T« 1 IR R LY+ SRR
Buildings and Ieesehold improvements .:............ P L 7 to 40 years
+ Machinery and eqUIPMENt. & .. oo e 5 to 10 years
Computer equidment ...... e e e e e e e e e e 3to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures:. . .. .- L. oL e e T ... 5to10vyears

l
The cost of property sold or gtherwise disposed of is eliminated from the property accounts and the related reserve

accounts, Gains or| losses are recognized as appropriate when sales of property oceur.

Maintenance and repair costs are charged against income. The cost of renewals and betterments is caprtahzed in the
property accounts!

!
|

i

"INVENTORIES

The CompanJ and its subsidiaries do not distinguish between raw materials and finished goods because numerous
products that can;be sold as finished goods are also used as raw materials in the production of other inventory items.

GOODWILL ’

The Company does not amortize goodwill. However the Company conducts a formal impairment test of goodwill at the
reporting unit revelgon an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The Company completed its annual impairment

test of goodwill as of February 28, 2006 which resulted in no impairment loss being recognized.
4 1 . . s

[
LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets except goodwill and rndeﬁnlte lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment when circum-
stances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, or at least annually. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a.comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to future net cash flows estimated by the
Company to be generated by such assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the |mpa|rment to be recognized is
the amount by W'hICh the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are
recorded at the lower of carrying value or estimated net realizable valus. The Company completed its annual |mpa|rment test
of long-lived assets which resulted in no impairment Ioss being recognrzed

l
1 .
INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are recognlzed during the penod in WhICh transactions enter into the determination of ﬁnanmal statement
income. Accordlngty deferred taxes are provided for temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and
liabilities. Avalua.taon allowance is established when itis more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized. No taxes are provided on earnings which are permanently reinvested.

RETIREME[‘NT PLANS

The Compeny has several defined benefit and defined contribetion plans covering certain employees in the U.S. and in
foreign countn‘eis For certain plans in the U.S., pension funding is based on an amount paid to trust funds at an agreed rate
for each hour for which employees are paid. Generally, the defined benefit plans accrue the current and prior service costs
annually and funding is not required for all plans.
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Al 'Scﬁuin!'ﬁ'a"nf:i‘n&
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — {Continued)

The Company also has deferred profit sharing plans for its North American salaried employees for which'contributions
are determined at~the discretion of-the Board of.Directors. - ".qt T e o :

ORI (SR S I

. sl W= L . 4 . . ' . i .
h T " . o ; . [ . . -
' 1% . Woas ) IEERFE JERIREA SR v o -

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION S cecar ) I o "

[} -

The‘ﬂnendial position and results of éperations of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries afe measured using local currency
as the functioral currency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each
reporting pe‘ﬁod end. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year.
Accurnulated other comprehensive income in stockholders eqmty inclides translation adjustments arising from the use of
different exchange rates from period to penod o .

RECLASSIFICATION

Certam |teme previcusly reported in specn' c fi nancual statement captaons have been reclassnf ed to conforrn to the 2006
“t
presentatlon y

DERIVATIVE iINSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company accounts for derivatives under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS 133") as amended and interpreted. SFAS 133 requires all
derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value, The
forward exchange contracts were adjusted to their fair market value through the income statement. Gains or losses on
forward contracts that hedge spemf ¢ transactions are recognlzed in the consolidated statement of income offsetting the
underlying forengn currency gains or losses. In 2004 the Company entered into an interest- rate swap agreement which was
designated as a fair value hedge in accordance with SFAS 133. This interest-rate swap was terminated dunng 2006 in

connection with the prepayment of the senior notes, as dl_scuseed in Note 4. .

' : . S . -, . ] o+
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. )

Cn September 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), (“SFAS 123R"), Share-Based Payment,
which requwee the Cofnpany to measure all employee stock-based compensation awards’ usmg a fair value method and
record the related expense in the consolidated financial statements, The Company elected to use the modified prospective
transition method. The modified prospective transition method requires that compensation cost be recognized in the
consolidated financial statements for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which the
requisite service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption and requires that prior periods not be restated. Al periods
presented prior to September 1, 2005 were accounted for using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and followed a nominal vesting period
approach. R - : _ - . .

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS - -

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, ("FIN 47"), Accounting for Conditional Assst Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. FIN 47 requires that
the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARO) be recognized in the period in which it is incurred and the
settlement date is estimabte, and is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tangible long-fived asset. The
liability is recorded at fair value and the capitalized cast is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset. The
Company performed a thorough examination of asset categories during the quarter ended August 31, 2006. The Company is
legally obligated by various country, state or local regulations to incur costs to retire certain of its assats. A ligbility is recorded
for these abligations in the period in which sufficient information regarding timing and method of settiement become available
to make a reasonable estimate of the liability's fair value. The Company has identified certain other AROs for which
information regarding the timing and method of potential settlement is not available as of August 31, 2006, and thergfore, the
Company is not able to reasonably estimate the fair value of these liabllities at this time. The Company continues to monitor

43




Al Schulman; Inc.
Notes to Consolidated-Financial Statements — (Continued)
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these ¢conditional Ob:ligations as well as any new ones that may develop, and will record reserves associated with them when
and to the extent that more detailed information becomes available concemlng applicable retlrement costs, The adoption of
FIN 47 by the Company in the quarter ended August 31, 2006 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial
position, results of operatlons or cash flows. -

in July 2006._tr!19 FASB issued FASB interpretation No. 48, ("FIN 48"), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 108, "Accounting for Income Taxes”. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain
income tax posmons that are recognized in a company's financial statements. FIN 48 prescrnbes a comprehensive model for
how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the
company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. Under the interpretation, the financial statements will reflect expected
future tax consequences of such positions presuming the taxing authorities’ full knowtedge of the position and all relevant
facts, but without conS|der|ng time vatues. The adopticn of FIN 48 is required by the Company in fiscal year 2008. The
Company is currenily evaluating the impact, if any, of FIN 48 on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

}

On Septemnber; 15, 2006 the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157, {*SFAS 1577), Fair Value Measurernent. SFAS 157
addresses standargizing the measurement of fair value for companies who are required to use a fair value measure of
recognition for recognition or disclosure purposes. The FASB defines fair value as "the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to tran‘sfera liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure date.” The Company is
required to adopt SlFAS 167 for fiscat year 2009, The Company is currentry evaluatlng the impact, if.any, of SFAS 157 on its
financial position, results of operations and cash flows,

On Septernber 29, 2006 the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 158, (*SFAS 158") Employers’” Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirerment Plans. SFAS 158 requires companies to recogruze the funded status of defined
benefit pensuon and other postretirement plans as a net asset or liability in'its fi nancial statements. In addition, disclosure
requirements related to such plans are affected by SFAS 158. As required by SFAS 158, the Company will use a prospsctive
approach in their adoptlon of SFAS 158. The Company will begin recognltlon of the funded status of its defined benefit
postretiremnent pians and include the required disclosures under the provisions of SFAS 158 at the end of fiscal year 2007. If
the Company had . adopted SFAS 158 the August 31, 2006 balance sheet would have experienced an increase in the
Company’s llabilltle§ by approximately $26.0 million and accumulated other comprehensive income would have decreased
by approximately $26.0 million, excluding any tax effect. The adoption of SFAS 158 is not expected to impact the Company's
debt covenants or cr:ash position. Additi.onally, the Company does nct expect the adoption of SFAS 158 to significantly effect
the results of operations.

On Septembe!r 13; 2006 the Securities and’Exchange- Commission“issued Staff Accounting Bulleting No. 108,
(*SAB 1087), Considering the Effécts of Prior Year Misstatermnents when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements. When a misstaterent in a financial statement is identified, SAB 108 requires management to assess whether or
not the misstateme:nt is material to the affected financial statements. In performing this analysis, management must consider
materiality from both a quantitative perspective and a qualitative perspective. The analysis of materiality is an area that
requires a great deal of professional judgment and SAB 108 requires that this analysis begin with the basic quantification of
the misstatement. The Company is required to adopt SAB 108 for fiscal 2007. The adoption of SAB 108 is not expected to
impact the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. .

|
|
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A. Schulman,-Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

NOTE 2 — ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOQUNTS, . i\ 't coran inm. rel

3 . ' o e oL 4l

The changes in the Cornpany S allcwance for doubtful accounts during the years ended August 31 2006 and 2005 are

as follows: . o ST S T PP R B
TR o s - L ' ' - L 20067 % 2005,
. . . . : . - oy ¢ (In thousands} ..+,
CBeginning BalBNCE . ., e e $8227 $9,268 -
Provision. . . .. .. O P « 2,453 1,363
. Write-offs, net of recoveries .. .. . . .. e e e e {1,458y . (2,599, -
Translation.effect . ... .. .. .. .. e e e - . 187 - w4185
Ending balance . ... ...l e L. ':$9409 $8227 ¥
NOTE' 3 = GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS =~ bt

"In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwilland Other Intangible Assets, the Company is required to review goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for impairment. Goodwill impairment is tested at the reporting unit level
on an annua! basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. No |mpa|rment was reguired to be recorded as a result of the
annual impairment” rewew as cf February 28, 2008.

- -
1

In connection with the restructuring in North America, goodwill related to the Nashville, Tennessee plant was tested for
|rnpa|rment dunng the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. This restructuring included the closing of two production lines in arder to
reduce produchcn capacity at the plant. In connection with this action, the Company deemed it necessary to conduct an
lmpaurment test As a result of closnng these two productlcn lines, the sales and cash flow forecast for this plant was revised
and the Oompany estimated the fair market value of the plant using an earnings multiple valuation method. The results of this

valuation ind|cated that, the carrying value of the plant's net assets exceeded their market value. The Company then

¢ompared the recorded value of the goodwill with the implied fair market value of the goodwill and determined that an

- impairment loss had been incurred. The Company recorded a goodwill impairment loss of $1.8 million in the fourth quarter of

fi scaJ 2004, Wthh represented the total recorded value of the goodwill for the Nashville plant

+

Accumulated amortization for intangibles was $1.3 million, $1.2 mifion and $1.0 milion at August 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respecm.fely Intangible assets that are subject to amortization were fully amartized as of November 30, 2005

The carrying amount of goodwill for the European segment was $4.4 milion at August 31, 2006 and $4.3 rnillicu at
August 31; 2005. The carrylng amount of goodwull for the North American segment was $1.0 million at August 31, 2006 and
2005. . . _

The changes in the Company's carrying value of goodwill during the years ended August 31, 2006 and 2005 are as
follows:

Europe North America Total
{In thousands)

Balance as of August 31,2004 . ... ... ..o $4,289 $964 $5,253
Translation effact . .. ... ... .. P 35 — 35
Balance as of August 31,2005 ... .... T SN 4,324 ., 964 5,288
Transtationeffect . . ... ... o e 104 - 104
Balarice as of August 31,2008 ... ... $4,428 964 $5,392
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NOTE 4 2~ LONG TERM DEBT ‘AND: CREDIT AHRANGEMENTS

S P BRI, - . SRR L SN R
e e n < ey -.  August 31, ‘
[SE-HUES LH LITN tat T
2006 2005
C e i e s . e e e "y w-s - {Inthousands)

Notes Payable due withinoneyear.. . ........0. v F D . . 810976, 81807 .
Revelving crediit loan, 3.95% in 2005, due 2009. .., .. .. .. ... T O M — - 14,000
Revolving credit loan, LIBOR, dua 2017 . . . .. .. ... ... . i R 26,218 -
Sénior notes|727% net of interest-rate swap, due 2009 . ..° .. ... 0 L Lo L e T = TG 129
Euro notes, 4485% due 2018, ... .. ... L Lo Res . BA480 . —
Senior notes,|LIBOR plus 80 bps, due 2013 . . ... ...« ... .. oo, LooR oL 80000 e, o=
Capital lease obligations . ... ...... ... e I e 40 . 399

$131,724  $65,035

[ER T

On February 28 2006 the Company completed a refinancing in which it replaced a $100.0 million credit facility with a
new $260.0 mnlho'n credit facility ("Credit Facnllty ). The Credit Facility ‘consists of $260.0 milion of revolving credit fines of
which the U.S, dollar equivalent of $160.0 miflion is available to certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries for borrowings in
euros or other currenmes The Credit Facility, which matures on February 28, 2011, contains certain covenants that, among
other things, limit the Company's abillty to incur indebtedness and enter into certain transactions beyond specﬁ" ed limits. The
Company must also maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and may not éxceed a mammum net debt leverage ratio.

Interest ratesion the Credit Facility are based on LIBOR or EURIBOR (depending on the borrowrng currency) plus a
spread determmed by the Company's total isverage ratio. The Company also pays a facility fee on the commitments whether
used or unused. Als of August 31, 2008 there was $26.2 million outstanding under the Credit Facilty. .,

The Company used proceeds from the Credit Facility to prepay its $50.0 million in 7.27% sentior notes WhICh were due | in
2009. In conjunction with the prepayment of these notes the Company recorded a loss on extlngmshment of-debt of
approximately $5. 0 milion, which included a make-whole provision of approximately $3.3 million, interest raté swap
termination fee of |$1 .5 million and the write-off of related-deferred debt costs and deferred interest. Deferred’ interest
related to proceeds deferred in 1999 when the Company completed an interest raté lock effectively’ reducing thé annual
interest rate from 7 ?7% to 7.14% over the life of the notes. In connection with the prepayment of debt and termrnatlon _of this
interest rate lock, the remaining balance of these deferred proceeds of $0. 2 million was wntten off. A

On March 1, 2006 the Company issued senior guaranteed notes ("Semor Notes”) in the private placement market
consisting of the followmg . . . . 1

e

» $30.0 milion'of Senior Notes in the Urited States, miaturing on March 1, 2013, with a variablé interest rate of LIBOR - |
plus 80 bps

- ; ety

* £50.3 million]of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1; 2016, with a fixed |nterest rate of 4 485% (“Euro
Notes™). The Euro Notes approximate $64.5 million at August 31, 20086.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company's wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and contam covenants
substantially |dent|cal to those in the $260.0 milion revolving credit facility.

Both the Credit Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by up to 65% of the capital stock of certain of the Cornpany s
directly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The procesds from the Euro Notes, available cash, and borrowings on the Credit Facility were used to fund the
$143.8 million repatnatlon from Europe completed in March 2008. The Company used these repatriated proceeds to fund

the self-tender offer VlthCh cost apprOxlmately $50.2 million including $0.5 million in fees directly related to the tender offer.

Charges of $2.6 million related to the issuance of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facility have been deferred as of
August 31, 2006 and are being amortized over the contractual lives of the Senior Notes and the Credit Facitity, respectively.

|
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domestic b?nks at August 31, 2006 and 2005 respectnvely There was $8 5 mllllon outstandrng at August 31 2006 and no
borrowmgs at August 31, 2005 under these lines of credit.

- ._...

The* Company had approxmately $58.0 million and $55.0 million of uncollateratized short-term foreign lines of credit
available to its subsidiaries at August 31,2006 and August 31; 2005, respectlvety Thete was $2 5 million outstandlng under
these lines of credit at August 31, 2006 and no borrowings at- August 31,2005, VOUS T gl

T ' ! :""'

The Company [eases certain items under capital teases The. European segment Ieased certam Iand and buudlngs with

an amount due on this capital lease at August 31, 2005 of approxnmately $0 4 million. The European and North American

segments had no S|gn|f icant capital leases outstandlng at August 31, 2006. IEEAR I

e HE
Aggregate maturltles of debt including capital lease obligations subsequent to August 31, 2065'5?2; as feilew's: '

IR ’ : {In' thousands)
. $ 10,994
: 14

NOTE 5 — FOREIGN.- CURRENCY FORWARD CONTRACTS

The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure for amounts due or payable in
foreign currencies. These contracts limit the Company's exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Any
gains or losses assaciated with these contracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the undertying assets or liabilities
are recognized on the foreign currency transaction losses line in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The Company does
not hold or'issue foreign exchange contracts for trading purposes, The following table presents a summary of foreign
exchange contracts outstanding as of August 31, 2006 and August 31, 2005: . . !

! . - 2006 2005
' o Contract Fair Contract Fair

v v s . Amount Value Amount Value

: ' o EER (In thousands)
Buy Currency . *
EUG .o oo e A A SO © $5140 © $5115 $3271 $ 3242
US OB, o e et e 171 171 145 T 145
BRUSH POUNG .« + + v v ot v e e e e e e 1961 2,001 1,260 1,271

' $7272 $7.287 $4676 $ 4658
Selt Currency: . :

" British pound . . . . . e [P oo S, $1608  $ 1632 1§ 2300 § 2205
US.dollar. ..o P . 149 " 149 {014 ' 4045
Hungarian foft . . .. ... ..oo e -~ - = 3219 3257
Euro .....5 ... ... . e AU ‘25624 25638 38405 38,245
SWISSIrANC. . . .o v i T e 1,075 1,074 1,015 1,023

$08456 $28,493  $48953  $48,865

The fair value of foreign exchange contracts was estimated by obtaining quotes from banks. Foreign exchange
contracts are entered into with several financial institutions that management believes have acceptable credit ratings and
generally have maturities of less than twelve months.
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NOTE 6 — INCOME: TAXESu s 7t voptr ot o

Incame {oss) before taxes is as follows:
L ' Year Ended August 31,

{In thousands) = -'':'
Us. ........h oo e e e e e - $22,120)  $(16,868)- " $(20,555)
Foreign .. ..... . ceee E e e 84,267 66,204 75,206

i

|

* I WrRe e ey o
$62.147 "'$49,336 ‘$54,651

0

The us. mcludes a loss on debt extinguishment of $5.0 million and $4.2 million of expenses related to SFAS 123R in
2006. The U.S. lncludes restructuring charges of $0.2 milion and $2.1 milion in 2005 and 2004 respectlveiy In addmon
fiscal 2004 includes 1mpanrment charges of $1.8 miilion. L

The provisions for U.S. and foreign income taxes consist 6f the following: . .
Year Ended Augustl 3,
2006 2005 2004
{In thousands)

Current taxes:
US. .ovoen. DI $ 8 $ 419 § 1267
Foreign . . . . . . b 27,850 20456 23,506

|
g 27,933 20875 - 24,773
Deferred taxes: | _
US. ..ovon D 28 36 (48)
Foreign .. ... . e P P 1,524  (3.668) 2,020
1,562  (3632) 1,972

$20,485 ~ $17.243  $26,745

-1
Areconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates of 47 4%in 2006 35.0%in 2005
and 48.9% in 2004, |s as follows:

2006 2005 2004
% of % of C %ot
Pretax Pretax : Pretax ' "
Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income

(In thousands, except for %s)

[

Statutory U.S. taJ<I ate. ... e $21,752 350% $17.268 35.0% £19,128 35.0%
Amount of foreign income taxes less than U.S. taxes

BUSIAUIOy FA1G . . (4,043)  (85) (2,009  @.1) (2.245)  (4.2)
Losses withnotaxbenefit . . . ............... 5,997 9.6 5,004 12,0 8,398 154
Mexico vatuation allowance on net asset tax . . . . .. - — (3.270) (6.6 1,401 26
Settlement of tax ?Iaim inCanada . ............ - - (1,104 @22 . -
Provision for repat{riafeq 8aAMINGS .~ . ..o v 2,243 38 - - ’ - -
Loss on extinguishment of debt — no tax bénefit . . . 1,745 28 — - — -
Ongoing tax audits . . .. . ... .. . 1,152 19 - — - -
Other,met. .., . L. .. e 639 10 454 0. 63 0.1

£
5]
©
S

$29,485 474% $17.243  350% $26,745

|
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Deferred tax assets and {liabilities) consist of the following at August 31, 2006'and*August 31/.2005: — 8 3 TUW

Ewciot ey 2,00 2, 52008 (0 20 2006

JE lrupad sebnd -n;ur ! {In thousands)
Penstons 1S .. :Aax Eoa $ 8015 § 7,084
Inventory reserves - ... .. 317 BG2
Bad debt reserves,: .. . . - e e e e e e PR s - 1,577 1,698
Accruals. ............ _ _ : 3018 . 3361
Postretlremen: benef ts other lhan pon3|ons 8,115 6,928
Depreciation S g ) 2,119 1,925
Foreign, tax credit canryforwards. . . hpee e e menet e e (e o e e e Ry ;.22610 23211
Altamatrve minimum tax carryforwards.. REREER e e g e et s ety 0884 1 BB
Net assetstaxcarndorwards ............................ G I e AT Y w824 Ly
Other , . oot e e e e 7688 7,007
Gross defeived tax assets . . . . . AT R T T T 2 0,308 60,314
Valuatlon allowanca . .‘.. ROEEREE e e e e R, (44,602) (42,445)
Total defered tax assets 2Ll PR 15701 16,869
Depreciation . ... ... .. P R e .. (10.857)", (11,759)
Inventory ..... e e e e e T ' {718 P -
Other. ... .. R e e e e e . (799) {1,736)
Gross deferred tax liabifties .. . ... . . . . . e e (12,074) . (13,495)

$ 3627 § 3374

The valuation allowance covers benefits which are not likely to be utiized for foreign tax credit carryforwards and other
deferred tax assets in the United States. The Company has $24.2 million in foreign tax credit carryforwards that will expire in
periods from 201010 2016. The expirati()n periods reflact the extension of the carryforward period granted by the American
Jobs Creatlon Act of 2004 signed into law on October 22, 2004. '

A

' The tax effect of temporary differences included in prepalds was $4 2 m|IIron and $5 1 ITlIlllOF‘I at August 31 2006 and
2005 respeotlvely Deferred charges Included $8.2 million and $6.9 million from the tax effect of temporary differences at
August 31 2006 and 2005 respsectively. The tax effect of temporary differences included in other accrued liabilities was
$186 million and $0.8 million at August 31, ' 2006 and 2005 respect|ve|y

Buring fi scal 20086, the Cornpany reviged its earnlngs repatnatlon plan for certain European subsidiaries and recognized
an income tax provision of $2.2 million for taxes |ncurred related to the repatriation of these earnings. At August 31, 2006, no
taxes have been provided on the undistributed earnlngs of certain foreign subsidiaries amouriting to $264.2 million because

the Company 1ntends to reinvest these, earnmgs - ol S .
. 4 4 ] - . ) ;*,1".".-
NOTE T —PENSIONS : . w

The Company has defi ned benef t pension plans and other postretirerment benefit plans primarily health care and life
insurance. Benefits for the defined benefit plans are based primarily on years of service and qualifying compensation during
the final years of employment. A supplemental non-qualified, non-funded pension plan.for certain officers was adopted as of
January 1, 2004. Charges to earnings are provided to meet the projected benefit obligation. The pension cost for this planis
based on substantially the same actuarial methods and economic assumptions as those used for the defined benefit pension
plan. In connection with this plan, the Company owns and is the beneficiary of life insurance policies that cover the estimated
total cost of this plan. The cash surrender value of this insurance was $1.1 million and $0.8 million at August 31, 2006 and
2005, respactively. Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits are provided to certain domestic employees if they
reach retirement age while working for the Company. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company amended the plan to require
co-payments and participant contribution. The measurement date for all plans is August 31
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. Components of the plan obligations and assets, and the recorded liabllity at August 31,-2006 and 2005 are as follows:

T T R T T I M T g N S R I T ,Other,
| . e b e e - Postretlrement
b e HTT ‘:‘:‘ Mt n LU . 57 lkpension Benefits ) ° - Benefits
! L e NREE e che LR ST 12006 T 2005 Co- 2008 ¢ - 2005 ¢
-y s TR AN (Inthousands)
Baneft obhgahon at beglnnlng of year RRTRA .'.:f’.“.\’.' . '.,.;. ’ ‘ $(68 361) $(56 500) $(32 110) $(25;713)
Servicecast . ... o . T DU ST T T ekey eizaTt (1.99n C (3,586)
Interest cos;[ ............ wh e AL e oL (3,092) it 1 (3220900 L(1,666) - (1,520)
Participant c'ontr_i_lqytions .............................. (278) (200) — -
Actuarial Gain (0S8) - .« v e e e (3607) (7613 5136 (4,089
Benefits pai:d ...................................... 1853 . 1477 740 772
Translation adjust_njlent ............................... (3,174) (172 - -
Benefit obligat‘ion atendofyear. ... . .......... .. $(79.1'1‘5') $(é58.361) $(29,897) £§(32,110)
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of VAN L. $10,938 $ 8631 & - '% -
Actual returm ONassets . . . . ... ... 1442 1,813 - -
Employsr COMABUONS . . . .o . 2,804 1,810 740 772
Participant contributions = .. ... ... .. ... L e . 278 200 52 57
BONERS PAIG. + v v e e oo e (1853) C{1468Q)  (702) (829)
Translation attdjustment ................................ - 740 {47) — -
Falr value of pian assets at end of year . . ... ................. $14,044 $10938 $ - 3 -
Underfunded /. .. ... ... e e, $65,071) $(57,423) $(29,897) $§(32,110)
Unamortized
“Netliability 1. ... e Y T 110 L 142, - -
Net (@ain) 1085 . . - ..o vveevt it e 16,986 - 15328, 7,791 13,496
Prior year service cost {credit). . ... D S 2,497 2,664 {1,079) {1,181)
Net amount reloognlzed ................................ $45,478) (38,988} $(23,185) $(19,795)
Amounts recog!;nlzad in the statement of financial p03|t|on consist of:” ‘ .
Intangible aslset ........ L el . f.. ce ‘.S;' ._‘-.38'2 "% 1006 § -, § -
Deferredtaxasset......................._I ........... 3,525 331 — -
Accrued payrolls. taxes and related benefits . . . . . . e 7 (2,800) (2,100} {788) (737)
Other long- te!arrn liabilities . . . ....... e (53,894) (4?,025) “(22,3597)  (19.058)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .. ... ... ... 6,309 5,820 — -
L ‘ oL 845,478 $(38.988) $(23,185) §(19,795)
l\ ) ' . . 5 N . K -
The components of net periodic benefit cost of the years ended August 31 are as follows: ks
. : Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
: ' 2006 2008 2004 . 2006 2005 2004
‘ . {In thousands}
Service cost . f ................. S $2,558 - $2,1247 -$1,930 - $1,897- $1.586. $1,050
Interestcost . . ... ... .. ... . 3,092 -3,229 2,751 - 1,666 1,520 1,291
Expected return on plan assets. . . .. .. .... L, (885) ' (719) ° {530) — - -
Amortization of transition obligation . . .... ... ... ... 32 - 33 197 - .= -
Amortization of prior service cost. . .« . .n ... ... ... . 487 494 .+ 297 (102)  -{103) (102)
Effact ofamenc:iment A e T C—=T o8 - - -
Deferred assel'gain . . .. ... .o i, = — . F . " 568 379 207
Recognized net actuarial 0SS . . . . . u .. 443 63 - 231 - — -
! ‘ 85727 $5224 $4.895 $4,120 $3,383 $3,446
] ‘ —
I - ==
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated bensfit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plan with
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets wers $79.1 million, $70.1 million and $14.0 million, respectively, as
of August:31 2006, and $68.4 million, $61.2 million and $10.9 million, respectively, as of August 31, 2005. The under funded
position is primarily refated to’ the Companys German pension pitan, where funding is not required.

The totat pension contnbunons for rnultl-amployer pension plans was $17,000in 2006, $6,000in 2005, and $31 000in
2004. The total cost for defined contnbutlon plans was $3.8 million in 2006, $3.6 million in 2005 and $3.7 million in 2004,

Actuarial assumptions used in the calculation of the recorded liability are as follows:

S ' : 2006 2005 2004

’ Weighted — average assumptions as of August 31

" Discount rate on pension plans . . . .. ... ... e 4.7% 45% 56%
- Dtscount rate on postretirement obligation. . .. .. . e e ~ 600% 5.25% "6.00%
' Heturn ON pension Plan @ssets . .. ... e e 77% 77% 69%
Rate of,compensation INCrease . » . .- .. .+ .. .. .. .. [ e 24% 34% 28%
Pra-Age 65 ’
Projected health care cost rend rate. ... . .. . ... ... ... ... P ... 80% 9.0% 10.0%
Uifimate health Gare rate. . . . . ...\ vve e Do 50% - 50% 50%
Year Ultimate health care trend rateisachieved . . . .. .. ..o oo 2009 2009 2009
Post-Age 65 )
Projected health care cost tendrate. ............ e e e 10.0% 11.0% 12.0%
Ulimate health care TBIB .« v\ e e e e e e e 50% 50% 50%

Year ultimate health care trend rate is 8chieved . . . . ... .. ... L 2011 2011 2011
The Company in consuttation with its actuaries reviews and selects the discount rate to be used in connection with its
postretirernent obligation annually. When selecting the discount rate the Company uses a model that congiders the

Companys demographics of the participants and the resulting expected bensfit payment stream aver the participants’

- lifetime.

The Company, in consultation with various actuaries, annually reviews and selects the discount ratés to be used in
connection'with its defined benefit pension plans. The discount rates used by the Company are based on yields of various
corporate bond indices with varying maturity dates. The discount rates are also reviewed in comparison with current
benohrnark indices, economic market conditions and the movement |n the benchmark yield since the previous fiscal year.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a 5|gn|f icant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plan. A one-

' percentage paint change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects at August 31, 20086:.

't One-Percantage- One-Percentage-

Mo . . Point Increase Point Decrease
{(In thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost components ............... $ 857 $ (682)
Effect on postretlrement obfigation . ........ . ... ... i i $5,708 $(4,443)

The Company 's pension plan weighted- average asset altocation at August 31, 2006 and 2005, and target allocation, by
asset category are as follows:

" 'Plan Assets at

August 31, Target
Asset Category’ 2008 2005 Allocation
EQUILY SECUMBES -« + « o o o o et e e e et e e e e 73.2%  69.5% 70.0%
Dbt SECUMLIES . . . . . ot 17.3%  16.0% 15.0%
~ Guaranteed investment CaMifiCales . . . . e 6.4% 9.4% 10.0%
TCAsh. e e e e e e e e e e e 3.1% 51% 5.0%
Total .. ... e A P .... 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
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The Company’s principal objective is to.ensure that sufficient funds are available to provide benefits as and when.
- required under the terms of the plans. The Company utilizes investments that provide benefits and maximizes the long-term
investment performance of the plans without taking onrundus risk while complying with various legal funding requiremenis.
The Company throbgh its investment advisors has developed detailsd- asset -and liability models 1o aid in implementing
optimal asset allocatlon strategies. Equity securities are invested In equity indexed funds, which minimizes concentranon risk
while offering market returns. The debt securities are |nvested in a long-term bond indexed fund which provides a stabre low
risk return. The guaranteed investment certificates allow the Company to closely match a portion of the Ilabmty to the
expected payout of benef t with little risk. .

The Company,|in consultatlon with its actuaries, analyzes current market trends, the current plan performance and
" expected market perfarmancs of both the equity and bond markets to arrive at the expected return on each asset category
over the fong term. | . , .

The Company expects to contribute approximately $2.8 million for its pension obngat:ons and approx:matery $0.8 rmll;on
toits other postretlrement planin 2007, The bensefit payments which reflect expected future service, offset by the expected
Medicare Prescnptlclnn Crug subsidies, are as follows:

0

Other Postretirement Beneﬁts

|
| Pension Gross Medicare = Net
Benefits Benefits Reimbursement - Benefits

. - (Ih thousands) . - Ty
2007 .. ... .. l ............................... $3003 S 869 $ 82 _$ 787
2008 .. ..... U - 2,141 956 - 83 '+ 883
2009 . ... ... S 3192 1053 105 " g4
2010 ....... L 2,544 1,155 118 ¥ 1,039
2011....... L 2660 1207 125 . 1012

Years 2012320?6 ....... e P P 18309 8203 ‘803 7400,

The Company has agreements with two individuals that upon retirement, or death or disability prior to rehrement it shall
make ten payments of $0.1 million each to the two employees or their beneficiaries for a ten-year period and is 100% vested:
The liability required for these agreements was fully accrued and isincluded in other long-term liabilities as of August 31, 2006
and 2005. In connecnon W|th these agreernents the Company owns and is the benef‘cuary of life msurance pohmes
amounting to $2.0 million. . . . L.

LY ‘1'
NOTE 8 — ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o R . ' 1o A
The components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive, Income are as foltows:- I R T e
L v S 2006 2005
o e : {tn thousands)
Foreign currency(translation gain. . . ... ... .. o e $39.202 $32,372

Minimum pensicn liabifity . . . . .. ... .. . e L (6,309). (5 820)
| §30:895  $26.552

' . ey

Foreign currency translation gains are not tax effected as such gains are considered permanently reinvested. Minimum
pension liability adjustments are recorded net of tax using the applicable effective tax rate.

NOTE 9 — INGENTIVE' STOCK PLANS . B .

el

Effective in December 1991, the Company adopted the 1991 Stock Incentive Plan. The 1991 Plan prowded for the grant
of incentive stock optlons nonqualified stock options and restricted stock awards. The optlon pnce for incentive stock
options was the fair r!narket value of the common shares on the date of grant. In the case of nonquallf ied stock options, the
Company granted optnons at fair market value on the date of grant. Howsaver, the Plan provided that the option price may not
be less than 50% of the fair market value of the common shares on the date of grant. Stock options may be exercised as

' 52
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determined by the Company, but in no event prior to six months following the date of grant or.after the 10th anniversary date
- of grant. Effective in October 1992, the Company adopted the-1992 Non:=Employee Directors’ Stock Option:Plan to provide

for the grant of nonqualified stock options and restricted stock awards. The option price:was the fair market value of the

common shares on the first business day immediately preceding the date of.grant-All options become exercisable at the rate

of 25% per year, commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant of.the option. Each option expired five years from the
. date of grant. Both the 1991 and 1992 Plans have expired and. no further shares are available for issuance. . .

Effective in December 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Equnty Incentlve Plan WhICh provnded for the grant of
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards and director defefred units for employees and
non-employee directors, The option prica ofincentive stock options is the fair market value of the cormmon shares on the date
of the grant. in the case of nongualified options, the Comparty grants options at 100% of the fair.market value of the common
shares on the date of the grant. All options become exercisable at the rate of 33% per year, commencing on the first
anniversary date of the grant. Each option expires ten years from the date of the grant. On August 31,2006, 1,722,686 shares
are avaJIabIe for grants of non-qualified stock options pursuant to the Company’s 2002 Eqwty 1ncentwe Plan it has been the
Company’s practice to issue new cammon shares upon: stock option exercnse "

On September 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004},
[“SFAS 123R", Share-Based Payment, which requires the Company to measure all employee stock-based compensation
awards using a fair value method and record the related expense in the financia! statements. The Company elected o use the
modified prospective transition method. The modified prospective transition method requires that compensation cost be
rec;ognized in the financial staternents for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing awards for which
the reqwsnte service has not been rendered as of the date of adoption-and’ reqmres that prior periods not be restated. All
periods presented prior to September 1, 2005 were accounted for in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, Accounting fqr Stock Issued to Employees, and followed a nominal vesting period approach.

The adoption of SFAS 123R reduced income before taxes for year ended August 31, 2006 by approximately $4.5 million
{$0.15 per basic and diluted sharg). These expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated staternent of income. The first quarter of fiscal 2006 included approximately $1.0 million of
charges related to the accelerated vesting of retirement eligible employess under the non-substantive vesting period
approach applied to new grants after adoption. The expense recorded did not impact income tax expense since the

" Company’s deferred tax assets are fully reserved by a valuation allowance. There was no'impact to the statement of cash
flows related to the adoptlon of SFAS 123R. in addition, Unearned Stock Grant Compensation of $3.2 million was reclassified
to Cther Capltal in"stockholders’ equity upon adoption of SFAS 123R.

The followmg tablg ilustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share, had the fair value based method been
applied to measure, compensatlon cost for prior periods presented:

_ . 2005 2004
(In thousands,
except per
: . . : ’ share data)
Net INCOMEB, 85 FEPOMBO . . . . .o vt i it e e e e $32,093 $27.908
Add: Stock-based employes compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax. . 1,408 2,267
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value N
method, net of tax where applicable. . .. .. ... ... R (5,228) {3,180}
Pro fommanet iNCOMB . .+« v v v v v e e e e [ 328,273  $26.993
Eamnings per share:
Basic: @S PO . . . . .\ TP e $ 105 $ 083
85 AIUSIEA . . o ot e e e $ 092 $ 090
Diluted: @8 repOrted . . . .. ... $ 103 $ 091
A5 AGIUSIEA . . . . e e e e e e e $ 001 § 088

The total stock-based employee compensation expense for the years ended August 31, 2005 and 2004 was calculated
using the norminat vesting period approach.
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oy The weighted- average fair value of stock-based awards was $7.94 for the January 2006 grant; $6.20 for the October

2005 grant; $5.93 for fiscal 2005 grants and'$5.97 for fiscal 2004 grants. These-values were estimated at the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes option pricing madei with the following weighted:-average assumptions: . prred

rone Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
L .f ) i : 2006 2005 2004
Expected llfe of award (years) T 55 4.0 4.0
.Risk-free interest rate. . . . . . I < 43%  30%, - 4.3%
Expected volatility :of SIOCK . e e e e 40.0% 43.0% 47.0%
BExpected dividend yield of stock .. . . . ... ... L o 3.0% 3.0%  3.0%

The expected Iives of the aWwards are based on historical exercise patterns and the terms of the options. The risk-free
interest rate is based on zero coupon treasury bond rates corresponding to the expected life of the awards. The expected
volatility assumption was derived by referring to changes in the Company’s historical common stock prices over the same
timeframe as the expected life of the awards. The expected dividend yield of common stock is based on the Company’s
historical dividend yield. The Company has no reason to believe that future stock votatility or the expected dividend yield is
likely to dlffer from historical patterns. : :

A summary of stock cptions is as follows:

Year Ended August 31,
- 2006 ' 2005 | ) T 2004
OQutstanding Weighted- Outstanding Weighted- - Outstanding Weighted-
Shares Average Shares Average Shares - Average
Under Option Exercise Price Under Option Exercise Price Under Option Exercise Price
Outstanding at beglnnxng _
ofyear .........1 1,672,362 $17.09 1,530,392 $15.38 1,911,150 $14.05
Granted. . . ... . ... f. 572,750 19.78 529,650 19.85 645,600 18.02
Exercised. . ....... ! (650,667) 15.06 (301,823) 13.56 (812,690) o 1444
Forfeited and expired . : (26,169) 16.93 {85,857) 15.98 - {213,668) 15.26
Qutstanding at end of | ’
year., ..o.... .. ! 1,568,276 18.93 1,672,362 17.09 1,530,392 15.38 .
Exercisable at end of ; ’ ‘
year. ... .. ...... 474,836 17.67 555,733 1499 - 352,068 | - 12.95

Theintrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise
price of the option. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended August 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
approximately $4.6 m:lhon $1.6 milion and $3.9 million, respectively. The intrinsic value for stock optlons exercisable at
August 31, 2006 was $2 8 million with a remaining term for options exercisable of 7.1 years. For stock options outstanding at
August 31, 20086, exerlmse prices range from $11.62 to $24.69. The weighted average remaining contractual life for options
outstanding at August 31, 2006 was 8 years. Stock options vested and expected to vest at August 31, 2006 were 1,550,463
with a remaining contrc'lactual term of 0.6 years and a weighted-average exercise price of $18.92. The aggregate intrinsic value
of stock options vested and expected to vest was $7.3 million.

. Total unrecognizeld compensation cost, including forfeitures, related to nonvested share-based compensation arrange-
ments at August 31, 2p06 was approximately $5.4 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of approximately 1.2 years.

‘The total fair valute of options vested during the years ended August 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004 was approximately
$3.6 million, $3.0 milion and $1.7 million, respectively.
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Restricted stock awards under, the 2002 Equity Incentive Elan.vest over four.years following the date of grant.‘Restricted
stock awards issued previous to this Plan vest over five years following the date of grant- Thefollowing table summarizes the

outstanding restricted stock awards and;weighted-average fair-market valuetar. - 1 ot o vrigs moos 7 Do s i
inngl™ ps. st eocld : Outstanding
e Tas AR - Restricted Weighted-Average

) Stock Awards Fair Market Value
- e . . .. . . P A r.-l ~ (Per share)
Outstanding at August 31,2005 .« ... .... .. R e 357,350 ’ " $18.53

Granted - . L.l e e P - 78950 - "V .. 2071
RElBasad L.t e (B7796) Tt
Forfaited. ... .o s s e g e s et e A.g.)..,‘.;‘_. s -0 _5604), ... -, 779, -

L, ‘-Outstandlng at AugustSl 2006 . ST e et et 362800 ¢ s s : 18.05

-

- . - P B D o D R S K “-*‘:2 ERES e T .

\Unearned compensation for grants. under the 1991 Plan represehtlng the fair market value of: the shares at the date of
grant is charged. to.income. over the five-year.vesting period.: Unearned compensatlon for grants under: the 2002 Plan
representing the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant is charged to income over ‘the four-year vesting penod.

Compensatlon expense for rastricted stock was $1.5 million in-2006 $1.1 million in 2005 and $1.4 mI”lOl'l in 2004,

In October 2005, the FASR issued FASB Staff Position ('FSP") No 128Fl 2 ("FSP 123R -2, Practlcal Acccmmodahon to
the Application of Grant Date as Defined in FASB Statement No. 128R, to provide guidance on determlnlng the grant date for
an award as defined In'SFAS123R. FSP.123R-2 stipulates; that assuming all other criteriain the grant date definition are met,.
a mutual understandmg of the key terms.and c{ondmons of an award to an 1nd|V|dua| ernployee is presumed to eX|st upon the
oondmons of an award (@ cannot be negotiated by the recipient with the employer because the award is a unllateral grant,
and (o) are expected to be communicated to an individual recipient within a relatrvely short time period irom the date of
approval. The Company has applied the prln(:lples set forth in FSP 123R-2 upon its adoptlon of SFAS 123Ron September 1,
2005. : C o :

- In November 2005 the FASB issued FSP No. 123R-3 {“FSP 123R- 3"}, Transition Election Related to Accounting for the
Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards to provide-an alternative transition-election related to accountlng for the tax
effects of share-based payment awards to employees to the guidance provided in Paragraph 81 of SFAS 123R. The
guidance in FSP 123R-3 was effective on Novernber 11, 2005. An entity may take up to one year from the later of its initial
adoption of SFAS 123R or the effective date of.FSP 123R-3 to evaluate its available transltlon alternatlves and make its one-
time election. Until and unless an entity elects the-transition method descnbed in FSP'123R- 3 the entity sHould follow the
transition method described in Paragraph 81 of SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R reqmres an entity to calcutate the ‘pool of excess tax
benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to adoptlng Statement. 123R (termed the "APIC Pool")

The Company is using the transition method as described in Paragraph 81 of SFAS: 128R: | T ST e

o . .V '

NOTE 10 —EARNINGS PER" SHARE

e et . e, L . ¢
: H . [T L.y
\ .

Basic earnlngs per share is computed by dlwdlng |ncome available to common shareholders by the welghted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potentlal dllutlon that could
occur if common stock equwalents were exercrsed and then shared in' the earnlngs -of the Cornpany Tuos o

4" -

R . raN Sl S
+ -, . L Iy .

56 o .




ArSchulman)lnc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — {Continued)

) g .
¢ tThe différence between basic and-diluted weighted-average.cormmmon shares results from the assumed exercise of
outstanding stock opti'ons and grants of restricted stock, calculated using the treasury stock method: The following presents.
the number of incremental werghted—average shares used in computing dituted per share amounts:

[T L -__,‘ r[. N _ﬂ.. .‘._‘ s ANy I .-) ST ‘1, w3y S L it PN R LI Fall fiaTe h.}JOnﬁ N 1,— Wi L.':.:vC:i:.tr
T LN '-.Ii s T 220 N0 L L*-‘ M) vRIEWRT Yeai" Ended August 31'_"’\ LB Y]
. b . . . 2006, 2005 . 2004
[T o LTI T I R P e R A IR TR S B W V4 el g — It L
g Werghted average shares oUtstanding:, - - = iy, 5w LT 23 v IR ER I NN, Y ALt bl 1,
e Basic. .l e e e 20,061, 5ao 30,619,780.,, 30,128,117,
. Incremental shares from stock: optlons| B A TP VISR v gt 174674 1, 237977 1 282,931
Incremental shares fromrestricted stock . ... ................. 257,956 192,033 164,000
Dited, . . . .": P T R 1) 394 210 31 049 790 - '30575/057
Ny B P B B R P S POUR SR T T .;, T

" For fiscat years 2006 2005, and 2004 there were appro><|mately1 Omllllon 1 1 mllhon and 1 4 mllllon respectlvely, of
equwalent shares related to stock’ optlons and restrlcted stock that were excluded from d||uted werghted average shares
outstanding because mclusron would have beer} anti- drlutrve k ' i

" W

-The following presents the computation of adjusted net income Used in’ computing né’t'ihcom’e’per sharé:""

- . : : Year Ended August 31,
{In thousands)

Net income . . } e P S ... $32662 $32003  $27.906
Less: Preferred stock dividends ............ e e e *(53) .. (53} - {53) - -
- Net income appllcable tocommonstock . .. ... ... D R $32,600- $32,040 $27,853
. | .
NOTE 11 — C:APITAL STOCK AND STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

The Board of Directors approved 1,000,000 shares of special stock with special designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optronal or other special fights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions as determlned by the Board of
Directors.

On January 26 2006 the Board of Drrectors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and, on February 9, 2006, distributed
Rights to each record hoider of the Company’s Common Stock on that date. Each Right is attached to each share of
Common Stock and ent:tles the registered hoider to purchase from the Company a unit consisting of one one-thousandth of
ashare of Series A Junlror Participating Special Stock, a series of the Special Stock, at a Purchase Price of $85.00 per unit {the
“Purchase Price”), sul?|ect to adjustment. _ . .

Initially, the Hights]; are to be attached to all Common Stock certificates representing shares then outstanding, and no
separate Rights certificate will be distributed. The Rights will separate from the Common Stock and will be distributed (the
“Distribution Date”) udon the earlier of () 10 days following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or
assoctated perscns (ah “Acquiring Person”) has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 20% or
more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (the *Stock Acquisition Date”) or (i) 10 business days following the
commencerment of a tander offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group beneficially owning 20% or more of
such outstanding shares of Common Stock. The Rights are not exercisable until the Distribution Date and will expire at the
close of business on February 9, 2012, unless earlier redeemed by the Company. Until a Right is exercised, the holder will
have no rights as a stockholder of the Company, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends.

If an Acquiring Person becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock,
gach holder of a Right-will thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise, Common Stock (or, in certain circumstances,
cash, property or other securities of the Company), having a value equal to two times the Exercise Price of the Right. The
Exercise Priceis the Pt;,lrchase Price times the number of shares of Common Stock associated with each Right {initially, one).
Notwithstanding any of the foregorng followrng the occurrence of any of the events set forth in this paragraph {the “Flip-In

0
"
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Events"}, all Rights that are, or (under certain circumstances specified in the Rights Agreemant) were, beneficially owned by
any Acquiring Person wilkbe-null:and-void. - + - A B e ARk 1 T TR e H i Hote LR LI TR
A R S L T TLT e T el IBEenan o T

If following the Stock Acquusutlon Date ( ) the Cornpany engages in a merger or buslness combination transaction in
which-the - Company |s nrot "t sunmnng corporation; (i) the Company engages in a merger or business combination
transactlon if-which the Company is-the surviving corporation and the Common Stock of the Company is changed or
exchanged: or {ii) 50% or more of the Company’s assets or earning power is sold or tiznsférréd) egchi holder of-a Right
{except Righits which have pFevioust been Voidad as set forth above) shall thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise
of the nght Common 'Stock of the acqumng company having a value equal to'two tlmes the Exermse Pnce of the Right.

Al — e -
'

'f.' i’ a' \J( : « ! P : - »

The Purchase Pnce payable and the number of Units of Special Stock or other secuntles or property |ssuable upon
exercise’of the nghts are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution. At any time untit 10 days followmg the
Stock Acqu:srtlon Date the Company may redeem the nghts in whole, but not.in part, at a price of $0 01 per. thht
Immedlately upon the actlon ofthe Board of Durectors ordenng redemptlon of the R|ghts tha thhts will termmate and the on!y
right of the holders of nghts Wil be to receive the $0.01 redemption price. _,

. . - - i 4
L, . [T S - *

See Note 18 for information on subsequent event. . S by e e

S e 2

NOTE 2 —LEASES o

The Company leases certain equipment, buildings, transportation vehicles and computer equipment. Total rental
expense was $6.0 million in 2006, $5.8 million in 2005, and $5.4 million in 2004, The future minimum rental commitments for
operating non-cancelable leases excluding obligations for taxes, insurance, etc. are as follows:

Minimum Rental
(In thousands)
Year ended August 31, '

2007 .. ... ... PP e e $ 4385
2008 . . ...... e P T . 3,014
2000 .0 e e 2,006
2010 1\t e e e 1,294
7101 O e . 1,056
rpeo2012andthereafter. . . .. .. e e e e e s 248

NOTE 13 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

+

The Company is engaged in the sale of plastic resins in various forms, which are used as raw materials by its customers.
To identify reportabla segments, the Company considered its operating structure and the types of information subject to
regular review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who Is the Chief Operating Decision Maker. On this basis, the
Cc')rhpahy Operates phmarily in two geographic segments, North America and Europe, including Asia ("Europe”).

The North American segment includes operations conducted in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. The
Company’s European segment includes operations conducted in Belgium, France, Germany, Poland, Hungary, Indonesia,
ltaly, Spain, Switzerland, China, Luxembourg, Denmark and the United Kingdom. The accounting policies of each business
segment are consistent with those described in the “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Operating income includes all items except for interest expense, interest ihcome. restructuring, loss on extinguishment
of debt, -goodwill impairment and taxes. Corporate expenses have been allocated between the North American and
European s'egments. Agsets of geographic segments represent those assets identified with the operation of each segment.
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) ' ool v e Northy vl L0 Ll s e, O
L i;_ I Lung ) America Europe Other Consolidated
L M‘«‘H,- e, T (In thousands)
August 31, 2006 | Gl e
Sales to unaffiiated customers:., , .5 .5 - - .- S $493,644 31,122,742 — $1,616,386
Grossprofit ... Jo e s L $ 56,120 § 183,826 — $ 219,948
Operating incomé(floss) ... .40 .05 L $ (0069) $ 79,126 LT gt 70087
interest expense, net "1 1. .« iyl Eo - - (2.924) {2.924)
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt . . . ... ... ... ... .. .. — — (4,986) .. {4,986)
Income (loss} beforetaxes. . . . . L $ (0069 $ 79,126 $7.910) % = 62.—11—47
Identifiable asséts!"..‘..-:-.'...-. CoNlE .- $305008  $ 536530 0§ — 'S ed2si7
DEPraciation eXpenSe. . . . o ol $ 10460 $ 14452 § - $ 24912
Capital expenditures . .. ... T o $ 18441 § 10798 0§ — 8§ 29239
Sales to unaffiliated customers. . ... ... ... ... ... ... $439,441 $ 903755 § — $1,433,196
Gross profit ... 1. .. ... .. P Wi, $46282 § 146357 $ — $ 192,639
Operating income (Ioss)" ........... . . .','.:.; e ' L8 {11,000) 62,777 & - & 51,777
Interest expense, net . . . ... ... ... o - - {2.259) (2,259)
Restructuring expense . .. e e e (182) — - {182)
Income (loss) beforetaxes. . .. ... .o e ${11.182) § 62777 ) $(2,259) $ 49,336
Identifiable assets) . . . ... ... oL $273746 $ 510618 § - $ 784,362
Depraciation @Xpense. . .. . v v e i $ 10833 $ 14249 § -~ $ 25082
Capital expendituries .......................... $ 13,491 $ 13453 § — $ 26944
August 31, 2004
Sales to unafﬁliateld CUSIOMErS. . ..o v v v e e n s $410,179 3 828,912 — $1,239,091
Gross profit . . . " ............................ $ 43,906 $ 138,577 $ — $ 183,483
Operating income' loss) . ... e $ (7455 $ B7,013 3 - $ 59,558
Interest expense, net .. .............. R — — (2,356} (2,356}
Restructuring expense . ... .. .o e e n e e (731) - - {731}
Goodwill impairment .. ... {1.820) - - {1,820}
income (loss) befolre faxes. . .. ... o $ (10,006) $ 67,013 $(2,356) $ 54,651
Identifiable SSets, . . . ... .. ... .. ... ..... ... $281.860 $ 442236 $ —  $ 724,096
Depreciation expénse. . . . P $11701 $ 14169 $ - § 25870
" Capital expenditures . . ... .. .. e $ 7109 § 15178  $ — .§. 22287

;
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Below isa summary of sales by pomt of ongm and assets by location:

,im . MEETIE

ot : 2006 2005 2004
( st {In thousands}

Net Sales: ) . <t
Wnited States .. . ........ SRR S «..:. § 366,836 $ 320,608 $°301,474
Germany *............ e 510,100 456,765 372,900
Other intemational . . . . . e 739,450 655,733 564,717.

e e . - > $1.616,386  $1,433,196  $1.239,001

Long Lived Assets; ™ B S _ - o
Unitéd States ..o e $ 66491 $ 57,523 $ 53,650
Intematlonal ....... e PO 120,388 123,788 123,056

s . ' ) $ 186879 $ 181311 $ 176,706

S . .
1

The majority of the Company's sales for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004 can be classified into five
primary product families. The approximate amount and percentage of consolidated sales for these product fammes are as

follows: * . :
‘ . ’ ‘ ) 2006 2005 . 2004
Amount %  Amount %  Amount %
{In thousands, except for %'s)

Product Famlly Lo .
Color and additive concentrates. e > .. $ 579,825 36 $ 501,159

35 § 444,483 36

Polyolefins. . .....0.......... S, v ... 485183 31 424086 30 338278 27

' Engineered compounds . . . ... ... - 393312. 24 377,008 26 333630 27
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) . . . . . PR e 64,174 4 54952 4 57018 5

Toling. . ..o e 16,482 1 16,117 1 13380 1

Other e T 67430 4 50894 4 52302 4

$1616,386 100 $1,433,196 100 '$1,289.091 100

NOTE 14 — CONTINGENCIES

The Company is engaged in various iegal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The ultimate outcome
of these proceedings is not expected to have a mater:al acdverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. . .. k . -

'

During fiscal 2006 a raulroad company fited suut against the Company seekung compensatory damages and
relmbursefent of environmental costs to’ investigate and remediate property located near its Bellevue, Chio facmty The
Company subsequently filed an answer to this complaint and both parties are now conducting discovery. Management of the
Company, in consultation with legal counsel, is of the opinion that a vatid cause of action does not exist. The Company will
continue 16 pursue resolution of this mattér. The. Company has not recorded a reserve relating to this matter. The ultimate

" outcome of this matter is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of

operations or cash flows.

NOTE 15 — TENDER OFFER AND SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On February 21, 2006 the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a modified Dutch auction self-
tender offer for up to 8.75 million shares of its cornmon stock, at a price between $21.00 and $24.00 per share. The Company
commenced the self-tender offer on March 1, 2006 and it expired on April 11, 2006. On April 25, 2006 the Company
announced the final results of the self-tender offer where the Company accepted for purchase 2,071,585 shares at a price of -
$24.00 per share for a total of approximately $49.7 milion. The Company also incurred costs in connection with the self-
tender of $0.5 million in legal and professional fees.
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On April 25, 200;5 the Company announced that its Board of.Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 6.75 million
shares of its outstandlng common stock (the "Flepurchase Program ). This authorized share amount in the Repurchase
Program equated o] approxrmately.23 3% of.the Companys outstandlng shares at the authorization date. It is anticipated
that the Company. will complete the Repurchase Program thr&lgh open’ ma_rket repurchases from time to time. The number
of shares to be repurchased and the timifig of repurchases will depend upen the prevaling market prices and any other
considerations that may. in the opinion of the Board of Directors or management, affect the advisability of repurchasing
shares. The Repurchase Program' replaced tha Company’s prior repurchase authorization, under which ‘appréimatety
1.7 million shares had remained authorized for repurchase: During the year ended August 31, 2008, .the_Company
repurchased 2,000,081 common shares under the new program at an average Cost of $22 76 _per share exclud:ng
commissions. Under the current plan the Company has approximately 4.7 million shares stlll avallable to be repurchased
During fiscal 2006, the Company purchased approximately 4.1 milion shares of its common stock at an average price of
$23.39 excluding transactlon fees through the Repurchase Program and self-tender offer.

NOTE 16 —-—NORTH AMERICAN RESTRUCTURING . T Ay, ‘._."m

During fiscal 2004 in order to balance capacrty with demand the Company closed two manufactunng lines at rts Nashwl!e
Tennessee plant. As a result, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $0.2 milion and $1 8 mllllon for the years ended
August 31, 2005 and: 2004 respectively. There were no charges related to thls plan during the year ended August 31, 2006

I
The charges were prirmarily non-cash and arg summarlzed below: - R P
© " Accrual ' o T - Accrual’
Origlnal Pald Fiscal Balance 2005 . . Paid Fiscal . Balance
Charge 2004 8/31/04 Charges 2005 8/31/05
’ (In thousands} Lo .
Employee related costs . . . . . . I $ 350 $— 8350 834 $(316) $-
Other costs . . . .| . . .. e 66 = 66 216 (282) -
Restructuring. . [ ........... .. 416 $— $416 $182 5598 3
A - B = . =
Accelerated deprecuatlon included in - . o :
North America cost of sales in : : . T e
2004 L 1,353 ' : e
$1,769 )

a3

Restructuring charges for 2005 represent additional equipment remaval costs pertaining to the 2004 Nashvills
restructuring. The employee related costs included severance payments and medical insurance for 30 employees at the
Nashville facility. The other costs included equipment removal and other exit costs that were incurred as of August 31, 20085,
The accelerated dep'recratron represents a change in estimate for the reduced life on equnpment totaling $1.4 miliion. At
August 31, 2005, the restructuring was complete, therefore no further cash out-flows were requwed by the Company

During fiscal 200!3. the Company implemented a restructuring program in its North American operatlons. The purposs of
the program was to improve cost efficiencies and profitability. A large part of this plan included the termination of
manufacturing at its plant in Crangs, Texas. The Company completed |ts 2003 restructuring plan at August 31, 2003.
As aresult, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $8.6 rmillion, net of acurtailment gain of $0.3 millicn, for the year ended
August 31, 2003. The Company also incurred restructuring expense totaling $0.3 million related primarily to the disposal of
additional equipment and to work pertaining to the closing of the Texas facility during fiscal 2004.

i
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A! Schilman; Inc. :
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

The charges for this restructuring were primarity non-cash and are summarized below: .

\ Paid Fiscal’ Accrual : " Accrual

‘ Original 2003 and 2004 Balance 'Paid Fiscal Balance

“ ) - . Charge - 2004 . Charges 8/31/04 2005 - 8/31/05

o ) R . . R {In thousands) L ‘ ' :
Employee related costs . . . ... ... .. . 81,972 $(1,969) .8 - -~ 83 33 $—
Othercosts. . ... ... e 4,265 {4,580} (315} = - = =

$3 8@ $=

Restructuring. . . ... ..., ... L 8,237 $(6,549) $(315) -

Accelsrated depreciation, included in
North America cost of sales in
2004 ... 2,379

The employee related costs included severance payments and medical insurance, net of a curtailment gain of
$0.3 mitlion, for 35 salaried and 97 hourly employees primarily at facilities in Ohio and Texas. The curtailment gain represents
the gain realized from a reduction of the post-retirement obligation due to a reduction in the workforce. The other costs
include a $1.3 million write-down of the Texas manufacturing facility, the fair market value of which was determined from an
independent third party appraisal, a $2.3 million write-off and disposal of manufacturing equipment and other assets related
to dropped product lines and other exit costs. The accelerated depreciation represents a change in estimate for the reduced
life on equipment at the Texas manufacturing facility totaling $2.4 million. The restruct'un'ng was complete at August 31, 2005
therefore no further cash out-flows were required by the Company.

See Note 18 for information on subsequent event.

NOTE 17 — PURCHASE COMMITMENTS *

In 2002, the Company entered into a long-term supply agreément with a producer of thermoplastic polyurethane'(r PL).
During fiscal 2004, per the terms of the agreement, the Company served notice of termination of the supply agreemént. Asa
result of further discussions with the producer, the Company reinstated the terms of the agreement for minimum usage
requirements. The Company has been purchasing and the producer has been supplying TPU pursuant to the agreement.
This agreement will expire during fiscal 2007 after which the Company will have no further obligation related to purchases
from this supplier. i

In 2005, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with one of its suppliers which required the Company to
purchase material based on then current market prices. Under this agreement, monthly purchases were made at the existing
market prices at the time of purchase. During fiscal 2006, the Company renegotlated this contract with the supplier to adjust
the required amount of purchases as well as the contract term. Under the new terms, the renegotuated agreement isno Ionger
long-term in nature as no purchases are required by the Company after fiscal 2007.

NOTE 18 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In October 2008, the Company reached another agreement with the Barington Group, which as-of the date of the
agreement owned in the aggregate 2,816,536 shares, or approximately 10.5% of the Company’s common stock (the “2006
Agreament”). Under tha terms of the 2006 Agreesment, the Barington Group withdrew a notice of its intent to nominate certain
persons for election as directors at the 2008 annual meeting, agreed to dismiss a lawsuit it had filed against the Company in
Delaware seeking to enforce its rights as a stockholder to inspect and copy certain books, records and.documents of the
Company, and agreed to abide by certain standstill provisions until the Company's 2007 annual meeting. The Company has
made several commitments under the 2006 Agreement, including agreeing to redeem any rights issued to the Company's
stockholders under the Shareholder Rights Plan, and to cause the Rights Plan to be terminated and of no further force or
effect, on or prior to the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Company agreed among other things, to nominate
James S. Marlen, Ernest J. Novak, Jr. {each current directors of the Company), Howard R. Curd and Michael A. McManus, Jr.
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on the Board's slate of nominees for election as Class 1l directors of the Company at the 2006 annual meeting. The 2006
Agreement also superseded the 2005 Agreement except wrth -respect 1o Seotrons 5 (d), 6 and 9,0f the 2005 Agreement.

In October 2006, in order to balance capacrty with demand, reduce. costs and improve efficiencies in North America, the
Company annou nced its intentions to close two of its manufacturing: Innes atits Orange, Texas plant, close a warehouse also
located in Qrange, Téxas and reduce the workforce at its Bellevus, Ohio plant. As a result, the Company expects torecord a
charge during fiscal 2007 in an estimated range of $1.0 million to $3.0 million. The Company expects the charge to include
costs such as severance payments, medicalinsurance, accelerated depreciation, equipment removal costs, other exit costs
and the impact on its postretlrement obhgatron due to the reduction in-the workforce.. ., e

NOTE 19 —QUARTERLY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS {(UNAUDITED)

v . Quarter Ended - : Year Ended
. | . Nov. 30,:. Feb.28, . May3l, Aug. 31, Aug. 31,
I ! . .. 2005 2008(c)  2006(d) 2006 2006
R ’ (In thousands, except per share data) '
NBLSAIBS. - . . b $396,525 $371,219  $427,313  $421,320  $1,616,386
. Gross Prot't . ? ........ P ..., 60,036 50,574 57,422 51,914 219,946
... Net Income (a)(b) .................. e o 12,309 - 3,940 8820 7493 32,662
Basic and Drluted Earnrngs Per Sharé of Common T '
Stock: |, . - . ‘
Basic. . . . .. Lo $ 040 $ 012 § 030 $ 027 § 109
" Diluted . . . .. R $ 040 $ 012 $ 029 $ 026 S§ 107
' . Quarter Ended Year Ended
! Nov. 30, Feb. 28, May 31, Aug. 31, Aug. 31,
‘ ' 2004 2005(f)  2005{(g) 2005 2005
Net Sates ..... | ........................ $363,142  $350,042 $374,948 $I345.064 $1,433,198
Gross Proft . 'j ............... e ’ 53,638 ‘ 47,281 47,449 44,273 182,639
Netincome o) .. L B Le 7016 11210 7407 6,461 32,003
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common® - : '
Stock: v ) .
Basic.' .. .. PR e $ 023 $ 03 $ 025" & 021 § 1.05

Diluted . . . . . e $ 023 $ 03 $ 023 $ o021 $  1.03.

'Ea) Net income for thequarters ended November 30, 2005, February 28, 2008, May 31, 2006 and Augist 31, 2006 rncluded
charges related ,to the implementation of SFAS 123R of $1,765, $852, $1,000 and $900, respectively.

‘(b) Net income tor the quarter ended November 30, 2005 included a tax charge of $3,070 in anticipation of the esttmated
dividend repatrlatlon from Europe. Net income for the quarter ended February 28, 2006 increased as a result of a
-reduction in that estimate of $827.

(c) Net income for the quarter ended February 28, 2006 included charges related to the extinguishment of debt in the
amount of $4, 986 and income from the cancellation of certain distribution agreements in Europe of $600, net of-tax.

(d) Netincome for the quarter ended May 31, 2006 included a charge of $760 for tax contingencies and income from life
.., _-Insurance proceleds of $494, . .
(e) Net income for the quarters ended November 30, 2004 and February 28, 2005 included charges of $204 and $12,

respectively, for costs relating to North America restructuring and the May 31, 2005 guarter included a credit of $34 for
. costs relating to North Armerica restructuring. -

{ Netincome for the quarter ended February 28, 2005 included $4,370 of tax benefits from tax reserves no longer requwed
« dugtoa change in Mexican tax laws sffective Decernber, 2004 and the favorable settlement of a tax claim in Canada.

{g) Netincome for the quarter ended May 31, 2005 included income of $962 from a change in estimate rélating to freight in
Nerth America. Net income for the quarter ended May 31, 2005 also included a gain of $49? on the sale of an office in
Europe.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

. P O O TR s 5 T P N VS S PR R
ITEM"9A. 'CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES'™ 15

The Oompany maintains disclosire controls and procedures that are desigried to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in"the Company's reports under thé Securitiés Exchange Act of 1934, as dmended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within thé time‘pefiods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms and that stich information is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s managemert, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financidl
Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely detisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure

controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and |

operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achisving the desired control objectives, and management is required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

The Company carries out a variety of on-going procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management,, including the Companys Chief* Executlve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the
effectiveness of the d65|gn and operation of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, the
Company's Chief Executive Officer. and-Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this report.

There has been no change in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting daring the Company s most recent
fiscal quaﬂer that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Com pany’s lnternal controls over
financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate interna!l control over financial reporting, as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal control over financlal reporting is a process designed to
pravide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial réporting may not prevent' or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pen'ods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Cormpany's internal control over financial reporting
based on the frameworkin “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsonng Organizations
of the Treadway Cormmission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the internal control over fi fi nancial
reporting was effective as of August 31, 2008,

Management’s assessment -of the effectiveness of the Company's intemal. control over. financial reporting as of
August 31, 2006 has been audited by PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered pubhc accountlng firm,
as stated in their report included herein,




None.

|
ITEM 9B, OTﬁERINFORMAﬂON C o

PART N !
ITEM 10. DIBFCTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT-

The Board of Dire'ctors has adopted a Code of Conduct, available on the Company's website at www.aschulman. 'com
for the Company's employees officers and directors. To further assure compliance, the Company maintains a worldwide
hotline that allows employees to report confidentially any complaints about accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters, or detected violations of its Code of Conduct.

The Board of Direfctorshas a separately-designated audit committes established in accordance with Section 3{a)(58)(A)
of the Securities Exchénge Act of 1934, as amended. The Board of Directors has determined that Ernast J. Novak, Jr. is an
“audit committee financial expert” as defined in regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Mr. Novak
is independent under.The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC standards.

The information r;equired in response to this item in respect of Directors is set forth under, the captions “Election of
Directors” and "Sectic;a‘n 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliznce” in the Company's proxy statement for its 2006 Annual
Meeting {the "Proxy Statement”) for which information is incorperated herein by reference. The information required by this
[temin respect of Executive Officers is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Section 16(a) Bensficial Ownership
Compliance” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The information required in response to this
ltem in respect of cheﬁges to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the Board of Directors
is set forth under the' caption “Corporate Governance — Board Committees — Nominating and Corporate Governance
- Committes” in the Prc:nxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information in response to this ltem is set forth under the caption “Compensation of Executive Officers” in the Proxy
Statermnent for which information is incorporated herein by reference.
l

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

L

Information in re;sponse to this item is set forth under the caption “Security Ownership of Management and Certain
Beneficial Owners” in1 the Proxy Statement for which information is incorporated herein by reference.

i .
iTEM 13. CEI;:ITAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information in reeponse tothis ltemis set forth under the caption “Certain Relationships and Refated Transactions” in the
Proxy Statement whieh information is incorporated herein by reference.

|
ITEM 14. F’RINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The mformatlon for this Item is included under the caption “Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public
Accountants” in the Proxy Statement for which information is incorporated herein by reference.

PART 1V ;

ITEM 15. EXﬁIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
(1 Financiel Statements

The consolidated financial statements files as part of this Form 10-K are located as set forth in the index on page 34
of this réport, - I




(2) Financial Statement Schedules: LALLM I

Vatuation and QUAKITYING ACCOUNES . . . o . . . o ot e EA

All other schedules are omitted becausé they are not applicable or the requireci information is shown in the financia!
staternents or notes thersto. . . _ _ I B -

(@) BExhibits:: £ 0DIA HHT N g0 T S T T L 3 Gl N
,,‘ES,TE&'T'!I LRSI TR © A o U L I b AT AT S B I O v

T " Afrendig a'r;dﬂest‘a'ted ’/\H}é;les: &f Rcorporation-of the Company {for purpdses of Commissidn reporting compliance oniy}
-+ . Iv - {incorporated by reference'to Exhibit 311 to the Company's Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2008). =1
3b) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company {for purposeés of Commission reperting compliance onty) (incorporated by

] referenqe to Exhibit73.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2006). i
- “4fa) +- Rights"Agieemignt dated dsof Janliary 26, 2006, betwéien the Company and Nationat ity Bank, as Rights Agent, which
. yincludes as Exhibit B-thereto,the Form: of Rights Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 _to the Company’s

.. [Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated January 26, 2006). o . .
"10(8)" " A Schuiman, inc. 1991 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to the Comipany’s Form 10-K for fiscal

yaar ended August 31, 1931). ' ; ’ - : .
,-10(b)"  Amendment to A, Schulman, Inc. 1891 Stock Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s
’ _Form 10-Q for thefiscal quarter ended February 29, 19986). '

' 10{c)" ~*-Second Amendient to A. Schulman, Inc. 19971 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporatéd by reference to Extibit 4(K) to the
*. . Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated December 20, 1999; Registration No. 333-93003), ' .

+ 10{dy’.  Third Amendment to A, Schulman,;Inc. 1991 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4() to the Company's
Registration Statemant,on Form S-8, dated December 20, 1999, Registration No. 333-93093).

iO(e:)" A Schulman,‘;lgci.' 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the

- Company’s Proxy Statement dated Novembar 12,.1992 filed as Exhibit 28 to the Company’s Form 10-K for fiscal year
ended August 31, 1992). . R . - . ]

10 Amendment to A, Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock: Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996}
10{g)* Second Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1992 Non-Employes Cirectors' Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(e} to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended August 31, 1998). ! ’
“10(h)*  Third Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc. 1892 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan: (incorporatad by referance to
" Exhibit 4{p) to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated December 20, 1999, Registration No. 333-93093),
100 Fourth Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc, 1992 Non-Employee Directors Stock Qption Plan {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 1o the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended November 30, 2000).
100, A. Schulman, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4{) to the Company’s Registration
T Staternent on Form §-8, dated January 24, 2003, Registration No. 333-102718),
10" Non-Qualified Profit Stiaring Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{c) to thé Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 1995). .
100 Amendment to A. Schulman, Inc: Nonqualified Profit Sharing Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1986).
10m)*  Supplemental Executive Retirernent Plan of the Company, effective January 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(n} to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004).
10M)*  Employrment Agreement between the Company and Terry L. Haines dated January 31, 1998 (incorporated by reference to
. Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996),
10{o)*  Employment Agreement between the Company and Alain C. Adam dated December 9, 1999 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended February 29, 2000).
10{p)* Employment Agreement between the Company and John M. Myles dated as of July 8, 1998 {incorporated by refarence to
Exhibit 10{p} to the Company’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended August 31, 1998).
10{g)"  Employment Agreement between the Company and Ronald G. Andres dated as of October 20, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10{o) to the Company‘s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 1899).

10f)" - Agreement between the Company and Terry L. Haines dated as of March 21, 1991 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{m)
t6 the Company's Form 10-K for fiscal year ended August 31, 1992). '

10{s)*  Form of Amendment to Deferred Compensation Agreements between the Company and Terry L. Haines {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 29, 1996).

10ty - Employment Agreement batween the Company and Barry A. Rhodes dated January 10, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended February 28, 2002).

10{)*  Employment Agreement between the Company and Paul F. DeSantis, dated January 4, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated January 4, 2006).

10(v)"  ilransition Agreement betwaen the Company and Robert A. Stefanko (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K dated April 17, 20086).

10{w)*  A. Schulman, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Award Agreement (Employee Form) {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 18, 2004).
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Exhibit

Number
1069*
100y)*
100z
10{aa)

10(pb)

10(cc)

10(dd)

10(ee)
10(f)

10{gg}*
10(hh)”

10(i)
10(iy

1"
21
23
24
31
32,

DRACTAN &

A. Schulman, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Em-ployee Form} (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to tha Company’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 18, 2004).

: I
A. Schulman, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Award Agreement {Director Form) {incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3:10 the Company’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 18, 2004),

A. Schulman, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Restﬁcted Stock Award Agreement (Director Form) {incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Repont on Form 8-K dated Cetober 18, 2004).

A SchutmaTn‘ Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agresment (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1{to the Company's Report on Form 8-K dated May 12, 2005).

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2006, among A. Schulman, Inc., A. Schulman Europe GmbH, A. Schulman
Plastics, S.A., and A. Schulman International Sefvices NV, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent,
J.P. Morgan:Europe Limited, as European agent, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as Sole Bookrunner and Sols Lead Arranger
and the lenders party to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated February 28, 2006). .

Nota Purche;se Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2006, by and between A. Schulman Europe GmbH, A. Schulman, Inc. and

the Purchasers and Guarantors named thergin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's current Report on
Form 8-K dated February 28, 2006). . TR

ISDA (Internfational Swap Dealers Association, Inc.) Master Agreement by and between KeyBank National Association and

** the Company dated January 13, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ff) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended August 31, 2004},

Agreement dated October 21, 2005 among the Company, Barington Capital Group, L.P. and others (incorporated by
referance to Exhibit 89.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 21, 2005). ’

Agreement dated Qciober 25, 2006 "among the Company, Barington Capital Group, L.P. and others {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 25, 2006). -

t
Non-Employee Directors Compensation (filed herewith)

The Compa‘py's Directors Deferred Units Ptan, as amended and restated effective October 17, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to the Company'’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 18, 2006). N

Form of Indemnification Agreement for all Executive Officers and Directors of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2]to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 16, 2006). .

The Company's 2007 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to the-Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
October 16, 2006). . .

Computatioh of Basic and Diluted Eamings Per Common Share (filed herewith). .

" Subsidiaries of the Company (fled herewith)

Consent of !ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm (filed herewith),

Powers of A'ttomey {filed herawith). ‘

Cartifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a)/15d-14{a) (filad herewith).
Certiﬁcaiion's of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers pursuant to 18 U.8.C. 1350 (fled herewith).

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit hereto.
{ .
(b) Exhibits. i '

|
See subparagrap{h (a}(3) above

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules.

|
See subparagraph (a)(2) above
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1334, the Company has duly
caused this report to he signed on its behalf by the underS|gned thereunto duly authorlzed
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Dated: November 3, 2006 i _ aded Ea S

W o7 HE T o . A T T B L i S gt e .- .
Pursuant to the requ:rements of theiSecurities Exchange Act of-1934; thus report has- been!sugned below by the
following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the date’ lndlcated“ -

; .;;- . Slgnature ,,' \."‘f‘.n.‘_-_‘ e , Lt Title - ‘- .'.,-'I R Y QI_a_tg"'
s/ Terry L Haines 7' ' cc.c -l Director and Pnnc:pal Executive . . November 3, 2006
Terry L. Haines _ P T _Officer .

/s/ Paul F. DeSantis Pnnclpar FlnanC|al Ofﬂcer and: ~  November 3, 2006
Paut F. DeSantis '+ R + Principal Accounting Officer :

... ... . Director

David G. Birney *

* Director
Joseph M. Gingo :
_ ! Director
Willard R. Holland .
e L ~ Director
James A, Karman
* Director
James S. Marlen
* Director
Peggy Miller
Director
James A. Mitarotonda
* Director
Ermest J. Novak, Jr.
* Directar

Paul Craig Roberts
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ignature

Title Date

|
|
s
[
!
!

* : Director

John B. Yasinsky '

*By: /s/ Terry L. HanEs

Terry L. Halnes
Attormey-in- Fact

Novermber 3, 2006

* Powaers of attorney authorizing Terry L. Haines to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K on behalf of certain Directors of the
Company are being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission herewith.
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Reserve for doubtful accounts’

Year ended August 311', 2006
Year ended August 31, 2005
Year ended August 31, 2004
Inventory Reserve

Year ended August 31, 2008
Year ended August 31, 2005
Year ended August 31+. 2004

Valuation allowancei— deferred tax assets

Year ended August 31, 2006
Year ended August 31F. 2005
Year ended August 31! 2004

§ .A ——— .__...._._.———-———-- —.—-- s e e et s

A. SCHULMAN, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Schedule F-1
Balance at  Charges to Balance at
heginning cost and Net Translation closa of
of period axpenses Write-offs  Adjustment Other period
{In thousands)
$ 8,227 $2,453 $(1,458) $187 $ - $ 9,409
$ 9,268 $1,363 $(2,599) $195 § - $ B.227
$ 8814 $2,402 $(2,345) $397 $§ - $ 9,288
$11,235 $1.801 $(4,659) $161 5 - $ 8,538
$10,522 $5,803 $(5,2486) $156 5 - $11,235
$ 7,954 $7,035 $(5,092) $625 $ - $10,522
$42,445 $ - $ - $ - $2,157 $44,602
$39,789 $ - 5 - $ - $2,856 $42,445
$33,763 8 - 8 - $ - $6,026  $39,789
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The Board of Directors

Terry L. Halnes
.Chairman, President and _._ . --

I

Alain €. Adam*
Yice Presiden: -

Global Automotive Market Developmeni

Chiet Ex?culive Oticer

David G Birnay
d

Former EECL Solvay America, Inc.

Joueplfl M. Gingo

i

Executive Vice President Quality Systems
[l

and Chief Technical Officer,

I
The GDc;fdyear Tire and Rubber Company

i

willarduﬂ. Holland

Former ?ha[rman, FirstEnergy Corp.
|

James 1! Karman

Former ?’nce Chairman, RPM, Inc.. .. . . .« ..
i3

James :a‘ Marien
Chairman, President and Chief Executive

Oficer, f'\rneron {nternational Corporation
f

Dr. Poggy Gordon Miller
A

Presider}l‘

South Dékota State University

James ‘A Mitarotonda
Chairmafh‘ President & Chief Executive Officer,
Elaringto!? Capital Group, L.P.

]
Ernest ). Novak, Jr.
Retired &'lanaging Partner, - = o e -
Ernst & Young - Cleveland, Ohic office
|
Dr. Paul Cralg Roberts
Chairman,
It
The Insli‘l'ute fer Political Economy
i
John BJ‘ Yasinsky

Former le,hairman,
OMNOVA Solutions, Inc.

I

‘

1
Mananol_mont

H

Torry Li'HaInos'
Presiderllt| and Chief Executive Officer

Paul DQSSantll-

Chief Fir;éncial Officer and Treasurer

Barry .A.l Rhodas+

Exeeutiva Vice President and

Chief Op:eraling Officer for North America
l

Ronald G. Andres*
Vice President -

Narth American Operalions

Gary J. Elok*
Vice President -

Controller for North America

John M. Mylas*
Vice President -

Research and Development

Gustavo Perez

General Manager — Maxico

Jack B. Taylor

General Manager - Europe

Bernard Rzopka
Associate General Manager — Europe

Corporate Headqguarters
A. Schulman, Inc.

3550 West Market Street
Akron, OH 44333

{330) 686-3751
www.aschulman.com

Domaestic OHit;e

International Automotive
Marketing Center

2100 East Maple Road
Birmingham, M| 48009-6524
(248) 643-6100

Technology Cantors

A. Schulman, Inc.

Product Technology Center
1183 Home Avenue

Akron, Ohio 44310

(330) 630-3315

A. Schulman, Inc.

Color Technology Center
1475 Wolf Creek Trail
Sharon Center, Ohio 44274
{330) 239-0101

» Executive Officers

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders

will be held on Thursday, December 7, 2006
ettt At 1AMEST at the T T T T T

Hilton Inn West
3180 West Market Street
Akron, Ohio 44333

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
BP Tower, 27th Floor

200 Public Square
Cleveland, Ohio 44114-2301

Stock Listing

"~ The common stock of'A. Schulman, Inc.
is raded and quoted through the
NASDAQ Global Market.
Symbol: SHILM

Transfor Agent

National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
F.Q. Box 92301

Cieveland, OH 44193-090C

Contact tnformation

T TTANy Guéstiong régarding shareholder”

records should be directed to:
MNational City Bank

800-622-6757

e-mail address:
shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com

The annual report to the

Securities and Exchange Commission,
Form 10-K, will be made available upon
request without charge.

Write:

Paul DeSantis

Chief Financial Officer
A. Schulman, Inc,

3550 West Market Sireet
Akron, Ohio 44333
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